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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company’) collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any staterent herein or this report misleading.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
1 5 1 2

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March

Revenue

Gross profit/(loss)

Loss before income tax

Loss attributable to the owners of
the Company

Basic loss per Share (HK cents)

Dividend per Share (HK cents)

W

£/, (8
BRPT1SIRRIE 18
RABHER NEILEER

SREARBR (&)
BRKRE CBT)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Total assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company

MEE
REeMhIFEEFEY
BmaR

KABER NEL S

mEEE

BE=ZHA=1+—HIFEZ

Changes
%)

21.6%
N/A 73
69.3%

77.4%
77.7%
N/A T B

iR MR
R=A=+—H

Changes
]

15.0%
21.3%
6.9%

-2.5%

2023
—ET-=F
HK$°000
FHET

496,457
3,420
(12,906)

(9,440)
(0.23)
N/A &3ER

2023
—E==

HK$°000
F#7T

245,543
51,619
640,349

(396,277)

2022
—=——

A

HK$ 000
TET

408,175
(9,356)
(42,059)

(41,729)
(1.09)
N/A R38

2022
S S
HK$ 000
T#ET

213,481
42,560
598,789

(386,796)

RESEBIRIERAIRAT 2022/2023 £ 3



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MERE

RATIOS FE=&
As at 31 March R=A=+—H

2023 2022

—E=F S =

Return on equity (Note a) B3R (H3ta) N/A RE A N/A &
Return on assets (Note b) BEEFDR (WaEb) -3.9% -19.7%
Current ratio (Note c) MENEEE (B zEc) 0.37 time 13 0.32 time fZ
Gearing ratio (Note d) BESGELLE #atd) 160.8% 173.8%
Notes: Mt -
(@  Return on equity is calculated as net loss divided by Shareholders’ equity. () #EzREIIR/VIZFEBFRURKERE

4

Return on assets is calculated as net loss divided by total assets. (b)

Current ratio is calculated as total current assets divided by total current (c)
liabilities.

Gearing ratio is calculated as total amount of promissory note, convertible (d)
notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities divided by total assets.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
A By

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group continued to focus on rendering civil
engineering services to the public sector in Hong Kong, conducted
its media and advertising business in return for advertising and
related income.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 15 March 2010 and the Shares were listed on GEM on
30 August 2010.

The Group’s business of provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector is carried out through TYW and TY Civil
respectively with TYW responsible for signing and implementing
civil engineering contracts as a main contractor, a subcontractor
and forming joint operations while TY Civil responsible for signing
and implementing civil engineering contracts as a subcontractor
and forming joint operations.

AEFRTERERTBRAEMPFIRELIAL
EBRB - B#E_T_=F=B=+—HILHF
B AERBEFEINAEBRAEMMPIRMHEL
ATRERD HRAKRERESER LIS
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Lo
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BHURMRIEERE MEXLTARREEL
DEBENEIMRBITEIAIREGHUKRMN

UHERE
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CORPORATE PROFILE
AT

REGISTRATIONS HELD FOR UNDERTAKING ANETEERTEZEM
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has obtained the following registrations from Works ZA&%EE B @A E B THRIEE T7) 521
Branch Development Bureau (425 T# A} of the Government  MEATAEBNE IR !

for undertaking projects as a main contractor:

Value of project which the Group is eligible to undertake

Registration under the relevant registration
=1 i REBEMEMAEESEREKEZ TR ZEE
Approved Contractors for Public Works — A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
Waterworks Category (Group C) (probationary one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
status) category does not exceed HK$1,500 million
A AHTREAER —KBLREERN (R4) R AER—ELHR P RMIES 4% EB3E400,000,00058 7T > HE
(M= ABISH) AI— (@850 T2 4 EEF#8381,500,000,0007 7T

Approved Contractors for Public Works — Roads A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
and Drainage Category (Group C) (probationary one category, provided that the total value of works in any one

status) category does not exceed HK$1,500 million
RO AHTERER —ERKRERLRELER RBZRER—EER R MIES 4 8i18400,000,0008 7T » HEE
(w4 (HAI181%) A — @485 0 T2 42 EE R 8381,500,000,00078 7
Approved Contractors for Public Works — Site A maximum of two contracts exceeding HK$400 million each in any
Formation Category (Group C) (probationary one category, provided that the total value of works in any one
status) category does not exceed HK$1,500 million
RAAHTIEAER MR TETREER RBZRER—EER R MIES A 8i18400,000,0008 7T » HEE
(w4 (HAI8%) A — %858 T2 48 EE R #8381,500,000,0007 7T

Also, the Group has registered under the Voluntary Subcontractor — It4h > REB IR BEXE R 2 IFRFIME
Registration Scheme (FE3a&IE D B EsEMEIE), which is DOEEMGE TS UEALEHREL
maintained by the Construction Industry Council (Ri&E %% ®), for AT B TREREFBRBEUKRKE LRER
participating in civil engineering works, road works and drainage  #5 ©

services and waterworks engineering services as a sub-contractor.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
A By

CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY AT EEREE
The following diagram illustrates the corporate structure of the TERBAXRRNBDR _E_=F=FB=+—H
Company as at 31 March 2023: 2R

The Company

(Cayman Islands)

Investment holding and provision of

management services
%A%
(L8 E)
REZERKRIEHEERE

100%
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept CNC Logistic Core Galaxy Shenzhen
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited Limited Limited Qianhai Xinhua
BVI) (BVI) BVI) (BVI) BV) BV) TV Cultural
Investment Investment Investment Investment Inactive Investment Development
holding holding holding holding CNC Logistic holding Limited*
TYW (BVI) Profit Station Succeed Axis Concept Limited Core Galaxy (PRC)
Limited Limited Capital Limited Limited (EBELEHS) Limited Inactive
(EBEZHE) (EBEZHE) (EBEZHE) (EBEZHE) HEgE (EEEZHE) FE e E
BEER BEER BEER REER REER BRXEER
ARAR
()
100% 100% 100%
97% 97%
TYW TY Civil Karaoke Xinhua TV BayTV Network
(Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited Asia-Pacific Holdings
Provision of Holding of (Hong Kong) (Hong Kong) Limited
civil engineering motor vehicles, Inactive Media and (Hong Kong)
services and provision of civil EHERAT advertising Inactive
laying of water engineering (&%) business MEERE
pipes senvices and IR METRTAA BRAR
KIS laying of water (58) )
(&&) pipes IRAE Hmge
RELATE EELTK [EEER
AR5 Ko Bk (&)
*E FHEH =
T ARTHRARH K
BRKE

*

for identification purpose only

Y EHES
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AvEM

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Li Yong Sheng
Ms. Li Yuet Tai

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Dr. Li Yong Sheng
COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Li Yuet Tai, cPA

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Tang Li

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S, JP
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NS

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP (Chairman)
Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Wu Guo Ming
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

REGISTERED OFFICE
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Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
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HINEEE

FRERILE » S kTt (£/E)
SEEAE
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RHZEEE
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FXFEL

RS E

SESE
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SEE L
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FhR#EE (R oE - —F+H+9HEHE)
Z BT

EE gt M EHBAAERAT
BEDEAT

ISR

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AvEM

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IR EHETESXMEL
IN HONG KONG

FlauSi 4,3/, R 2E
Fuk Shing Commercial Building, 2 % PR 285K
28 On Lok Mun Street, DA SE P NE]
Fanling, New Territories. 318314=

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

FENERMNBRECHEE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

WEBSITE

http://www.cnctv.hk

STOCK CODE

8356
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DEFINITIONS
B =

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following — EZIRER » fF X 25 B 550 > T 55058 K
words and expressions shall have the following meanings when ;&K IRE @ HEA B TR -

used herein:

“AGM”
MEERBERE]

“Board”
EEg)

“BVI”
) gegd g

“China Xinhua NNC”

MR B 2R B AR A

“CNC China”

Mo B3 2 3 AR A4

GEIEDN

“Company”

/NS

“Director(s)”

==y

“Financial Statements”

A Fs R

“GEM”
GEM J

the annual general meeting of the Company

TABDRRBEREG

the board of Directors
o=

the British Virgin Islands
REBRRES

China Xinhua News Network Co., Limited (FEFEFBEBRBEERAE),
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xinhua News
Agency (¥ﬁ§?i) and a substantial Shareholder of the Company

PR ENEEREERAR — XN EBHFMB I ZRBEI AN EL ZEE
B T ﬂﬁ?%zli’z}ﬂizzﬂzﬁ

FEFFEFREERAEE AT, a company incorporated in the PRC, which owns
100% of the equity interests in China Xinhua NNC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Xinhua News Agency and a substantial Shareholder of the Company
HEMEMEAEREERAS —RINPREFMMRILZ AT #HE REIFERN
FEEREI100%KE  BHEH 22 ENBREKRAREZEERKE

CNC Holdings Limited (FEI#ZEBRIZER B RAE)), a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 15 March 2010

PR ESHEERARAT — XN E—EBF=-B+HEHGEHESHEZMNK
U ZERAT

director(s) of the Company
KABIES

the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
FERHE_ZE_=F=RB=+—HIEFEZKEZUBRR

the GEM of the Stock Exchange
Bt 32 PRGEM

hEMETRERARAT 2022/2023 £ 11



DEFINITIONS
B =

“GEM Listing Rules”
FGEM_Em#R A

“Government”

TR )

“Group”
TRERE)

“HK$” and “HK cent(s)”
7o) B T

“Hong Kong”
M&#]

“Macau”
DS

“Mr. Kan”
Mg s

“PRC”
MR E

“SFO”
T % R A )

“Share(s)”
B 17

“Shareholder(s)”
M5

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
GEMzE 5 £ AR 8

the Government of Hong Kong

BB

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRBREKEAE

Hong Kong dollar(s) and cent(s), respectively, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

DHRBEBEEGBE AT RAE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEEARFRITHE

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REIRFIFRIITH R

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (B #¥) , an executive Director
HITESHEELE

the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
hEARSMNE FOESS RFRLH

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as

amended or otherwise modified from time to time

BREPIBETIERF KRR EEFRHEST SR M TERD

ordinary share(s) of the Company
PiN/NS1 = B

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ROHFEEA
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DEFINITIONS
B =

“Shunleetat”

I'Shunleetat |

“Stock Exchange”
T3 Ty

“TY Civil”

MEE LK)

2K F5

“WSD”
MkFEE

“Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific”

MrEBREARE]

ll%ll
M% |

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Kan

Shunleetat (BVI) Limited» — XN ERBRE L FHEFMR L2 2B HEXELEEE
mHER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERBARAF

Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited (&2 + K T2 HFR/AF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 16 June 2000 and an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EEXTARTIBERAE — KR _EEZF A +AHASEZMBULZER
RED BERBZEFF2ENE LT

Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company Limited GEZKFEEZEARAT), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 6 February 1996 and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company

EFKBREEARRE — KR —ANAANE_ANBESBEMALZERR
8 RARBZEEIELENB AT

Water Supplies Department (7K #%2) of the Government
B K#EE

Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Co., Limited GiEBRE ASEEHFRAHE), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on 22 December 2009 and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
MESRERAEBEERRLAE — RRZEZNF+ A+ ZHES BT
MIUIZBRRAE RARBZEEL2ENEAF

per cent

Bt

hEFESRIERARAS 2022/2023 £ 13



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

To all Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2023, we had obtained
approximately HK$496.5 million (2022: HK$408.2 million) revenue,
which represented an increase of approximately 21.6% over the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The gross profit of the Group was amounted to approximately
HK$3.4 million (2022: gross loss of approximately HK$9.4 million)
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The net loss of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$9.5 million (2022: approximately of HK$42.2
million), representing a decrease of approximately 77.6% from that
of previous year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

During the year under review, the global economy was adversely
affected by the soaring inflation, raising interest rates, ongoing
resurgence of COVID 19 pandemic, geopolitical tensions and other
uncertainties. Nevertheless, revenue derived from provision of civil
engineering services remained as core business of the Group and
thus the main contributor of revenue of the Group. Following the
expiry of the exclusive television broadcasting right granted by
China Xinhua NNC to the Group, the Group’s media and advertising
business remained stagnant.

14 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

HNERRR

ﬁk%%ttfﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁhﬁf:‘ztiﬁﬁéiﬂ_
=F=ZRB=+—HLEEZFEXE-

FEER

BHE_Z-_=-"F=-"HA=+—HLEFE &K
£ B E549496,500,00078 75 (_ =

408,200,000 7T) 2 W@ WEE
=RA=1+—HIEFEZ KmiEn: ’321.6%0

= _

BHE Z  —F-A=+—HLEEE - &x&EH
ZEREA3,400,0008C (CE-_F . £18
#49,400,0003 7T) ©

HEZ_ —F-A=+—HLEEE- z!s;%l

2 BB 449,500,000 T (CE - 2F 1 4
42 200,000787T) » 8 E—FER/DA77.6%°
FEKAI=

REBFEE 2KEEREBERKRSE 7
K L8 COVID-19% 15 B » MEBUE RKRE

BREMABERNZNAFZE - BEWILL
RHEIAIERRFEEZWRSDATERZ

OEBRALASAERZ FEWTERIR 1R
FEMEMEERARFTAEENBRER
BRI E AEBNERRESERNE
FIT BRI ©



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITEREE

The construction industry was still full of challenges during the
year under review. Over the past year, the outbreak of COVID-19
had a drastic effect on the Hong Kong economy and imposed
negative impacts on the construction industry, including supply
chain disruptions, workforce shortages and work stoppages due
to measures imposed by the Government. Looking forward, the
Directors consider that the future opportunities and challenges
encountered by the Group will continue o depending on the
demand of construction engineering works, the expansion of
the infrastructure in Hong Kong and changes in material costs
and labour costs. To surmount the current challenges, the Group
will continue to consolidate its overall competitive advantages in
the industry and to maintain a sustainable development of the
Group. In the meantime, the Government has launched a number
of development plans and increase its infrastructure investment
including the Northern Metropolis development and Lantau
Tomorrow to actively promote economic growth. The Directors
therefore expect that these developments will provide tremendous
market opportunities for the construction industry in Hong Kong
over the next few years and benefit our Group.

After the anti-pandemic measures were lifted in early 2023, the
Group expects the advertising and media industry to be steady
recovering for the coming year. Although the Group’s media and
advertising business remained stagnant and was facing very
challenging conditions during the year under review, the Group
plans to further promote brand awareness and continues placing
effort in the digital media services segment to capture business
opportunities brought by the digitalisation in the market.

Looking ahead, the negative influence of worldwide COVID-19
pandemic has been over with the lifting of COVID-19 epidemic
restrictions, which are definitely beneficial to the economy of Hong
Kong. The Group remains committed to its existing business while
also exploring new business opportunities to diversify and expand
the Group’s business, which is expected to create long-term
benefits for the Company and its shareholders.

SOEFEE BEENATWRB -BE—
F>COVID- 19 IBIREHEBLBEMERT
E THEREXEHREAETE  SEHEED
B AFRBRRBFEREREIS - BEX
Ko BER A NEERKEEKERIE
N FE ILBURR BRI RENER -FEE
B sR R B B A S M L B AS e 55 B D B AR B9
“ﬂ: mRlRERNRE  AEESERERH
RITEANBERFIED REAEEIFE
HRE-HIFR HFEHEEZRERSEI M
BMERRKRE > SEILAE S & E R 8 KA
ARS8 RMIBHEES LB R R I
EERHRSFERNRARBERAETBES
FRRHEEATHHE UEAEERE-

BT = FFTRIEIRRRE  SEETR
HREFEEREEEXBRESER - BELE
BEEMESEBROBEFEERTZABFRE
o WENBAKES ZEBNAIE—FHE
BRI E > WA % RS E RS RS
D8R > LUBHE T 35 BB (EFT H 2RBI B 1 ©

BEHRK > BEECOVID-19% 1ER &I > &
IXKCOVID- 19 BN EEF Z2ERKBE > MEE
HEBLEBN KNEBBBRERHIERERE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITERESE

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my most sincere appreciation to all the management team
and staff for their dedication and contribution over the past years. |
would also like to thank all the Shareholders, customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support and trust.

Jiang Yan
Chairman

16 November 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEESNmROH

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering
services for the public sector in Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group continued to focus on rendering civil
engineering services to the public sector in Hong Kong, conducted
its media and advertising business in return for advertising and
related income.

Provision of civil engineering services

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group has been
undertaking ten contracts. Among the ten contracts, one of these
is related to provision of waterworks engineering services and the
remaining contracts are related to provision of drainage services
and site formation services. Details of the contracts undertaken
are set out below. Details of the contracts undertaken are set out
below:

2755 [0l 8

AEFETERBTBLAEMPIRELIARAIER
B-BE_E_=ZF=-R= —I— HLEFE> &
EREBEINAETELAEMPIRELIAT
BT MEREGERESES URRES
FABRAULA ©

R T AKTRERS

BE_T_-—HF-A=1+—HLEFE x&H
—HETTEGHN - KN+EGHH Hh—I1a
BR MK TERB AR > HERS AR BEIEH
RERBRMBFEIRBER -FIAESHNZ
SHBEHEIIMT -

Contract period
under main contracts

REFEONEHH

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client

BHETR LS ER

Main contracts

a4

ND/2019/08 Site formation works at remaining part of  Civil Engineering

Tai Po area 39 and Development
Department of the
Government
ABEFEH T HONMBETETRE  BNIAIREEE

Jan 2020 -May 2021

“3-3£-A%E
—$_ 5

—_—

hEMETRERARAT 2022/2023 £ 17



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEN®RD

Contract period

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client under main contracts
BHETR EEES ER REXSHNEHNEH
Subcontracts
SEEN
CV/2015/03 Site Formation and Infrastructural Works ~ Hsin Chong Tsun Yip  Nov 2015 -June 2020
near Tong Hang Road and Tsz Tin Joint Venture
Road in Area 54, Tuen Mun
AR TR E T R R REERN MEEERE “Z-nf+—fRE
MEBTERERETR “2TEERA
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Association Hsin Chong Tsun Yip  Dec 2017 -Jun 2021
Infrastructural Works For Development Joint Venture
of Columbarium at Sandy Ridge
Cemetery
ROBELAEREERENTHTER HEEEHE “2—+tH5+°A%F
(m) —F—
HERELE —F-—F/A Total contract value
PYC- Stte Formation, Foundation & Sub- Paul Y. Construction  Aug 2020 ~Dec 2022 %15%?5811;5 ullleg
03084BAH-001 structure Works for the Student Company Limited ' 2':’ 81 2§5OO 0005 7T
Residence Development at The T 7t
?e%l% <P)(lgng University of Science and Total amount of works
LA 5 s 9y B4 58 A 2 2 T = - certified (Notg)
REBREASHELATEEEN REREERAT “BIBFENAE HK$2,036.1 millon
TR MER THAREIR “T-"E+TH DHETEGE (12)
n. m = o
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricutural Pak  Harvest-TsunYip  Oct 2020 -Oct 2022 GO
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1) Joint Venture
RERERIRER (F15) RE—EEHE -5 ES
ZZTTF1A
1002EM19A Design-Build-Operate for the Additional ~ Paul Y - Qianhai Joint  Dec 2020 -Dec 2023
District Cooling System (DCS) at the Venture
Kai Tak Development (KTD)
REZESBEIEHMS RN RE-FBHE T EE+°AE
R BEREE ZET=f+CH
EP/SP/10/91 South East-New Territories (SENT) Landfill - Paul Y. Construction  July 2021 -July 2023

Extension

MARMERRRERIRE

&Engineering Co.
Limited

RERRIRERA
3
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFRRIN

Contract period

under main contracts

REF SO S

Contract number  Particulars of contract Client
BHETR ELES ER
Joint Operations
BEEH
CV/2015/03 Site Formation and Infrastructural Works  Civil Engineering
near Tong Hang Road and Tsz Tin and Development
Road in Area 54, Tuen Mun Department of the
Government
P4 ET M KARN T BRTAIRERE
TERERTR
CV/2016/10 Site Formation and Infrastructural Works  Civil Engineering
for Development of Columbarium at and Development
Sandy Ridge Cemetery Department of the
Government
ROBELAEREERENTHTER BNIAIREEE
HEERTRE
ND/2018/02 The Establishment of an Agricultural Pak  Civil Engineering
in Kwu Tung South (Phase 1) and Development
Department of the
Government
RERBERIRER (F18) BRtATIRERE
4/WSD/19 Development of Anderson Road Quarry ~ WSD
site — construction of grey water
treatment plant
ZERBREAERE-PRKEERESE K¥E
1%
CV/2019/04 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering
near Tsz Tin Road and Hing Fu Street and Development
in Area 54, Tuen Mun Department of the
Government
TPE4E AT RAR R EE N BTt ATIREEE
THTERRERETR
CV/2022/08 Site Formation and Infrastructure Works  Civil Engineering
at Area 48, Fanling and Development
Department of the
Government
MiE4eE T FERERTRE BNt AIRREREE
Note: Amount of works certified is based on the certificates of payment

received from client.

Mt -

Nov 2015-June 2020

“2-1E+-—AE

“BTEERA

Dec 2017-Jun 2021

“3tF{7BE
e s

Oct 2020-Oct 2022

. EES
"y

Sep 2020-Sep 2025
“ZTZFNEE
ZZTHFNA

Dec 2020-Jun 2024

“3-PE{AE
ZEoMEAA

Jan 2023-Jan 2027

“¥_=f£—HE"®

—t&—H

FEFEERERERAT 2022/2023 FiR

ERBIRSENRERES K 2[R
BB -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Among the above ten contracts, a contract (contract numbered
CV/2022/08) were newly awarded during the year ended 31 March
2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, contracts with
contract numbered CV/2019/04 and 1002EM19A were the
main contributors to the Group’s revenue, which generated
approximately HK$118.5 million and approximately HK$135.5
million, constituting approximately 23.9% and 27.3% of the
Group’s total revenue respectively.

Media and advertising business

Following the expiry of the exclusive television broadcasting right
granted by China Xinhua NNC to the Group on 31 August 2021,
the Group has yet to successfully identify suitable broadcasting
rights and licenses to resume the television broadcasting business
since then. During the year under review, the Group has also
attempted to tap into the digital marketing business in overseas
market through different online media platforms, such as YouTube.
However, due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and
ever-changing users’ habit, the Group has not been able to
identify suitable business opportunities and strategic partners. The
management of the Group will continue to develop and improve
its business strategies for the media and advertising Business and
enhance return to the Shareholders.

The Group has been actively monitoring market conditions and
taking appropriate measures to mitigate the impact resulted from
unfavorable market factors. The Group has been taking measures
to enhance its cost control measures and resources management
policies while actively participating in tendering and bidding
to maintain its market competitiveness despite the difficulties
encountered.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEESNmROH

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group reported a revenue
of approximately HK$496.5 million (2022: approximately HK$408.2
million), representing an increase of approximately 21.6% as
compared with that for the previous year. All of the Group’s revenue
were derived from provision of civil engineering services during the
year ended 31 March 2023. The overall increase in revenue was
mainly due to increase in works for civil engineering projects for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenue of the Group
was primarily generated from the undertaking of civil engineering
contracts in the capacity of a subcontractor and joint ventures. The
breakdown of total revenue by nature of capacity of the Group is set
forth below:

BE_S—F=-B=1+—HULFE #~&H
18 N 35 49496,500,0008 7T (CE-_F 1 &
408,200,000 75) » A FIENN4921.6% B E
TECCF=RA=+—HIFE AEBZF
B R BR M TR TR - R EEpE 1Y
MAhEEHRBEE_S-_=F=A=+—H
IFFETARTRBEENTZEE M

BE_T_-—HF-A=1+—HLEFE x&H
WamETBREUDEBEREEDFNEEZ
ITARIBEN -REEBEHEEDEZRBU
marEEINT ¢

For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=t+—HLEE

Main contractor
Subcontractor
Jointly controlled operations

Total

THEER
oEB
HEEG R

k]

CR

2023 2022

—B-= ZECCF
HK$'000 % of total HK$ 000 % of total
1h4E%E 1hAEgE
FET B (%) FAET B (%)
354 - 1,234 (03,
321,255 64.8 270,263 66.2
174,848 35.2 136,678 33.5
496,457 100.0 408,175 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Cost of services

The Group’s cost of services increased by approximately 18.1% to
approximately HK$493.0 million (2022: approximately HK$417.5
million) for the year ended 31 March 2023 as compared with that
for the previous year. The Group’s cost of services mainly includes
costs of construction services and costs of media and advertising
business. Costs of construction services mainly comprise raw
materials, direct labour and subcontracting fee for services
provided by the subcontractors. Since the media and advertising
business remained stagnant, no significant costs of media and
advertising business and other direct operating costs were incurred
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. The increase in cost
of services was mainly due to the overall increase in staff costs,
materials and subcontracting costs in respect of increase of works
for civil engineering projects from provision of civil engineering
services business for the year. The following table sets out a
breakdown of the Group’s cost of services:

AR #5 A 2

rXEEBBE_ZE-_=F=ZA=+—HLt
FEZRBRAREFEMNI81%EL
493,000,000/ 7t (Z & — — 4 : £9417,500,000
BIT) cAEENBRBERATEVIERERRE
PR S e YR B8 e BB 5 2 TS A AN o BR SR ARFS A A
ZERERME - BEES T RO EERERSER
TEER - BRNERAESEBRESEFN
A E = RTEC F=A=4—
HIEFETRESHERBRESEFNEARNR
R HEMBEFEEHA - RFRAIEMEER
RAEFEREBLIATIERBEBNLARAIRE
EBEENIEEEMENETRA YN RS E
PSRRI AN e PREFI AN EBRBE A2 5%

15

For the year ended 31 March

BE=BA=+—HLEE
2023 2022
—EZZE CEICF

HK$000 % of total HK$'000 % of total
AR5 1hABEE
FET  BRHE%) FAET B(%)

Costs of construction services BERBERE
Raw materials Rl 62,459 12.7 34,696 8.3
Direct labour BEESET 95,684 19.4 91,668 22.0
Subcontracting fee HBER 254,792 51.7 192,197 46.0
Other direct costs HtnERmE 80,102 16.2 98,970 23.7
Subtotal INE 493,037 100.0 417 531 100.0
Costs of media and advertising business ~ {#BE R E S E£H R4 - - - -
Subtotal INgt - - - -
Total tazE 493,037 100.0 417 531 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Gross profit/(loss)

The gross profit for the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to approximately HK$3.4 million (2022: gross loss of
approximately HK$9.4 million). The gross profit margin of the Group
amounted to approximately 0.7% (2022: gross loss margin of
approximately 2.3%) for the year. The turnaround from gross loss to
gross profit was mainly due to the increase in work from certain civil
engineering projects which were in early working stage with higher
gross profit margin and the implementation of operation plans by
the Group to control construction costs.

Other income

The Group’s other income for the year ended 31 March 2023
increase by approximately 2.6% to approximately HK$4.6 million
(2022: approximately HK$4.5 million) as compared with that for
the previous year. Other income consisted of the subsidies of the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set
up by the Hong Kong Government and other income.

Other gains/(losses), net

The Group’s other gains, net for the year ended 31 March 2023
was amounted to approximately HK$7.4 million (2022: other
losses, net of approximately HK$0.5 million). Other gains, net
mainly consisted of gain on modification of promissory note and net
gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment.

£, (38)

AREBRBEE_S=F=-A=+—HIHF
EZEME£3,400,0008T (CE-"F 1 £
%éi% 400,000 7T) ° KEBRAFEZEF|

KNAB0T7% (T2 THF  BIBEHN2.3%) °H
FEEAENTEHNRKBEETLATIRRIER
(HER EHHIH%XE%%UKFD) BT
SR URAEBEHEET8)ITHIEER
< o

Hg A

AEBEE_T=_F=-A=+—HLEFEE
ZHMIRABREFIEN42.6%ZE 494,600,000
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2T W ER A A e LU A TR ©
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year ended
31 March 2023 was amounted to approximately HK$NIL (2022:
approximately HK$0.8 million). The selling and distribution
expenses were mainly consisted of advertising expenses for the
television broadcasting business included in media and advertising
business for the year.

Administrative and operating expenses

The Group’s administrative and operating expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2023 decreased by approximately
13.0% to approximately HK$15.2 million (2022: approximately
HK$17.5 million) as compared with that for the previous year.
The administrative and operating expenses mainly consisted of
auditors’ remuneration, legal and professional fees, staff costs
(including Directors’ remuneration), depreciation expenses and
rental expenses.

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2023
decreased by approximately 35.9% to approximately HK$13.2
million (2022: approximately HK$20.6 million) as compared with
that for the previous year. The finance costs mainly consist of
interest expenses for the promissory note and default interest on
convertible notes. The decrease in finance costs was mainly due to
the reduction of effective interest expense on convertible notes due
to its maturity in December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Impairment assessment of contract assets and receivables

The Group made a provision of additional expected credit losses
allowance of approximately HK$83,000 (2022: approximately
HK$707,000) and approximately HK$308,000 (2022:
approximately HK$149,000) for trade receivable and contract
assets based on the impairment assessment for the year ended
31 March 2023. According to the policy of impairment provision of
receivables of the Group, the Group: (i) has decided the receivable
portfolio by using aging as the credit risk characteristics, and has
made provisions for doubtful debts for trade receivables and other
receivables based on the aging analysis approach, and (i) has
sorted the customers against whom the provisions for doubtful
debts has been made, and has estimated the expected credit loss,
taking into account the recoverability of certain receivables, in order
to estimate the impairment provisions for receivables.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the management of the Group
conducted impairment assessment on recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets respectively.
The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been
determined on the basis of their value in use and fair value less
cost to disposal. An impairment of approximately HK$NIL (2022:
approximately of HK$1,517,000) and HK$NIL (2022: approximately
HKS$NIL) has been recognised against the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets during the
year ended 31 March 2023 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Net loss

The net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
decreased by 77.6% to approximately HK$9.5 million (2022:
approximately HK$42.1 million) as compared with that for the
previous year. The decrease in net loss was mainly due to
turnaround from gross loss to gross profit and decrease in finance
costs during the year.

Loss per Share

The basic loss per Share attributable to the owners of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2023 was approximately HKO.23
cents (2022: approximately HK1.03 cents).

PROSPECTS

The global outbreak of the novel coronavirus COVID-19 and its
variants have been causing continuous unprecedented disruptions
in business operations and the Hong Kong economy as a whole
seriously since January 2020. Amid the uncertain economic
outlook, the provision of civil engineering service business will
continue to provide a stable revenue source and remain the major
contributor to the Group’s revenue while the Group is endeavoured
to develop its media and advertising business. The Group will
continue to adopt the strategy of diversifying the business
spectrum and broadening the revenue base of the Group.

26 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

FR5IR

BHE =F=B=+—HILFE  x&EE
aaﬁéﬂa@‘%im DEITT 6% ZE £99,500,00078 7T
(CZEZ 5 1 £942,100,0008 70) © B8R
DHEEHRFRNBEEESEAEFN KMER
AR D FT R 0

BiREHE

BE S _=—F=-HA=+—HLEE XA T
BEANEEEREREIEAN0.23BML (C=
T A91.035 L) ©

2z

5

]

BEZZ_EF-—BAWMESRRSE
(TCOVID-191) REEZBHELIRIMIEZ U
Ko HEEEERE BT ESEHRATT
FAEMBETE BHLHESTER BH
TARTIERBEFBEBIRBIBTHWRER
BolNegRA~EBNFTERREME B
AEBNTRBEESREBRESER AL
B ERE RS T EEER RIERASE
B B Uk B o



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Provision of civil engineering services

Going forward, the prospect of provision of civil engineering
services is expected to be challenging in the coming years. The
competition in the market is still as fierce as ever. To tackle with
the forthcoming difficulties, the Group has been actively monitoring
market conditions and taking appropriate measures to mitigate
any negative impact on the business and performance of the
Group. The Group will closely monitor the projects’ progress
and communicate with suppliers and subcontractors, maintain
close communication with customers on the latest project works
schedules and arrangements. The Group will also continue to
strengthen its cost control measures and resources management
policies, and actively participate in tendering and bidding to
maintain its market competitiveness. Despite the difficulties
encountered, the Group is conservatively optimistic on the Group’s
construction business as a result of the long-term infrastructure
investment policy in Hong Kong. The Group is well positioned
to capitalize on this growth opportunity, thanks to our strong
brand reputation, experienced management team, and dedicated
workforce and remains committed to driving sustainable growth in
this segment and creating long-term value for the shareholders of
the Company.
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EEEm R th

Media and advertising business

During the year, the performance of media and advertising services
segment was severely suffered due to uncertain economic outlook
and weak consumer demands. The Group anticipated that the
prospects for the media and advertising business will become
more promising in 2023 due to the improved macroeconomic
atmosphere and market conditions coupled with the increase in
clients’ advertising budgets. The Group will monitor the advertising
market situation in Hong Kong closely with strategic plans in
controlling the operation costs and expenses whilst allocating its
resources to maintaining the servicing quality and seeking for other
business opportunities in the industry.

The Group will continue to cautiously monitor the business
opportunities and continue to strengthen its competitiveness in the
market to enhance the profitability of the Group and interests of the
shareholders of the Company.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Shares were listed on GEM on 30 August 2010. The capital of
the Group comprises only ordinary shares.

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company amounted
to approximately HK$396.3 million in deficit as at 31 March 2023
(31 March 2022: approximately HK$386.8 million). The decrease in
equity was mainly resulted from net loss for the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group generally
financed its operations through internally generated cash flows.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$370.5 million (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$404.0 million), including cash balance of approximately
HK$51.6 million (31 March 2022: approximately HK$42.6 million).
The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.37 as at 31 March 2023 (31 March
2022: approximately 0.32).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio, which is based on the total amount of promissory
note, convertible notes, lease liabilities and contract liabilities
divided by total assets, was approximately 160.8% as at 31 March
2023 (31 March 2022: approximately 173.8%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The group entities collect most of the revenue and incur most of the
expenditures in their respective functional currencies. The Directors
consider that the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in the functional currency of each individual group
entity. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group was
mainly exposed to foreign currency exchange risk of Renminbi and
the management mainly monitored the foreign currency exchange
risk with advices from the Group’s major banks.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments (31 March 2022: Nil).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s machinery with net book values
amounted to approximately HK$9.4 million (2022: approximately
HK$4.0 million) were held under finance lease.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 March 2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEm R th

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 228 full-time staff in
Hong Kong and over 90% of them are direct labour. Total staff
costs (including Directors’ remuneration) for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$99.9 million (2022:
approximately HK$99.6 million), representing an increase of
approximately 0.27% over that for the previous year. The increase
was mainly due to increase of works from provision of civil
engineering business for the year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for investment in subsidiaries, during the year ended 31
March 2023 and as at the end of the reporting period, the Group
did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any
company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have other plans for
material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any

material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Z5), aged 54, the chairman of the Board,
is responsible for the overall business planning and corporate
strategy of the Group. Dr. Jiang obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Science from University of Science and Technology of China (/
BRI 25 1A 22) in 2003. Dr. Jiang joined Xinhua News Agency
after his graduation from university in 1990 and held the positions
of the deputy officer and the officer of Scientific Editorial Office of
International Department of Xinhua News Agency* (GHfr ZE 11 Bl B&
IR AREERIFE R FEE) . He had been the vice-president
of Xinhua News Agency European Regional Bureau* (i ZE L B
411 Rl*t ) since 2009, and had been re-designated as the
deputy officer of International Department of Xinhua News Agency*
(FrEL R EEREIEE) from 2015 to 2017. Apart from the
positions held in Xinhua News Agency, Dr. Jiang took a temporary
post as the deputy general secretary of Cheng Jiang County of
Yun Nan Province of the PRC* (ER5EIBHHHEBZRERIZEED) . He
had also held the positions as the Deputy Secretary of Chinese
Society for Science and Technology Journalism* (F7 B A} 5 #r 5 £
ZBI#MZE) and the Secretary of The Beijing Press Association —
Science Field* At REHEZEEHME ), and was a member of the
International Journalists Alliance — Science Field* (tf 7Rl 520#&
B4E8) . Dr. Jiang is currently the chairman of the board and chief
executive officer of CNC China and director of China Xinhua NNC.
In the last three years, he held no directorship in any listed public
companies. Dr. Jing has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 14
August 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Fk#), aged 52, vice-chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Group, is responsible for
overseeing the overall project management and daily operations.
Dr. Li is a reporter superior (E{E527&) of Xinhua News Agency and
has been working in Xinhua News Agency since his graduation
from Wuhan University with a degree of Bachelor of Economics and
Management in 1992. Dr. Li obtained a Doctorate of philosophy
in Economics from Wuhan University of Technology in 2010.
Dr. Li has participated in the financial investment seminar of
Tsinghua University and passed the China Securities Qualification
Examination. Dr. Li has held the positions of reporter and editor
in financial and economical businesses. Dr. Li has served as the
associate director of the service line of Xinhua News Agency GHT
X ARFE E 4R B4 ES) since 2003 and the editor of Xinhua News
Agency Audio and Video News Desk and the officer of the Financial
Television Centre (A48 B R0 FE 1F) since 2009. Dr. Li also
has extensive management experience and culture and media
operation experience, including working with the General Office of
the Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress (£
AKEZEZGIHABE) and the general office of the special steering
committee of the Central Government (ISR E2IBESEE /A PEA
%), and serving as the final correspondent of Xinhua News Agency
FREHRERF A), the deputy general manager of China
Xinhua NNC and the director of China Finance Television (F1E
FIEREEE). Dr. Liis a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the
last three years, Dr. Li did not hold any directorships in any listed
public companies. Dr. Li has entered into a service contract with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from 8
December 2017, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other or three months’ salary being payment in lieu of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Mr. Liu Da Yong (B K E), aged 48, obtained a Bachelor degree
of Law in Armed Police College in 2007. Mr. Liu joined Xinhua
News Agency in 2005 and held the positions of assistant editor of
Xinhua News Agency Audio News Desk (FrEE& &0y and the
legal specialist of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk
(HrEEE B AR4ESER) from 2005 to 2010. Mr. Liu was the head of
the legal department of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. Mr. Liu is
a deputy director of administration department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, Mr. Liu did
not hold any directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Liu
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from 8 December 2017, and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party on the other or three months’
salary being payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung (f§E#¥), aged 58, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Kan formed TYW and TY Civil in 1996 and 2000
respectively and has been the director of both companies since
their formation. Mr. Kan has over 30 years of experience in handling
civil engineering projects of various types. In the last three years, he
held no directorships in any listed public companies. Mr. Kan has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from 11 August 2010, and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other or three months’ salary
being payment in lieu of notice. In addition, Mr. Kan has entered into
an employment contract with TYW to act as the director of TYW
for a continuous term commencing from 6 February 1996 until
terminated by not less than thirty days’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other or thirty days’ salary being payment in lieu
of notice.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Tang Li (FBEE), aged 45, obtained a master of business
administration in executive management degree in Royal Roads
University in 2010. Ms. Tang joined Xinhua News Agency in 2009
and held the positions of accountant of Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Desk* (#72 & & 1)) and was re-designated as the
accountant of Xinhua News Agency Audio and Video News Desk*
(FrEEHLE1RS8E6) in 2010. She was the Planning and Finance
Director of CNC China from 2013 to 2017. She is currently the
Deputy Director of Financial Assets Department of CNC China and
a director of China Xinhua NNC. In the last three years, she held no

directorships in any listed public companies.

Mr. Law Cheuk Hung (Z£%#), aged 66, has been the
administration manager of TYW and TYC since December 2012
and further been appointed as a director of TYW and TYC since
November 2015. Mr. Law is experienced in office administration
and tender estimate relating to construction projects and has
over 35 years of experience in civil construction works for various
companies prior to joining the Group. Mr. Law obtained a diploma
in civil engineering and a higher certificate in civil engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic) in 1978 and 1980 respectively. In the last three
years, he held no directorships in any listed public companies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming (2E#§) , aged 60, holds two master degrees
and has over 22 years of experience in enterprise management,
investment, project operations and capital market operations.
Mr. Wu was awarded the qualification of State Senior Corporate
Culture Lecturer* (X &4k (X {EEM) in 2014 and obtained
the required qualification to work in the fund management sectors
(E2ZEER)in 2016. He obtained a bachelor degree of
Mathematics from South China Normal University in 1983, a
degree of master of Education from South China Normal University
in 1988 and a degree of master of Business Administration from
Indiana University of Pennsylvania in 1993. Mr. Wu is currently the
deputy general manager of Guangdong Ande Equities Investment
Company Limited* (BERZEREXZEFRAE). Mr. Wu also
served as the director and deputy general manager of Guangdong
Zhujiang Investment Company Limited* (BB ELT % AR & AR (D
A BR/AE)) from 2002 to 2003 and as the chairman and president
of Guangdong Yingtong Network Investment Company Limited*
(BEREBAKRLEHRAF) between 2003 and 2015. In the
last three years, Mr. Wu did not hold any directorships in any listed
public companies. He has not, by himself or through his firm in
which he practices, provided professional services to the Company
in last two years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
EEREFE

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, BBS, JP (BE38 5% %), aged 73,
obtained a degree of master of Business Administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2008 and a degree of master
of Buddhist studies from The University of Hong Kong in 2010. Mr.
Wan was appointed as a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1997 and was
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region 2004 Honours List. Mr. Wan is engaged in
the business of property and chattel valuation and auction. Mr.
Wan is a fellow of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors,
an associate of The Institution of Business Agents, a member
of The Land Institute (London), an associate of The Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators and a fellow of The Institute of Administrative
Accounting. Mr. Wan is currently appointed as the independent
non-executive director of Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 746) and Tongda Hong Tai Holdings Ltd (a company listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2363). Mr.
Wan has been appointed as independent non-executive director of
Universe Printshop Holdings Limited (a company listed on the GEM
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8448) until 1 July 2022.
Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wan did not hold any directorships
in any other listed public companies in last three years. He has
not, by himself or through his firm in which he practices, provided
professional services to the Company in last two years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEEGRS

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in the
Code on Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
the Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, except for
paragraphs C.1.8, C.1.6 and C.2.7, and C.5.1 of the Code. This
report further illustrates in detail as to how the Code was applied,
inclusive of the considered reasons for any deviation throughout the
year ended 31 March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms which are the same as the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company periodically issues notices to its Directors reminding
them of the general prohibition on dealing in the Company’s listed
securities during the blackout periods before the publication of
announcements of financial results.

The Company has confirmed, having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, that all the Directors have complied with the required
standards of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
The Company was not aware of any non-compliance in this respect
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is accountable for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible
and effective manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company.

Matters reserved for the Board include, but not limited to:

38

approval of the Group’s long term objectives and strategy,
policies and annual budgets;

oversight of the Group’s operations and management;

approval of major changes to the Group’s corporate structure,
management and control structure;

approval of quarterly, interim and annual results;

approval of any significant changes in accounting policies or
practices;

responsible for the system of internal control and risk
management;

approval of matters in relation to Board membership and
Board remuneration;

review of the existing policies of the Company on corporate
governance;

review of the coverage of knowledge and skills of the training
sessions arranged for the Directors and senior management
by the Company;

evaluated the effectiveness of internal safeguard procedure for

overseeing timely disclosure of material inside information and
perseverance of its confidentiality;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEEGRS

e review and monitor the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regularity requirements;

e monitor the compliance of code of conduct by the Directors
and relevant employees of the Group; and

e review of the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this report.

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, including four
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and two
independent non-executive Directors. Biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors”
section on pages 31 to 36 of this report. The composition of the
Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B5S JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

s BEKBEEBTERABEEREZER
RABH

s HBESEKRFAEEEMEERRESETT
TR R

¢« BHFADETRTTURAREZH
EFH-

ERGZEMN

EXCENENGEFER SENRNTE
S MBFATESTKMBBILIFNTES
EXZBEEFBHRNAREENEFERES
BEFBI—H -EFGZMEMEIINT -

RITES

=58t (F/E)

FOKFHB L (B ZEFHITEARE)
RB&RE

G]EkES e

FHTER
ERxt
NS IS

BIERITES

SESE

FERISLE » HLAES X TP+

FREXE (R -E - _F1HF+I9HEHE)

hEFESRIERARAS 2022/2023 £ 39



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEARS

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Every Director is entitled to have
access to Board papers and related materials and has access to
the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The Board and
each Director also have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management.

The Board consists of a diverse mix of Board members in terms
of age, gender and tenure of office. Besides, the Board members
come from a variety of different backgrounds and have a diverse
range of business, academic and professional experience. Current
female Director accounts for about 12.5% of the Board (one female
out of eight Directors). The Board considers that gender diversity
is currently achieved in the Board and is committed to maintaining
gender diversity in the Board. The Board will engage independent
professional search firms, as and when appropriate, in its work
to increase female representation on the Board and to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender
diversity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Non-compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2), 5.05A, 5.36A
and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022 in relation to its non-
compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2), 5.05A, 5.36A and 5.28 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former directors
on 11 August 2020 and on 14 October 2022, the Company
has failed to meet the requirement that (1) there will be two
independent non-executive directors on the Board which falls
below the minimum number as required under Rule 5.05(1) of the
GEM Listing Rules; (2) there will be no independent non-executive
directors have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under Rule
5.05(2) and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules; (3) there will be
two independent non-executive directors representing less than
one-third of the Board as required under Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (4) there will be two independent non-executive
directors on the Nomination Committee which does not fulfil the
requirement of establishing a nomination committee comprising a
majority of independent non-executive directors as required under
Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.
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Chairman and chief executive officer

In order to have a clear division between the management of the
Board and the day-to-day management of the business operations
of the Group, the role and duties of the chairman and the chief
executive officer of the Company are carried out by different
individuals.

Dr. Jiang Yan is the chairman of the Board. The chairman is
responsible for strategic and business directions to the Board and
ensures its effectiveness in all aspects. The Chairman provides
leadership for the Board and ensures that the Company establishes
sound corporate governance practices and procedures. He also
encourages all the Directors to make a full and active contribution
to the affairs of the Board.

Dr. Li Yong Sheng is the chief executive officer of the Company.
The chief executive officer of the Company is responsible for the
Company'’s day-to-day management and operations and focuses
on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and
delegated by the Board.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Senior Management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the Company
and takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives.
The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company. The Board directly, and indirectly through its
committees, leads and provides direction to the management
by laying down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial performance, and
ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems
are in place.
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The Board has delegated the responsibilities of the execution
of strategies and decision making for day-to-day operation and
administration functions of the Company to the management
team headed by the chief executive officer. The Board has set out
guidelines for management team as to when final authority should
rest with the Board and its prior approval should be obtained before
making decisions or entering into any commitments; issue of such
include but not limited to any proposed notifiable transactions,
connected transactions, significant investments, major business
decisions related to operation and business strategy, change of key
management of the Group and disclosure of inside information.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three-month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three-month
salary in lieu of notice.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three-month salary in lieu of notice. If an
independent non-executive director serves more than 9 years, his
further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by shareholders of the Company in accordance with the
Code.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company,
at each AGM one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
Shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board, including without
limitation by reviewing that the independent non-executive
Directors have appropriate qualifications and expertise from time
to time with sufficient time commitment to the Group, that the
number of independent non-executive Directors comply with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules, and that channels are
established (including without limitation by questionnaires or at
Board meetings) to assess and evaluate the independent non-
executive Directors’ contribution and views. The implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms will be reviewed by the
Board on an annual basis.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

Paragraph C.2.7 of the Code provides that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the executive Directors and non-executive
Directors present. Although the chairman did not hold a meeting
with the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the
executive Directors and non-executive Directors during the year
ended 31 March 2023, he delegated the company secretary to
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-
executive Directors might have and report to him for setting up
follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due course.
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Relation of the Board Members

All Directors are no relationships (including financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships) among members
of the Board.

Meeting of the Board

During the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to date of report,
the Board had convened total 3 meetings. The attendance record
of individual Directors at the Board and committees’ meetings and
general meetings are set out in page 63 of this report. The Code
provision C.5.1 stipulates that the board of directors should meet
regularly and board meeting should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the year, due
to the delay in publication of financial results and suspension of
trading in share of the Company, the Board has not held four board
meetings. During the year, the Directors were provided with relevant
information of the Company regarding the operation and financial
performance of the Group. The Board has also made resolutions by
circulation of written resolutions for all the Directors * execution from
time to time. Together with the circulation of written materials to
keep the Board informed throughout the year, sufficient measures
had been taken to ensure that there was efficient communication
among the Directors. The Board will endeavour to comply with the
Code provision C.5.1 going forward.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Every Director keeps abreast of responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company provides all members of the Board
with monthly updates on the Group’s performance and financial
position.
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The Directors are aware of the requirement under the paragraph
C.1.4 of the Code regarding continuous professional development.
During the year, the Directors reviewed the monthly business
and financial updates and other reading materials provided to
them concerning latest developments in corporate governance
practices and relevant legal and regulatory developments. A record
of the Directors’ participation in various continuous professional
development program is kept by the company secretary as below:

EFENETRECAARBETERAFEERE
BROEE - REFE EXEERESANES
RMBEHRER UREMA KSR ENRE
Mk AEEREEELRERIRMERUK
HRAZREAEEER - ARESNSIBERES
XURRENHECRBEARDWERENT

Training
2=
Self-learning  Attend seminar
H2EE 2mfstE
Executive Directors WITES
Dr. Jiang Yan ZalEt v
Dr. Li Yong Sheng FxFAEL v
Mr. Liu Da Yong KRBIE 4
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung Bt 4
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Ms. Tang Li ERXL v
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BISESE v/
Independent non-executive Directors JEIIIEHITES
Mr. Wu Guo Ming SEEIE v/
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B85S, JP FEBIE » A2 XM+ v
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth FRERE v/ v
(resigned on 14 October 2022) R ZEZ—F 1A+ IHHEHE)
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Directors’ insurance cover of legal action

Pursuant to code provision C.1.8 of the Code, the Company
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against its Directors. Such directors’ liability insurance will be
reviewed and renewed annually. Upon the expiry of insurance cover
on 30 August 2020, the Company did not arrange appropriate
insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors as it
took time for the Company to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable
commercial terms and conditions.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”), remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and risk management committee (the
“Risk Management Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. Their respective terms of reference are set
out in the Company’s website.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 11 August
2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph D.3.3
of the Code.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
other things, reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control systems, as well as the overall risk
management of the Group, reviewing the financial statements
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group, and
reviewing the terms of engagement and scope of audit work of the
external auditors.
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The composition of the Audit Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B5S, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

The members of the Audit Committee possess diversified industry
experience. Following the resignation of Mr. Wong Chun Yip,
Kenneth on 14 October 2022, the Company has failed to meet the
requirement that (1) there will be no independent non-executive
directors have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise as required under Rule
5.05(2) and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and terms of
reference of the Audit Committee and (2) there will be a vacancy for
chairman of the Audit Committee as required under the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.
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Summary of works

Pursuant to code provision D.3.3 (e)() of the Code, the Committee
meets at least twice a year with the Company’s external auditor
to discuss the audit process and accounting issues. Following
the suspension of shares of the Company on 15 August 2022
due to outstanding publication of financial statements, the
Audit Committee had only convened one meeting to review the
unaudited financial results for the year ended 31 March 2022
during the year. During the year and up to date of this report, the
Audit Committee has convened 3 meetings to discuss and review
the first quarterly results for three months ended 30 June 2022,
the interim results for the six months ended 30 September 2022,
the third quarterly results for the nine months ended 31 December
2022 and the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
is of the opinion that the preparation of such results complied with
the applicable accounting standards and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
B.3.1 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying and
nomination of directors and making recommendations to the
Board on appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewing
the board diversity policy, reviewing the nomination policy and
reviewing and accessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Director and making recommendation if necessary.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee is as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)
Dr. Li Yong Sheng

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former
Directors on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, there will
be two independent non-executive directors on the Nomination
Committee which does not fulfil the requirement of establishing
a nomination committee comprising a majority of independent
non-executive directors as required under Rule 5.36A of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for
and consider the qualifications of the candidates and the
potential contributions the candidates can bring to the Board
and to complete the internal selection and approval procedures
for the appointment of new Board members in accordance
with the nomination policy and procedures of the Company.
Notwithstanding of the vacancy in the Nomination Committee,
other members of the Nomination Committee have extensive
and diversified experience in different aspects in the industries of
the Group to well perform its duties including but not limited to
identifying and nominating right candidates to the right positions to
lead to the success of the Group. Further announcement(s) will be
made by the Company as and when appropriate.
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Summary of work

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination Committee
had convened one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
Independent non-executive Directors and considered the Directors
to retire and stand for re-election at the AGM. The Nomination
Committee has also reviewed the board diversity policy as set out
in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity Policy” above.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations. Qualified
candidates will then be recommended to the Board for approval.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for
Directors. The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and
process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the
Company; (ii) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of the factors

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate to the Board,

including but not limited to the following:

(@)

(®)

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and

such other perspectives that am appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.
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Nomination Procedures

Appointment of New Director

54

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

If the process vyields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general
meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues to
meet the criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.
Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
GEM Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of

the Nomination Policy and report to the Board when necessary.

Also, the Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,

as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination

Policy and will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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The Company reviewed its nomination policy for a formal,
considered and transparent procedure to help identifying and
nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid nomination of
candidates, accompanied with biographical details, would be
presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration would
be given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity, experience
and qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is believed
that members of the Nomination Committee collectively would
have required relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and
evaluate qualifications of nominated candidates for directorship.

Board diversity policy

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy on 30
August 2013 with a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development of the Group. The Company sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. A summary of the Board Diversity Policy together
with the measurable objectives for implementing such policy and
the progress on achieving such objectives are disclosed below.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the importance of diversity in board
members to corporate governance and the board effectiveness.
The purposes of the Board Diversity Policy are to set out the
basic principles to be followed to ensure that (i) a diverse
range of candidates are considered; and (ii) the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis
based on its business needs from time to time while taking into
account the benefits of diversity. The Company has identified
and implemented programs that will assist in the development
of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced
employees and that, in time, their skills will prepare them for senior
management and board positions.
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Measurable objectives

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model
and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural background, educational background, industry
experience and professional experience. The ultimate decision shall
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
shall bring to the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence:

The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) so that there is a strong element of
independence in the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their views
to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience:

The Board possesses a balance of skills appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company. The
Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with
considerable experience in a range of activities.

Workforce Diversity

The gender ratios in the workforce by categories of employees
are set out in the section headed “B1: Employment” in the
Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) Report in this Annual
Report. The Board considers that gender diversity is currently
achieved and is committed to maintain gender diversity in respect
of the workforce level.
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Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy, developing and reviewing measurable objectives
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and monitoring
the progress on achieving these measurable objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the measurable
objectives at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of
the Board.

The Nomination Committee considered and reviewed the board
diversity policy and the director nomination policy of the Company,
with recommendations to the Board for approval.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 11
August 2010 with terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
E.1.2 of the Code.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among other things, formulating and making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration policy, determining the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

The Company adopts the remuneration policy to its Directors as

disclosed in the section headed “Remuneration Policy” in this
Directors’ report.
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The composition of the Remuneration Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S, Jp (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former Directors
on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, there will be two
members on the Remuneration Committee which falls below the
minimum number as required under the terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.

Summary of work

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration
Committee had convened one meeting to consider the revision of
Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration packages of all the
Directors, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration package of the proposed Directors in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.
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Risk Management Committee

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 15
June 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules and the Code.

The main duties of the Risk Management Committee include,
among other things, reviewing the risk management system
of the Group; assessing the risks from major decisions and to
consider solutions for significant risk; monitoring the Group’s
risk profile; reviewing and monitor emerging risks relating to the
Group’s business and strategies; having periodic assessment on
the Group’s risk profile and risk management capabilities; and
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis.

The composition of the Risk Management Committee is as follows:

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 8BS, JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former Directors
on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, (1) there will be two
members on the Risk Management Committee which falls below
the minimum number as required under the terms of reference of
the Risk Management Committee and (2) there has been a vacancy
for chairman of the Risk Management Committee as required under
the terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee.

The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.
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Summary of work

The Risk Management Committee should meet at least once a
year to consider major investigation findings on risk management
matters and the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks. The Risk Management Committee had
convened one meeting to consider the risk assessment of the
Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company has not established any committee responsible
for the corporate governance function of the Group and the
function has been collectively performed by the Board. The
Board acknowledges the overseeing of the corporate governance
function by the Board collectively. The Board is responsible for the
corporate governance functions with the following duties:

e to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations on
changes and updating;

e toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

e to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

e to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

e such other corporate governance duties and functions set
out in the Code (as amended from time to time) for which the
Board are responsible.

The Board has reviewed and approved the Corporate Governance
Report set out in this report. The Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, and the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year, and Directors will receive at least 14 days prior written notice
of such meetings. For any ad hoc Board meetings, Directors
are given as much notice as is reasonably practicable in those
circumstances. Agendas and accompanying papers are sent not
less than 3 days before the date of Board meetings to ensure that
the Directors are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft and
final versions of minutes of regular board meetings are circulated
to all directors for their comment and records respectively. All
Directors are kept informed in a timely manner of major changes
that may affect the Group’s businesses, including relevant rules and
regulations. The Board also understands where potential conflicts
of interests arise, the independent non-executive Directors shall
take the lead the physical meetings in discussing the relevant
transactions being contemplated when there is a Director or any
of his associates having a material interest in the transactions and
shall abstain from voting. All directors, in the discharge of their
duties, are allowed to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the
Company.

The Code provision C.5.1 stipulates that the board of directors
should meet regularly and board meeting should be held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Paragraph
C.1.6 of the Code requires that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors shall generally attend
general meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. During the year, due to the delay in
publication of financial results and suspension of trading in share
of the Company, the Board has not held four board meetings and
failed to hold the annual general meeting within the time prescribed
by the Rule 18.03 of GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s Bye-
laws.The Board is of the view that the aforesaid delays are one-off
incidents and that the aforesaid matters had been/will be rectified
eventually and the Company will endeavour to comply with the
Code provision C.5.1 and C.1.6 going forward.

62 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

SR ECER

EEgHIIeFERIVBITOATHER &S
BEZZARRVTOXFIRIEIEEBEN - E
AEREAHNEEEgR EE8TaBE1T
BR T REBRBN EEAMBZXHNE
ERgRBTHBEL=XZAFTTES U
BREFAZECNNEERBMRAER -BHRE
FeeRaR U RREREDRER 2
EE UHBKRERRRHEEER AEEF
EEENERESTETEAERXB S
AEH) BIEBRRARRG - EEGI T #
HEHRBENRER EFHEMEBBEAR
REFPHEEEANDRARERR MBILIE
HITESRACERSRTRBETZAM
RZ-FMBESERTHEERR FIEBITRER
ESRBUEXER  BEEASENEABEXAT
TR o

THIECSIGRE ESgRTHAHEZ
SEEVEEHNREEE SR WETE—
RoFRIBCABEIRTE  BUIERITEE KLIF
BITEE—MELERRAS UWERSKREL
HRBEERNAETHR - RAFE HRNEA
BIEET SN EEEREERNEE BT
WARBITORESTEGEE NAENRGEMLE™™
RAFE18.03E AR B 2 A BEIMBIFTAREN
RERRITRREFAG -EFFRA LT
BIL—RMEEH BEMBERKE HBEE
EAE > RABREFHHEFFTHIEC.5.11K
K 5EC.1.61%



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEEGRS

Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board and committees’
meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 March 2023
and up to date of this report are set out below:

Board
gzg
Number of meetings BERH 3
Executive Directors WTES
Dr. Jiang Yan 5t 33
Dr. Li Yong Sheng 7—7?<5+ Bt 3/3
Mr. Liu Da Yong ARBEE 33
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung [l 33
Non-executive Directors FaTER
Ms. Tang Li EELL 03
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BllrE 3/3
Independent non-executive Directors BiInTEE
Mr. Wu Guo Ming REBEE 3/3
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, 58S, JP RERESE HLHEES X THT 3/3
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRERSE 1N
(resigned on 14 October 2022) HRZE-—F+H+0HGEHA)
Average attendance rate FHLER 89.0%

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs,
results and cash flows of the Group in accordance with relevant law
and disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in
“Independent Auditors’ Report” section on pages 159 and 164 of
this report.
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Disclaimer of Opinion (the “Disclaimer of Opinion”)

The Company’s auditor, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
(the “Auditor”) issued a disclaimer of opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, details of which are set out in the
independent auditors’ report.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis

As stated in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$9,457,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and as of that date, the Group’s
net current liabilities and net liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$370,510,000 and HK$394,806,000 respectively. In addition,
included in the Group’s liabilities as at 31 March 2023 were: (i)
convertible notes of principal amount of HK$257,030,000 (the
“Convertible Notes”) and interests thereon of approximately
HK$74,226,000 (the “Convertible Notes Interest”) in respect of
which the Group was in default in settlement; (i) amount due to
a substantial shareholder of HK$24,587,000 (the “On Demand
Debt”) which was repayable on demand; and (iii) promissory
notes of approximately HK$40,429,000 and interest thereon of
approximately HK$6,777,000 which are due for repayment in the
next twelve months after the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements (the “Promissory Notes”). These events and
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3(c),
indicate that material uncertainties existed as at 31 March 2023
that cast significant doubts on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.
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The Directors have assessed the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and are undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position and enable the Group to
meet its liabilities as and when they fall due. These plans for future
actions in relation to the going concern assessment, which are set
out in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial statements, include:
(i) management is endeavoring to improve the Group’s operating
results and cash flows through cost control measures and will
focus on the existing business of the Group; (i) the Company has
entered into conditional agreement with Mr. Kan, a shareholder
of the Company, for the allotment and issuance of a total of
1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share subscription price
of HK$0.012 per subscription share for a total consideration of
approximately HK$20,000,000; (i) the Company has entered into
conditional agreement with the holder of the Convertible Notes,
which is also a substantial shareholder of the Company, for the
amendments of certain terms of the Convertible Notes in relation
to, among others, the amendment of interest rate from 3% to
0.8% per annum and the extension of the maturity date of the
Convertible Notes to 9 December 2025; (iv) the Company has
entered into a conditional agreement to issue new convertible
notes in the principal amount of approximately HK$64,128,000
to set off the Convertible Notes Interest; (v) the Company has
entered into a conditional agreement to issue new convertible notes
in the principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to set off part of the
outstanding balance of the On Demand Debt; (vi) the Company
is negotiating with its promissory notes holder to extend the
repayment dates of principal and the interest amounts accrued on
the Promissory Notes and (vi) Mr. Kan has confirmed to provide
financial support to the Group in a reasonable manner under
relevant laws and regulatory requirements and also granted a loan
facility of up to HK$60,000,000 to the Group to maintain the going
concern of the Company.

The validity of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis depends on the successful
eventual outcome of the above mentioned plans and measures,
which are inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still
subject to multiple uncertainties.
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Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets to their net recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment which
take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future
cash flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to be required
may have consequential significant effects on the consolidated net
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and the consolidated
loss and other comprehensive income or expense and cash flows
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023, and the related
elements and disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Board'’s response to the Auditor’s Opinion

The management of the Company is of the view that Group will be
able to continue to operate as a going concern. The consolidated
financial statements had been prepared on a going concern basis,
the validity of which depends on the outcome of those plans and
measures as mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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After discussion with the auditors, the management of the
Company expects that, on the assumptions that (i) the plans and
measures as mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements have been successfully implemented, (ii) each of
the Company’s operating subsidiaries has continued to operate
as normal, (iii) neither the Company nor any of its operating
subsidiaries is the subject of any winding-up proceedings, and (iv)
there are no other material threats to its status as a going concern,
the Directors considered that the Group will have sufficient liquidity
to finance its operations for the foreseeable future and therefore of a
view that the Group would be able to continue as a going concern.

In this regard, although the implementation of the plans and
measures as mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated financial
statements are subject to conclusion and finalisation of definitive
formal agreement such that the auditors were not able to obtain
sufficient audit evidence, the above-mentioned plans have been
initially formulated and is in an advanced stage and thus the
management of the Company is optimistic about the outcome of
plans and measures thereof.

Audit Committee’s view on whether the Company’s plan
could address the underlying matters leading to the
Disclaimer of Opinion

The auditors have informed the Audit Committee about their view
regarding the basis of operating as a going concern, that due to
the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, the auditors
were unable to express their audit opinion whether the Group can
continue to operate as a going concern. As abovementioned, the
Disclaimer of Opinion was mainly due to the auditor’s concern as
to whether the Company will be able to successfully implement the
plans and measures mentioned in Note 3(c) to the consolidated
financial statements.

KEZEMENE AATEEERE RR
(ViR BB ERMES(C)Fr st 8 RIEHKE
EmINER (A RABEREENBATWESR
BEE (I ARNHEEAKEENB AT IF
EEBEEEREFNER R(ivVEFELE
RRLEEFEEMEREE  EFAREER
RAERHANABEST N ARRRSHEHEE

RHEES RILRAEEER M EER &K
e,

UL S > BE RS M B RERMEES(c)FT Ay
STEIMEM AR RREAMR TR AEER

GE SRR EAERTDNELR
2 TS BN HIEL RN B
AR EVEEEH 58 R TRy A4S RIT LR
o

BERERCH L LB EEEEHUT#
EERZIEMEREHNER

ZBMENGEREZEERFEMFTELE
BEMNER HRNRZREEBNEZLERS
ZEMEEIMETERESFELEERER
ER B EXFE  AEXBRBEEAN
ZHMERBARTESMINE RS /M BR
2R MY SE3(C)P 2t B 51 Bl Ko ¥ 7t

hEFESRIERAIRAS 2022/2023 £k 67



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEARS

The Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer of
Opinion, the management’s position concerning the Disclaimer
of Opinion and measures taken by the Group for addressing the
Disclaimer of Opinion. After discussion with the Directors, the
Audit Committee concurred with the going concern basis and
assumptions adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements based on the reasons above. Accordingly, the Audit
Committee agreed that it was appropriate to use a going concern
assumption to prepare the consolidated financial statements.
Moreover, the Audit Committee requested the management to
take all necessary actions to address the uncertainties regarding
going concern underlying the Disclaimer of Opinion that no such
Disclaimer of Opinion will be made in the forthcoming audited
financial statements. The Audit Committee had also discussed with
the Auditor regarding the financial position of the Group, measures
taken and to be taken by the Group, and considered the Auditor’s
rationale and understood their consideration in arriving their
opinion.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration in respect of audit services provided by the

Company’s auditor, during the year ended 31 March 2023
amounted to HK$0.65 million.
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RISK MANAGEMENT ANS INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. To
this end, the Board oversees and approves the Group’s risk
management and internal control strategies and policies, which
are aimed at evaluating and determining the nature and extent of
the risks that are compatible with the Group’s strategic objectives
and risk appetite, with main purpose for provision of reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss rather than
absolute elimination of the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for establishing
and maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The risk management
and internal control measures are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In June 2016, the Group has established a risk management
framework, which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee,
Risk Management Committee and the senior management of the
Group. The Board determines the nature and the extent of risks
that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives
and has the overall responsibilities for monitoring the design,
implementation and the overall effectiveness of risk management
and internal control systems. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems
at least annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls.
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Risk Management Philosophy

Risk taking is a necessary and accepted part of the Company’s
business. Effectively managing risk is a competitive necessity
and an integral part of creating shareholder value through good
business practices designed to ensure that the Company achieves
its strategic, business and governance objectives, and protects
its corporate reputation, values and integrity. Risk management
applies to all aspects of the Company’s business and forms a
critical part of developing strategic plans, preparing operational
plans and budgets, completing detailed project approval requests
and designing and managing project plans.

Risk Management Process

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects (if any). Senior management is responsible for the annual
risk reporting process. Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned
and mitigation plans are documented. The risk assessment
is reviewed by certain members of senior management and
presented to the Risk Management Committee and the Board
for their review. Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

¢ Risk elimination — senior management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in effect eliminate
the risk entirely.

¢ Risk mitigation — senior management may implement a risk

mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood, velocity or
the severity of the risk to an acceptable level.
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e Risk retention — senior management may decide that the
risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for the
Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.

Reporting, monitoring and evaluating are essential and integral
parts of managing risk. Senior management has established an
annual risk reporting process to gather risk issues affecting the
Company. A risk template has been developed to assist in the
identification, documentation, assessment and management of risk
exposures.

Review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system

The Risk Management Committee met at least annually during
the year and reported to the Board for assessment. Key risks
are identified and their responsive mitigating controls are
documented in the risk registers and report to the Board by the Risk
Management Committee.

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board
has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Company and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s business. The
situation will be reviewed from time to time.
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The Board has engaged APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited as its risk management and
internal control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual
review of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 March 2023. Such review is conducted annually
and cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review
was previously determined and approved by the Board. The
Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Audit Committee and management. The Board/Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

Inside information policy

The Company recognises the significance of consistent practices
of fair disclosure with the aim of disclosing inside information in a
timely and accurate manner. The Company has a policy with regard
to the principles and procedures for handling and disseminating the
Company’s inside information in compliance with the requirements
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) and the GEM Listing Rules, and such
policy has been communicated to the relevant senior executives
of the Group. Company Secretary works closely with senior
executives in identifying potential inside information and assess
the materiality thereof, and where appropriate, to escalate such
information for the attention of the Board to resolve on further
action(s) complying with the applicable laws and regulations.
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In prevention of premature leakage of inside information, the
Company has taken all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure proper preservation of confidentiality of inside information
until disclosure to the general public, including inter alia:

e restrictive access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentially;

e appropriate confidentiality agreements are put in place when
entering into any significant negotiations;

e inclusion of a strict prohibition on the unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee code of conduct;
and

e policy is issued to all employees annually reminding their
duties and obligations in respect of any dealings in the listed
securities of the Company as well as its subsidiaries and
associated corporations.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Li Yuet Tai (ZEH#), aged 41, joined in the Company in
September 2011 as assistant to chief financial officer and re-
designated as company secretary on 1 June 2012. Ms. Li holds
a bachelor’s degree in business administration in Professional
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and has
over 7 years of working experience in auditing and accounting
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Ms. Li is a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the
Company, Ms. Li has served in an international accounting firm for
five years. In the last three years, Ms. Li held no directorships in any
listed public companies.
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The company secretary took more than 15 hours’ professional
training for the year ended 31 March 2023. Reporting to the chief
executive officer, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring proper Board procedures are tailored to the Company’s
business needs and compliance with all applicable laws, rule
and regulations. The Directors could obtain advices and services
from the company secretary for any updates and developments
in corporate governance, applicable laws and regulations when
necessary.

The company secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is
responsible for preparing the meeting agenda, serving notice to
the Board at least 14 days before the regular meetings or at a
reasonable time for other ad-hoc meetings, and providing relevant
Board papers to Directors at least 3 days before the meetings, so
as to ensure that the Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner for effective
and informed decision making.

The company secretary also ensures that the Board meetings are
convened and constituted in accordance with all applicable laws,
regulations and the procedural requirements set out in the articles
of association at all times. In addition, the company secretary
will take minutes of the meetings and circulate them to Directors
for comments at a reasonable time after the meetings. After
incorporating Directors’ comments, the executed version of the
minutes will be maintained by the company secretary and be open
for Directors’ inspection during normal office hours.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board believes that general meetings can provide an
open forum for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend general
meetings of the Company and give valuable advices to the
Company through this direct communication platform. The
Company will convene AGM every year and convene any other
extraordinary general meeting (“‘EGM”) as required.

1. The way in which Shareholders can convene an EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than 10% of
the issued share capital at the time of deposit of the requisition
and carrying the right of voting at general meeting can deposit
a written request to convene an EGM.

The written request must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned and deposited to the
Board or the company secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business at Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial
Building, 28 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories, and
may consist of several documents in like form each signed by
one or more Shareholders. The request will be verified with
the Company'’s share registrar and upon its confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the company secretary
will notify the Board to convene an EGM and include the
resolution in the agenda. The Board shall convene and hold
such general meeting within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If the request is verified to be not in order,
Shareholders concerned will be advised of the result and no
EGM will be convened.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such general meeting, the Shareholders
or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene an EGM,
but any EGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the said date.
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The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who wish to raise any queries with the Board
may write to the Company’s investor relationship contact
at Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial Building, 28 On
Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories, by phone on
+852 3104 2962 or by email at cnc@cnctv.hk.

The procedures for making proposals at Shareholders’
meetings

To put forward proposals at Shareholders’ meetings, the
Shareholders shall submit a written notice of those proposals
with the detail contact information to the company secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution
in the agenda for the general meeting.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely commmunication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website.
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The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue is considered by a
separate resolution, including election of individual directors,
and the poll procedures are clearly explained. Paragraph C.1.6
of the Code requires that independent non-executive directors
and non-executive directors shall generally attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Paragraph F.2.2 of the Code
requires the chairman of the board and chairmen of the audit,
remuneration, nomination and other committees to attend
the annual general meeting. During the year, due to the delay
in publication of financial results and suspension of trading in
share of the Company, the Company failed to hold the annual
general meeting within the time prescribed by the Rule 18.03
of GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s Bye-laws. The Board
is of the view that the aforesaid delays are one-off incidents
and that the aforesaid matters had been/will be rectified
eventually and the Company will endeavour to comply with the
Code provision C.1.6 and F.2.2 going forward.

The attendance of the Directors at the general meetings of the
Company is set out on page 63 of this report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s corporate website is www.cnctv.nk. The Company
may from time to time conduct investor/analysts briefings and
presentations, roadshows, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors and specialist industry forums etc.

All corporate communication materials published on the GEM
website (http://www.hkgem.com) are posted on the Company’s
corporate website as soon as practicable after their release. The
Company’s constitutional documents are also available on our
website. No significant changes were made to these documents
during the year ended 31 March 2023. Information on our website
will be updated on a regular basis.

The Board was satisfied with the review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the communication with the shareholders, which
could effectively provide a two-way communication platform by the
Company with the investors and shareholders by way of regular
meetings and timely update of the Company’s financial results and
developments.
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The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together
with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of civil engineering services
for the public sector in Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
March 2023, the Group continued to focus on rendering civil
engineering services to the public sector in Hong Kong, conducted
its media and advertising business in return for advertising and
related income.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group,
including a business review of the Group and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 17 to 30
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group can be found throughout this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators is provided in the Five Year Financial
Summary from pages 3 to 4 and Financial Highlights on pages 299
to 300 respectively of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to implementing policies
and measures in our daily business operations to foster reduction
of the Group’s environmental impact. Detail information regarding
the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the
Group are set out in the ESG Report on pages 98 to 158 of this
report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important assets
and stakeholders of the Group and their contribution and support
are values at all times. The Group regularly reviews compensation
and benefits policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well
as the individual performance of employees. Other fringe benefits,
mandatory provident fund, share options and share award scheme
are provided to retain loyal employees with the aim to form a
professional staff and management team that can bring the Group
to different levels of success.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations and subject to the Articles of Association
of the Company. Subject to compliance with applicable laws,
rules, regulations and the Articles of Association, in deciding
whether to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into
account, among other things, the financial results, the earnings and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit lines, and the
current and future development plans of the Company.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 165 to 166 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 18 to the Financial
Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 30 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 169 of this report and note 40 to the Financial Statements.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not make any
the charitable donations.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s distributable reserves,
including the share premium account, calculated under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
HK$306.5 million in deficit.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Details of the convertible notes of the Group are set out in note 28
to the Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and financial position for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 299 to 300 of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of the Group’s revenue, subcontracting costs
and purchases of raw materials attributable to the Group’s major
customers, subcontractors and suppliers respectively for the year
ended 31 March 2023 is as follows:

FTEERKRMER

BE _Z_="F=-"A=+—HULEE &x&H
ZWE DB AREMEREE(LARER T
ERR - DEBREEFENEDEESRWT

Revenue Y 25

The largest customer RAER 30.7%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREF AT 88.9%
Subcontracting costs bR D %N

The largest subcontractor RADEH 36.5%
Five largest subcontractors in aggregate ARDBEEEM 58.9%
Purchases of raw materials (Notes) EEBEME (152)

The largest supplier BRAMER 24.9%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEEEN 81.3%

During the year, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.

Notes:

Total purchases of raw materials by the Group included purchases of raw
materials by main contractors for the Group’s use in carrying out waterworks
engineering services as a subcontractor for respective contracts. However,
the suppliers from which main contractors purchased the raw materials were
not included as the suppliers of the Group as the Group did not have direct
relationship with these suppliers.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2023 are set
out in note 38 to the Financial Statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Dr. Jiang Yan (Chairman)

Dr. Li Yong Sheng (Vice chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Da Yong

Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Tang Li
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Guo Ming

Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron, B8S JP

Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth (resigned on 14 October 2022)

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RULES 5.05(1), 5.05(2),
5.05A, 5.36A AND 5.28 OF THE GEM LISTING RULES

Following the retirement and resignation of certain former Directors
on 11 August 2020 and 14 October 2022, the Company has failed
to meet the requirement that (1) there will be two independent non-
executive directors on the Board which falls below the minimum
number as required under Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules;
(2) there will be no independent non-executive directors have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 5.05(2)
and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules; (3) there will be two
independent non-executive directors representing less than one-
third of the Board as required under Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules; and (4) there will be two independent non-executive
directors on the Nomination Committee which does not fulfil the
requirement of establishing a nomination committee comprising a
majority of independent non-executive directors as required under
Rule 5.36A of the GEM Listing Rules.
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The Company is in the process of looking for a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy. It takes time for the Company to look for and
consider the qualifications of the candidates and the potential
contributions the candidates can bring to the Board and to
complete the internal selection and approval procedures for the
appointment of new Board members in accordance with the
nomination policy and procedures of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company'’s Articles of Association provide that all Directors and
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

Upon the expiry of the previous insurance cover in year 2020, the
Company did not arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect
of legal action against its Directors as it took time for the Company
to solicit a suitable insurer at reasonable commercial terms and
conditions.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM pursuant to
the articles of association of the Company. The appointment of
executive Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either
party giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the
other or the payment of three-month salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the non-executive Directors was appointed for a specific
term of three years subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association of the Company.
The appointment of non-executive Director will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than three months’
prior written notice to the other or the payment of three-month
salary in lieu of notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors were appointed
for a specific term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the AGM pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company. The appointment of independent non-executive
Directors will continue thereafter until terminated by either party
giving not less than three months’ prior written notice to the other
or the payment of three-month salary in lieu of notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with any member
of the Group which does not expire or is not determinable
by the relevant employer within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of Directors as at the date of this report are
set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages
31 to 36 of this report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Group was entered into or existed during
the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

Remuneration is determined with reference to the nature of
job, performance, qualifications and experience of individual
employees, as well as the result of the Group and the market trend.
The Group carries out staff performance appraisal once a year and
the assessment result is used for salary reviews and promotion
decisions. The Group recognises the importance of staff training
and thus regularly provides internal and external training for its staff
to enhance their skills and knowledge.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to the duties and level of responsibilities of each Director, the
remuneration policy of the Group and the prevailing market
conditions.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and of the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations in the
PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by
the relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit
Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by the
relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and the
Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing levels
of contributions. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there was no
forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement
Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

Particulars of the pension schemes are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme was adopted and approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 11 August 2010. The share
option scheme expired on 10 August 2020. No share options have
been granted pursuant to the share option scheme during the year
ended 31 March 20283.

The Board has resolved to propose the adoption of a new share
option scheme for the approval by the shareholders of the
Company. The purpose of the new share option scheme is to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high
calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest.

The new share option scheme will constitute a share option
scheme under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
will propose the new share option scheme for shareholders’
approval at a general meeting of the Company to be convened in
due course for the purposes of, among other things, seeking the
approval from the shareholders of the Company for the adoption
of the share option scheme and authorising the Board to grant the
share options pursuant to the share option scheme and to allot and
issue the shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of the
share options. As at the date of this report, the new share option
scheme remains subject to the obtaining of () the approval from the
shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the Company
to be convened in due course; and (i) the approval from the Stock
Exchange for the listing and trading of any Shares to be issued
under the share options that may be granted under the new share
option scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings by Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in the Shares:

EERETETHRAEBREB AR KREMREX
[ B9 B 4 ~ AE R AR 17 B (R 1 58 RO R 2 B 33
B
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5 R HAE R B 636215 RS0 BRI = AR Fr it B 5
MR E KA ; HIRBGEM L ERI%5.46
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B RSP REm ROR BT -

RRGNEE :

Percentage
of aggregate
interests to total

Number of issued share

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held capital
MEDIEERER

BRITREN

e g1 #wmtE Fr¥siR{n 8B Bt
Mr. Kan (Note) Interest in controlled corporation 69,000,000 1.70%

L (Hat) NREGEE 2w
Notes:

Mr. Kan is the sole beneficial owner of Shunleetat, which was interested in
69,000,000 Shares. Under the SFO, Mr. Kan is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Shunleetat.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by
Directors as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2023,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or are deemed to have, interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or who were directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group
or who/which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO with details as follows:
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Long position in the Shares:

RRGNEE :

Number of underlying Shares under

Number of Shares held convertible notes (Note a)
ABRRERETZ
PR 8B HERNEE (1ia)
Percentage
of aggregate
Interest in Interest in interests to
Beneficial controlled Beneficial controlled Total total issued
Name owner corporation owner corporation interests share capital
el
RS REES HEHBERT
218 BHEAA EEZ R BHEEAA HEZ R iBrgs BREABRLE
China Xinhua NNC FERENEERS 1,188,621,377 - 1,311,378,622 - 2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(Hiztb) (Hatp)
CNC China FETEHREERE (PE) - 1,188,621,377 - 1311378622  2,499,999,999 61.65%
(Note b) (Note b)
(fztn) (Hizzb)
Notes: Wt

(@) Details of the convertible notes were set out in the circulars of the
Company dated 19 November 2011, 6 January 2015, 17 January 2018,
16 January 2019 and 18 May 2021.

(b)  China Xinhua NNC is wholly and beneficially owned by CNC China.
Accordingly, CNC China is deemed to be interested in the 1,188,621,377
Shares and 1,311,378,622 underlying Shares held by China Xinhua NNC
under the SFO.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any other person/entity (other than the
Directors or chief executive as disclosed in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” above) who which had, or is deemed to
have, interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or who which were directly or indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any
member of the Group or who/which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year
or subsisting at the end of the year are set out below:

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes with
the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000, carried
interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific. Each note entitles
the holder to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share. Conversion may occur at any
time between 9 December 2011 and 8 December 2014. If the
notes have not been converted, the Company would redeem on
9 December 2014 at the outstanding principal amount. Interest of
5% per annum would be paid annually until the notes are converted
or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the first
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain terms
and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the maturity date
of the outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal
amount of HK$277,030,210 was extended for 3 years and the
conversion period was accordingly extended for 3 years to 9
December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the convertible notes
was amended from 5% per annum to 3% per annum for the
extended period, being from 9 December 2014 to 9 December
2017. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2017 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.
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On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2018. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2018 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 2 years and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 2 years to 9 December
2020. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2020 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend term and
condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date of the
outstanding convertible notes with outstanding principal amount
of HK$257,030,210 was extended for 1 year and the conversion
period was accordingly extended for 1 year to 9 December
2021. Except for above-mentioned, the other terms remained
unchanged. If the notes have not been converted, the Company will
redeem on 9 December 2021 at the outstanding principal amount.
Interest of 3% per annum will be paid annually until the notes are
converted or redeemed.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates including spouses and children under 18
years of age was granted by the Company or its subsidiaries any
right to acquire Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, or had exercised any such right during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Shares during the year ended 31
March 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at the date of
this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into following continuing
connected transactions:
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Television Broadcasting Right Agreement

On 5 September 2011, Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific entered into
a television broadcasting right agreement (the “Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement”) with China Xinhua NNC, pursuant
to which China Xinhua NNC granted the television broadcasting
right in respect of broadcasting information contents from Xinhua
News Agency under CNC Channels on television channels in the
Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) to the Group for an annual
fee of approximately HK$1.0 million prior to 31 December 2016
and approximately HK$3.0 million with effective from 1 January
2017. The Television Broadcasting Right Agreement has a term of
120 months from 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2021. Since
China Xinhua NNC is a substantial shareholder of the Company,
and therefore a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions contemplated
under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board wishes to inform the shareholders and potential
investors of the Company that upon expiration of the Television
Broadcasting Right Agreement on 31 August 2021, Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific and China Xinhua NNC has yet to conclude
on the renewal of a new agreement due to the delay in the
commencement of negotiations. Notwithstanding the expiration
of the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement, Xinhua TV Asia-
Pacific and China Xinhua NNC are in discussion for a renewal up to
the date of this report. However, there is no assurance that Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific and China Xinhua NNC will be able to conclude on
the renewal of a new agreement at any time.

Further announcement(s) will be made by the Company to keep the
shareholders and potential investors of the Company informed of
the progress of the renewal of a new agreement or termination of
services as and when appropriate.
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GEM Listing Rules Implications

Pursuant to Rule 20.41 of the GEM Listing Rules, the transactions
contemplated under the Television Broadcasting Right Agreement
are subject to the applicable reporting, annual review and
disclosure requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company will comply with the applicable reporting,
disclosure and independent shareholders’ approval requirements,
as the case may be, under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
upon any variation or renewal of the Television Broadcasting Right
Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
Shareholders and their respective associates has any other conflict
of interests with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section on pages 37 to 77
of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 5 September, 2023, Mr. Kan, China Xinhua NNC, the
substantial shareholder of the Company and holder of the
Convertible Notes and the Company entered into a conditional
agreement, among other things,
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the proposed allotment and issuance of a total of
1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share subscription
price of HK$0.012 per subscription share to Mr. Kan, a
shareholder of the Company for a total consideration of
approximately HK$20,000,000;

the proposed amendments of certain terms of the Convertible
Notes with the holder of the Convertible Notes, which is also
a substantial shareholder of the Company and proposed
issuance of new convertible notes with the principal amount of
approximately HK$64,128,000 to the holder of the Convertible
Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder of the Company
to set off the Convertible Notes Interest; and

the proposed issuance of new convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to the holder of the
Convertible Notes, which is also a substantial shareholder of
the Company to set off part of the outstanding balance of the
On Demand Debt.

Save for disclosed in note 41 and above, no significant event has

taken place subsequent to 31 March 2023 and up to the date of

this report.
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AUDITOR

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2023
have been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited which
will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited and to authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Jiang Yan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 November 2023
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

CNC Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control
Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 20 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions in the GEM Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect
of corporate social responsibility, covering its operating activities
which are considered as material by the Group — namely (i)
provision of civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong
Kong (the “Civil Engineering Services Business”) and (i) media
and advertising business (the “Media and Advertising Business”)
comprising television broadcasting business in the Asia-Pacific
region (excluding the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)) and
digital marketing business on overseas market. With the aim to
optimise and improve the disclosure requirements in the Report,
the Group has taken the initiative to formulate policies, record
relevant data as well as implement and monitor measures. This
Report shall be published both in Chinese and English on the
website of the Stock Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy
between the Chinese and the English versions, the English version
shall prevail.

98 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

RN RS

PEMEBRIERARAT ((RAF) &R
HINBARHBER TAER)) MARERIER
B oghkEARSE (RS > EEHMALR
EXREEEENEREESEH OFRE 1
ERERFH ARSI HEERTEZRNEGHR
BEERANERBERRADREZXHE TR
5o

mREEREE

REEHRBEBMERZABERAT (T
Pir1) GEMZEZ5 EHARA) (TGEM_ETARRIL) By
720 NRIE - HEREQREIESMER I
BETGEM_ETARRFT & 2 [ 8 57w AR R L 1%
Ko

AEEHMEAERETEEAEEETEZR
R ARREAEERBERZKEEEF A
(VBB REMPIRMEATRERS (AT
RIRFBER) R)FEERESFES (EERRE
HEH)  BERDAE FEEREARH
ME (THRE)) NERBEREB RN EINGIS
B EHER - SEBIERMERREFEN
REE > AEE T EH EHEMEBER SRR
B R AT R B SR AR R HE I o 23R 5 1R IO B 32
PAT 48 0 LA R 58 3 R 25 T 2% o FRZESChR AN A 1E
e > BELAR X AR 2 o



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE-HtERERHRS

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023.

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us at cnc@cnctv.hk.

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the Civil Engineering Services
Business and the Media and Advertising Business. The Civil
Engineering Services Business includes provision of waterworks
engineering services, road works and drainage services and site
formation work for public sector in Hong Kong. For the Media
and Advertising Business, it involves the business of broadcasting
television programmes on television channels operated by
television broadcasting companies in the Asia-Pacific region
(excluding the PRC) and digital marketing business on overseas
market in return for advertising and related revenue.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group’s
business strategy in order to enhance capabilities for long-term
competitiveness. The Group is committed to operating in a manner
that is economically, environmentally and socially sustainable while
balancing the interests of its stakeholders and fostering a positive
impact on the society. To demonstrate its commitment, the Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage
and monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.

5 AR

REEHEINEMANZZE__FHA—HEE
TR _F-R=+—HBUREHEBZAR
BEERETE -

HBaRER
AERETE BETHARSREHARKMANE

EEEAD 2 REE BAEBenc@cncty.hkEF,
PIFG A4S o

i

i

AEBTEETIATIERBEGTRERKR
BEEB IATRRGEGOERETBLE
EBPIIR KT TREARTS ~ B8 T2 B RFBRF
MRt 3 T A2 YR BS S B &5 27500 S it B2
KE (FEEPR) 2 BHRBERAGBMEEZE
RIABETERD B RBRIBINHIZHIE
IEHEFUNSES RN mE 2 255

RBERATEREBRBZEZND B
NRBRERF I - AEBB LS IRIR
kiter]FEER HVETKE  TRKF
BEFPEZN R AT EHELERE S
BRE RO REE B HE I B it 2 /R
EERERERIE ER SEERKIER
RZER ABREHEFREHZ A FEER
B EHEFE

hEFESRIZERARAS 2022/2023 £ 99



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE-HtEgRERERS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group’s
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides
an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond.
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Key Stakeholders
FERGRE

Government

BT

Shareholders and
Investors

RERGES

Employees

(=1=]

Expectations
HAE

e Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

o ETBRIEREARA

e Proper tax payment

o MRIEMNIR

e Promotion of regional economic
development and employment

o HFEEHLERMIE

e | ow risk
o EEP

e Return on the investment

o B[O
¢ |nformation disclosure
o BIFE

e Protection of interests and fair treatment
of shareholders
e RERREDNMTEHEHF

e Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

o RIEEESREN KED

e Working environment

o T{RIRIR

e Career development opportunities

o HEXEEKST

e Health and safety

o BEHEZE

Engagement Channels
BHERE

e On-site inspections and checks

o BMHERKBE

e Conferences

s B

e Work reports preparation and submission
for approval

o TIRREHRMKRIEIHE

e Annual and interim reports

s FERPTHIRSG

e Company website

o NE)HTUL

e Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings

e RERBFAGRAMBRERE

e Annual, interim and quarterly reports

s FE -HFHKFERS

e Announcements

o N
e Newsletter
o fih

e Feedback forms

o REEFRAE

e Training, seminars and briefing sessions
o FiI - ERENE

e Employee activities

» BEEH
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Key Stakeholders
FERFMDE

Suppliers and Partners

HEEREEBH

Peer/Industry
Associations

[FI% R A

Market Regulator
MR EHE

A S

RIE-HERE

Expectations

HAZE

Engagement Channels
BHRE

Long-term partnership

REAB AR

Honest cooperation

B & 1F

Fair and open tendering process
REREABERE
Information resources sharing
ERERE=E

Experience sharing
REN=
Cooperation

a1k

Fair competition
NEHE

Compliance with applicable laws and
regulations

T E AR R ARG

Information disclosure

BfiEE
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Business meetings and supplier
conferences
EBeRRMHEETER
Strategic cooperation

BB S

Review and assessment
st R 5Tt

Tendering process

BRIEME

Industry conference and seminars
TEERKRATE
Site visit

BiFFs

Consulting

HaE

Information disclosure

E G

Annual, interim, quarterly reports and
other published information
FE-FHR-FTERGTRHEMTIZSE
il
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification - Industry Benchmarking

e Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of

relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

e The materiality of each ESG areas was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation - Stakeholder Engagement

e The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG
areas identified above to ensure that all the key aspects were
covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

e Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the Group’s
management ensured that all the key and material ESG areas,
which were important to the business development, were
reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2023, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to continuously improving its
environmental sustainability and integrating environmental
considerations into its operations. For the Civil Engineering
Services Business, the Group endeavours to manage
construction sites in an environmentally friendly and energy
efficient manner with the implementation of the “Environmental
Management Policy” and the “Environmental Management
Plan”.

The “Environmental Management Policy” (the “EMP”)
summarises the Group’s commitment in ensuring
environmentally responsible operation, including establishing
and attaining environmental objectives and targets,
communicating with employees and sub-contractors
the Group’s standards, as well as preventing or reducing
environmental pollution and nuisance with adequate
protective measures.

The “Environmental Management Plan” outlines how the
Group intends to minimise the environmental nuisance of air,
noise and wastewater pollution, and minimise the generation
of surplus construction and demolition (“C&D”) materials and
complying the requirement of Environmental Permit under
Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance.

For the Media and Advertising Business, it is wholly office-
based and its environmental impacts are relatively insignificant
as compared to the Civil Engineering Services Business.
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A1. EMISSIONS Al. HEY

The Group has implemented the “Environmental Management
Plan” and various emission control initiatives to address air,
noise, water and waste pollution during construction. The
Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400), the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311),
the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358), the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) and the Environmental
Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap. 499), to ensure the
environmental impacts arising from its business are managed
in a proper manner.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Pollutant Emissions

Air pollutants are a major concern for construction industry.
Construction activities such as concrete breaking and
demolition works, drilling works, excavation works and
combustion of fuels resulted in generation of air pollutants. The
Group has implemented various mitigation and preventative
measures to reduce its air pollutants emission.

In managing the dust generation, all stockpile of construction
materials including excavated soft materials, demolition
debris, fill materials, etc. which are dusty by their nature are
properly covered by tarpaulin or other approved means. For
carrying out dusty construction activities such as demolition
works, drilling works or excavation works, the Group provides
dust screens or enclosure, water spraying system, the fitting of
vacuum cleaning services to the pneumatic or drilling, cutting
and polishing machines or other appropriate abatement
measures to reduce the air nuisance to the public.
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The Group also provides wheel washing systems at all existing
points of construction sites, comprising high-pressure water
jets and heavy duty metal grating capable for supporting the
heaviest vehicles and a tough for collecting wastewater.

For the fuel control, the Group uses Ultra-Low-Sulphur Diesel
for non-road mobile machinery. All non-road mobile machinery
must be approved with a proper label in a prescribed format
issued by the Environmental Protection Department in
accordance to the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation. The decrease in air pollutant
emissions in 2023 was mainly attributable to the effective
implementation of a fuel saving policy on mobile sources
during the year.

During the reporting period, the air pollutant emissions were as

follows:

Type of air pollutant Unit
ZERIS RYEER B
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes
KAEYINOY i
Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes
BRE1EY(SOY g
Particulate matter (PM) tonnes
b= k7 V) i
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

GHG is considered as one of the major contributors to the
climate change and global warming. During the operation
of the Group, electricity and fuel consumptions account for
a major part of its GHG emission. The Group places great
emphasis on improving energy efficiency and reducing energy
consumption to reduce GHG emission. The Group has
adopted energy saving initiatives mentioned in the section
“Use of Resources” of this Report.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct
emissions and scope 2 indirect emissions mainly result from
the combustion of fuels in stationary sources and purchased
electricity respectively for business operations. During the
year, the Group complied with all applicable environmental
laws and regulations or prosecution for non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions. The
decrease in GHG emissions in 2023 was mainly attributable to
the effective implementation of a fuel saving policy on mobile
sources during the year.

During the reporting period, the GHG emission was as follows:
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Type of GHG emission Unit 2023 2022
= SR AR HE AR R ==L i —E-= B F
Scope 1 tonnes of CO2¢e 3043.65 4,304.67
FoE1" W'k ES
Scope 22 tonnes of COze 241.47 215.50
#i[E2? W—EbikES
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO:ze 3285.12 4,520.17
AERBHRESE WZ—EIEREE
GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO2e/HK$’ 000 0.007 0.011

BEREBINEE

U Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or controlled
by the Group.

e Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group generates non-hazardous waste from construction
sites and office operations. The construction sites produce
waste that includes C&D materials and household waste. The
Group strives to reduce the generation of C&D materials in
particular metallic waste, timber, cardboard packaging and
chemical waste.

The approaches include proper planning of works, good
site management, avoiding cross contamination to reusable
materials, use of metal formwork and maximising the reuse of
excavated inert C&D materials. All C&D materials arising from
or in connection with construction works shall be sorted to
recover the inert C&D materials and reusable and/or recyclable
materials prior to disposal of the waste portion off-site. The
disposal of waste is managed properly in accordance with the
relevant legislation.

Furthermore, the Group strives to minimise the use of timber
for temporary construction works. Alternative environmentally
friendly materials, such as metal scaffolding and metal
formwork shall be used to replace timber. The Group reuses
timber as much as possible and tries to avoid treating the
timber with chemicals which make it difficult to reuse or
recycle.

The Group provides recycling bins for the collection of
aluminium cans, papers and plastic bottles on construction
sites. The recyclable materials are collected by recycling
companies on a regular basis.
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In addition, the Group has implemented the “Environmental
Office Practices”, which provides guidelines on reducing
waste in office operation. The Group strives to reduce
the paper waste by encouraging employees to use both
sides of paper and suitable font size and shrinkage mode.
Besides, communication by electronic means is promoted
to minimise the use of paper and paper waste. Employees
are also encouraged to use reusable items, such as reusable
cups and cutleries to reduce the amount of waste. The
decrease in the amount of non-hazardous waste generated
in 2023 was mainly attributable to the decrease in work
from civil engineering projects from the Civil Engineering
Services Business and the effective implementation of waste
management strategies during the year.

During the reporting period, the non-hazardous waste
generated by the Group was as follows:

Type of waste Unit
BE¥5E R B
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes
FREEZ BEREEY) g

Non-hazardous waste generated intensity tonnes/HK$' 000

FREEZ BEBRREVMTE LY =

During the reporting period, there was no significant
hazardous waste generated by the Group. The Group will
closely monitor its operation to the possible generation of
hazardous waste in the future.
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Noise

Noise is generated from the Group’s construction activities,
such as excavation of hard materials, operation of plants
and machinery, falsework dismantle and formwork removing.
In managing the impacts of construction noise on the
surrounding environment, the Group strictly adheres to the
relevant laws and regulations, including the Noise Control
Ordinance (Cap. 400). The Group strives to mitigate the noise
nuisance by controlling the noise source and adopting noise
abatement practices.

The Group undertakes various construction planning
to eliminate noise sources. Except for those machinery
operations and construction works stated in the Construction
Noise Permit issued by the Environmental Protection
Department, other operations are not allowed to be carried
out from 7 p.m. to 7 a.m. or at any time on Sundays or public
holidays. The Group also selects the quieter plants to be used
on site instead of noisy plant when feasible.

In order to minimise the noise pollution on construction sites,
the Group has adopted noise abatement practices. The Group
uses non-percussive equipment such as sawing and coring
machines for demolition and concrete breaking work. Mufflers
or silencers, and dampening layer with steel collars are fitted
to hand held pneumatic breakers. Where percussive breakers
are used, the breaker tip is enclosed with sound insulating
material to reduce the noise.
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A2,

Wastewater

Wastewater such as toilet sewage generated from the site
depot is discharged into a foul sewer if connection to foul
sewer can be made. Otherwise, it is temporarily collected
in the sewage tank. The Group has engaged licensed
sewage contractor for sewage disposal. Direct discharge
of wastewater produced during construction into rainwater
gutter is prohibited. Wastewater generated from the sites is
properly treated by appropriate means before disposal such
as sedimentation tank or waste treatment plant whenever
necessary.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring efficient use of
energy and resources. The Group aims to promote resource
saving by adopting green office practices and motivating our
employees to participate in resource conservation activities.
The Group’s “Environmental Office Practices” provides
guidelines on saving energy and water in the office operation.
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Energy

The energy consumption of the Group comes from electricity
and fuel consumption. In view of the scarcity of energy, the
Group has advocated various energy conservation strategies.
Electrical appliances should be set to energy-saving mode
where possible. Computers are set in standby mode when
they are not in use for a long period of time. Besides, room
temperature should be maintained at an energy-efficient
level. Lighting and power supply should be switched off when
they are not in use. The decrease in energy consumption in
2023 was mainly attributable to the decrease in work from
civil engineering projects from the Civil Engineering Services
Business and the effective implementation of an energy saving
policy during the year.

During the reporting period, the energy consumption was as

follows:

Type of energy Unit
AEIREER! B
Purchased electricity MWh
BEAE/ JEEBF

Petrol MWh

A JEEL B
Diesel MWh

! JKE B

Total energy consumption MWh
RERFEFE JEEBF
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK$’000
AERFEREE BB FHETT
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AS.

Water

Water is another important resource used by the Group.
Employees are reminded to turn off the tap when not in use.
In case of leaking faucet or pipe, employees should report to
the relevant authority to avoid wastage of water. The decrease
in the water consumption in 2023 was mainly attributable
to the decrease in work from civil engineering projects from
the Civil Engineering Services Business and the effective
implementation of a water saving policy during the year.

During the reporting period, the water consumption was as

follows:

Water Unit

KER B

Water consumption m?

FEKE THR

Water consumption intensity m?3/HK$’000
FEKBRE MHKSFET

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

As stipulated in EMP, the Group considers in its construction
planning all the statutory and contractual environmental
protection and pollution control requirements that are
applicable to the proposed construction works, which
are likely to pose potential harm to the environment or
environmental nuisance to the members of general public.
Before the intended commencement of individual construction
operations, the environmental officers and site agents
identify the potential adverse impacts on the environment
and develop pollution and mitigation measures, in order to
reduce the environmental impacts to the minimum. The Group
establishes and maintains a routine site inspection programme
as part of its active monitoring programme to identify and
rectify environmental problems and assess the adequacy of
existing pollution control and waste management measures
with a view to achieving progressive improvements.
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In addition, the Group adopts various promotion activities to AN REB RN L IEHEZELUERE
enhance the environmental awareness of its employees. The BENRFEH# AEBERIZERIRMF
Group establishes safety and environmental notice boards for 9 \iﬁ'ﬁ ARERFREF REHLKRETER
displaying environmental information, provides and displays ENIRFEREEYEIEERRBE®R
adequate and appropriate environmental protection and #JHET%E%F“I;)E?*EET?EZI?EE%”:EETHJ
waste management signs and posters, delivers environmental MRE R UELESMEEERIRR
talks and distributes environmental protection and waste KREEYER AEETEARKEH T AE
management publications and information sheets to generally RREE BAIEE T2 HIRRES -

promote environmental protection and waste management
to the workforce. The Group also launches environmental
campaigns such as model workers to encourage frontline staff
to participate in environmental protection activities.

With the integration of policies and measures to reduce air BEEMABRRERMUR D ERSR K
pollutants and GHG emissions, waste generation, noise BRERBHI -BEVEL - BRIRENU
nuisance and resource consumption, the Group strives RERER 2B B HNRIRIZETF
to enhance environmental sustainability and minimise the BEEUTRENVHIRIENEZE-

impacts on the environment.
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A4. CLIMATE CHANGE Ad. RIEEE

Governance

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the
nature of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts
of climate change, including extreme weather events, or
damage to facilities have immediate operational impacts
and are treated as operational risks. Long-term challenges,
such as emerging ESG issues and climate-related risks
and opportunities, may be discussed by the Group’s ESG
Working Group. Our commitment is to implement, maintain
and continually improve our Quality, Environmental, Health and
Safety (“QEHS”) management system and QEHS performance
to uphold the elements of this QEHS Policy and achieve
Environmental Friendliness and Protection, Prevention of
Pollution and Green and Gracious practices, we endeavour
to protect the environmental aspects, reduce the impact
of global warming and practice graciousness to our site
surroundings. The QEHS policy is reviewed annually to suit
climate change.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate
change, within our business. The ESG Working Group plays
an integral role in overseeing the Company’s ESG strategy,
policies and disclosure, including reporting to the Board
regularly as important matters arise. The Board plays a role in
decision-making and supervision on ESG-related issues.
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FHFIBIREE -

AEFREEERRHNMEEREARRE
BEREANAR RIES2CNEREE 8iF
1R U K 25 14 3 R 4 4B BN B 3% 4 Ak B
REErEaRRAESERMEBE A%
ENRE e REATHENMEgTwmE
HPED Al HIENRE e REA
& K AR R RN B R R 4 o B M
AEBH HETFESERPANEE
IRIE-REEEZ2 (TQEHS)) BEEAK
QEHSHEX LA B AQEHSHKR TR B
RIRBERTRREHLIETRUKRIRFREA
BENHE RAONSHERERE H
DRIRBIENEEURREMANIRIBER
1R A BE#ITEEMCE SFHYIEHQEHS
BRETHEELUBRREEb -

HPIRIRE (L B R ER T/ NER M
EHEENNBEREERE - HERE
AERE (BEREEL) ETENER R
B HERESTFNMEREEARRIR
B e REARE BRRKRESEE
BAANRIER SEEHRESER
HEEFH-EFTENRE - HTERER
MERAZREIRR R EEE P EE(ER

hEEERERARAT 2022/2023 £ 115



The board indicates the Company’s development direction,
supervises whether all subsidiaries have completed the
targets, and assesses and manages climate-related risks and
opportunities.

To ensure that our management keeps up with the latest trend
of climate-related issues, climate competence training will be
provided so that it has the necessary expertise and skills to
oversee the management of climate-related issues. Our Board
also seeks professional advice from external experts when
necessary to better support the decision-making process.

The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving
operational emissions targets for the Group, and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking and gap analysis
exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and policy relative
to best practice standards. Moreover, the ESG Working
Group works closely with the Group’s different operation
departments, with an aim to develop consistent and enhanced
approaches on addressing climate risk issues and report
to the management. Moreover, the team works together
with consultants to review the green-mark rating of our
development. This is to ensure that the proposed design or
method to construct green sustainable buildings is considered
thoroughly while selecting and reviewing materials, technology
and sourcing for a sustainable product that is more climatic
responsive, energy effective, resource efficient, smarter and
has healthier indoor environments.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile
through its role in increasing the frequency and intensity
of certain diseases, and the health and mortality impacts
resulting from natural disasters. We assess the overall level
of risk by taking into consideration a range of diverse risk
factors across the many categories in our product or service
range. This diversity of risk together with our business strategy
and broad geographic footprint helps us distribute risk and
provides protection against the impacts of short-term climate
change effects. The climate-related risks and opportunities are
a factor that determines whether a company can adapt to the
market. If the change strategy seizes the opportunity, it will go
further; if the risk is resisted, business will be more successful.

In the short term, the Company needs to invest higher costs
in the initial stage to achieve environmentally friendly projects.
For example, the Company has to source and make use of
green materials and sustainably sourced finishes and provide
higher energy saving appliances and water saving sanitary
wares. We have to face many uncertain factors, such as
investor preferences and consumer preferences.

After the initial investment, certain results will be seen in the
medium term. At this time, we have to face the situation of
whether to continue to expand the influence and whether
investment and return are proportional.

The Company will incorporate more technology with
integrated solutions that meet the multiple functional needs
of a home, which may include lighting, thermal comfort, air
quality, noise control and more, to integrate solutions that
meet the multiple functional needs of a home. The system is
constantly updated to be abreast with the latest technology
available in the market.
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Our diversified products and services plan to provide
protection cover to people in our communities against
weather and heat-related disease, while we continue to
explore opportunities to engage our business partners with
the participation in renewable energy programs and adoption
of energy efficiency measures, encouraging them to develop
climate resilience and reduce their operational carbon
footprint by taking into consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario” through the
following steps:

Step 1: Foresee Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is a possibility
that the industry will be exposed to substantial changes such
as stricter policies including the introduction of and increases
in carbon pricing as well as advances in technology, and
changes in customer awareness. In light of these climate
change effects, based on the IEA scenarios and others,
we have foreseen multiple future images as the external
environment that will surround our Group.

With regard to the |EA scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C
scenario (2DS) to analyse and picture future images in cases
where climate change measures do not progress and where
climate change measures progress further Beyond 2°C
scenario.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the future
images foreseen in Step 1. We believe that in such a society,
it will be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction effects.
This in turn will lead to increased business opportunities.

118 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERRS

HPNZTIEERKRRBAERBHLER
HRE RREXRR KRS RBEERRE -F
B RPEERRRES £XHFBH2H
Bl B4 AE TR 5 8 B SREXBE TR S FE 1 > T
BREBRBUTYER ZEEARMGERBANT
FER BEER2EFIUTHIER] - &
BRREBEREEES] B EEEREH

1 FAARIREEZE BEAX=RK

BEERIRECIEIRET  TEA I EEER
BHRBERSEAET) SESIARRES
WEB URKMMES hE R EHME-
ERIAZSFREZEREE REERER
WAETER R EMIER > HATRAIRREE
EFEIBIRIENZBRE R

Eap el ﬁE/}_ff%%%Ia%’ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁ?H%

K2E1E5(2DS) L
ijtﬂﬂL@E’zmﬂ”Wt%ﬁmE—*fL

RBBEK2ENBER THRKRRR

whR2 A E

KEBTHRIPRRNEERRIRHEL
EENTE - RFMBE RO LEEH
AR A — SCHRBEUE (M
REZEH



With regard to effects on production and purchasing,
introduction of and increase in carbon pricing is anticipated
in accordance with the global advance of climate change
measures, leading to the possibility of higher purchasing and
production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society, production
interruptions and supply chain disruptions are likely to increase
as a result of higher frequency and intensification of natural
disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Confirm Measures

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-
renewable energy in our daily operation. This strategy will allow
for flexible and strategic responses to each demand for the
regions where the emission factors of purchased electricity
consumptions are high. By promoting real carbon emissions
reductions throughout the world through these types of
initiatives, we are working to achieve zero carbon emission in
our business.

We minimise carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy. With
respect to renewable energy in particular, we have set a new
target, achieve a reduction rate for purchased electricity in the
coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group’s strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable increase in
corporate value through appropriate information disclosure,
dialogue with institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or tests
the existing risk management strategies under climate change
with the aid of risk assessment, and therefore the areas where
new strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach
using national data, local information and expert knowledge,
which can identify how climate change may compound
existing risks or create new ones.

The risk assessment is conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

e  Objective/goal

e Scale

e Time frame

e (Climate change scenario for most climate variables and
sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

e |dentify the record of occurrence of climatic hazards in the
past in the area

e Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

e  Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

e |dentify potential hazards

e Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get
worse under future projected changes

e |dentify new risks that can emerge under future projected
changes
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Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

e |dentify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at-risk in
future

As outlined within the ESG Governance section above, the
Group has robust risk management and business planning
processes that are overseen by the Board in order to identify,
assess and manage climate-related risks. Then, the Board will
issue instructions to the ESG Working Group to issue specific
rectification measures to business units. The Group engages
with government and other appropriate organisations in order
to keep abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or
fiscal changes.

The Group continues to raise awareness of climate change
in regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our
daily operation. However, there remains gaps in understanding
how such climate risks and opportunities may impact our
operations, assets and profits. Our Group assesses how the
business addresses climate change risks and opportunities
and takes the initiative to monitor and reduce its environmental
footprint.

During the reporting period, the significant climate-related
physical risks and transition risks, which have impacted and/or
may impact our Group’s businesses and strategy including but
not limited to the products and services, supply chain and/or
value chain, adaptation and mitigation activities, investment in
research and development and operations areas, the impact
on financial planning in operating costs and revenues, capital
expenditures and capital allocation, acquisitions or divestment
and access to capital areas, and the steps taken to manage
these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
SR A A R B i 2t MBRE
Physical Risk

BERERE

Acute physical risks

=HERE

e |ncreased severity and frequency e QOperating cost increases such
of extreme weather events such as as the inadequate water supply
cyclones and floods. Workers are for power plants
unable to access the construction sites = %& Bl A< 12 N > 40 3% 2B ik
due to high water level, and the rebar KRB
at storage area become unusable due
to overexposed to water. Besides, e Capital cost increases due to
some excavation areas may not be the damage of facilities
visible, thus may cause drowning. RHIRIEENE & A AIE N

Reconstruction is required and the
increase in material demand will cause
suppliers to increase prices or out of
stock. Additionally, excavation slope will
be erose which may endanger workers
working in the pit/trench.
BR R R Ak EmiE KRB HRIERER
B R SAERIE N o AR KALBE > TA
BRAEARETH #FFENHEGR
BERBIOKPMEER LS
aTEZEResRELZEE fﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ
BEHK BEETER MHE
BN ERHEEIRESNRE It
Sh > ZIREFBIREZE R PR R
RIvE,/ BERTIENTI A
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B R P ER A BT HE

Plan to adopt scenario
analysis to disclose an
organisation’s planning under
future scenarios, most notably
one with in a 2°C scenario.
sHEIERAIB R DRI EAR
BERRBER RS (L
HEREK2EBS) °

Ensure all site are provided
with proper drainage system
to ensure water are able to
flow during heavy downpour.
RAFMAMEBEBEEEN
BEKZR& LRI SER T
BEBEIK ©
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

S 152 4 o L B i 2t fit

manage the risks

7 E 2 R P ER AR HE

¢ Increased likelihood and severity of e Ensure Earth Control

wildfire. Natural or man-made natural
fires can cause a large number of trees
to be burned. Thereby affecting the
supply of raw materials.
FNBENAI S REERZEIE M-

Measures (“ECM”) machine

is working and always

on standby, with regular
maintenance of ECM machine
and ensure sufficiency of

] ?ZiEJZAj%E’\J BANKEERREM
AN TERMEBIHE

chemicals for ECM machine
to prevent delays due to
shortage of chemical
FefRtEZESRIE (TECM )
WERIER TIEM IR RN
oAk A& > & HR#ESEECMEE
2% FEIRECMI¥ 28 B B %91E
%DD BEJJ:.'TE%DD _Lﬁ;lﬁﬁ
& RNIE SR

e  Based on past historical
climate analysis, a plan to deal
with possible natural disasters
is established.
RBBERELRIEDT
HIE EE B AE S £ R B AKX
=i -I

e Improve warehouse
protection measures to
prevent materials from being
damaged by fire and rain.
PUE R EREIE N 0 B LA
FHR K SKE e PR 7K $R 188 ©
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
154 R L B i MBETE
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B R P ER A BT HE

e  Consciously save materials in
peacetime.

FEMF Ry B B B EAIAT e o

e  Protect of cut slope using soil
erosion blanket.

ERATBEHBIRETRK

e Introduce storm water tank
and raise the minimum
platform level.

SIAKE EERETFES
Eo



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIFE-HHERELBERS

Steps taken to

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks

1 AR B L B M E # B 12 B b Fr BR BN AU $E b

Chronic physical risks

EHERERRE

e Changes in precipitation patterns and e Revenue reduces from e Carefully plan areas that will be
extreme variability in weather patterns, decreased production capacity  affected by extreme weather,
rainy seasons become unpredictable. and the negative impacts of and increase design flexibility
KRN R RRELWRIER  workforce to adapt to possible situations
B (ERESSHUTER - WA R EERES) T E RS E) such as sea level rise. For

TN EmEEEmELD example, elevating the materials

Sites may face high water level due to
excessive rain throughout the days and
work will be delayed due to damaged
materials and equipment. Besides, the
water availability will reduce under the
change of rainfall patterns, which will
greatly affect the construction progress
of the site.

T ih o] g R B fR/k @ 2 EER/K LB
=EE M RREREGENTH
JEER o 51 > BEREPRAR TG > BT K
SRERED ) IR KIER E T AV
T#EE-

Rising temperatures: Hot weather

can affect the construction progress,
such as the reduction of the efficacy
of materials like sealants and mortar.
Besides, staff or workers may feel sick
easily in extreme temperature.

BE LA RBARXRETERTE
B tNFEE B R R EMEATH
o tbSh > TR A BB T AR IR IR
ETRZREITE-

from the ground to an optimum
level to minimise physical
contact with water, and to have
personnel be on standby in case
of heavy rain to turn on the ECM
machine.

FAHRERZ IR E
& RS sTEE N
MBS E LA E R s IR
BYIE 5 o BIA0 > i A4 L IE N E
RAZRESE  UEBEHD
BIRIEMEK 0 WL HEA SPERF
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28,

Develop the habit of saving
resources.

EERMNERIEE-
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
154 R L B i MBETE

¢ Rising sea levels: The rise in sea
level may cause the coastal area to
be submerged. The original building
planning area cannot be constructed
normally, or the completed building is
submerged.
BYE LA BTE EARTEERE
BB R  HRERRIETEE
ERHT > R TIBFHR AL -
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B R P ER A BT HE

® |ncrease water conservation

efforts through effective use of
water coming out from water
treatment plants, and joint all
reservoirs together to ensure
water discharge to open drain.
WA RS KEERES
BY7K > MNAREAKFIE > Bk SR
BKE—RBERKGEARE-

e Engage with local or national

governments and local
stakeholders on local resilience
to promotes healthy living to all
staff and workers.
ER M 75 50 B SR BUR e B i 17
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REMBETIRTANREE
Ee



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIFE-HHERELBERS

Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks
1 AR B L B M E # B 12 B b Fr BR BN AU $E b
Transitional Risk
B RS
Policy risk
2R E b
e As aresult of energy efficiency e QOperating cost increases due e Source out alternative

requirements, the complied standard of to high compliance costs for  construction materials.
construction materials may be required.  the updates of equipment and ~ FREEEMK} o

HREEER JEREFTSERERN inspections
BEMEL o HRREEHMREREEEE o Outsource to overseas
RERWMAELF FEERK  suppliers.
e The choices of suppliers become scarce  Z1& /N INEFBIMEER
as they are unable to adapt to new
changes. e Construction costs increase e Educate the staff on the usage

HRNEER EABEN S EEE as the price of materials and  of new materials.
BE Do traditional fuels rise YEEIFERIHME -
B Mk R E AR RHE R
e Mandates on and regulation of existing R FREE A A IE A0
products and services. Contractors
have to update their equipment and
reduce environmental pollutions.
HIRBELKRBRBENRE REEE o K
BENEENRE BAIRIRS S
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

SR 15 4 R L B i 2t MBTE

e The government will increase the price
of fuel to restrict the use of traditional
fuel sources such as diesel and petrol.
BUF1R SR EHER » LURBISE A0S
HEERMEER -

e The Group needs to spend much time
and resource to carry out ISO quality
inspections every year in order to meet
the government’s quality inspection
requirements.
rERBFRBIEEARERENER
ETISOmBERE LR SBNE SR

EKo
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B R P ER A BT HE

e The Group should follow the
development of technology and
use clean energy machines and
appliances, such as energy-
efficient 5-ticks aircons aids
in the reduction in carbon
emissions.
rEERRERMERE £A
BRAE TR 23 S Mk 0 ANENBE
BUSTNZE R » LUR/ DB HE I ©

e There should be environmental

awareness to reduce carbon
dioxide emissions. The
management carefully study
the requirements of ISO and
implement.

R R ZEEHERIRGRR
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Steps taken to

Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks

1 AR B L B M E # B 12 B b Fr BR BN AU $E b
Legal risk
EREE

Exposure to litigation. Contractors
have to adapt the tightened law and
regulations issued by the government
due to climate change. When the
construction sites affect nearby
residents, such as noise pollution and
water pollution, residents will complain
or even file a lawsuit.

EEEFER R B EOEBREINRR
EEIEMEEEBREAERER B
BRI EKIERENEER U
RESRRKEHR ERERFEE
REEHFER -

Unable to tender for new project.
BERIRMIER -

Will be blacklisted by the Government
bodies.

MBS BT AR RE -

The Group will be fined when they fail
to comply with relevant government
regulations.
MAEERNRTEBINBRRTE > K
BRLASIR

The Group may be required to cease
operations when they fail to obtain
certificates.
ERERRAESHRAR > AR
ERFIEEE o

e QOperating cost increases due
to high compliance costs
RN ERRAE LA EEK
A S

e Additional cost increases when
the companies are fined
BN B ST g1
JIEERIN:N) %N

e Monitor the updates of
Environmental laws and
regulations and implemented
GHG emissions accounting in
advance. Management has to
review environmental plan if any
change of legal requirements.
ERIRIB A EERNEMS
ot IR B IR E RIS BEAZ
BoWzFEEXRELEBE B
HEWABENEBDIREE -

e Engage Environmental Control
Officer to advice the site on any
environmental issues.
ERIRIBES A S I MANE
IR AR R

e Conduct inspection and report
to ensure compliance.

ETREW RS UERS R

e Seriously abide by relevant laws
and regulations proposed by the
government.

S0 B8 ST BURT 28 e B A REDE 12
ERR o
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

SR 15 4 R L B i 2t fit

manage the risks

7 B R P ER A BT HE

E'\/ =

Technology risk
i /R B

e More green building strategies with low-

carbon, energy-saving technologies are
produced. Lagging behind may weaken
our competitive edges.

B BB TRV AR R R SR SRR
EHIE o E B GHISSHMNGHERE

ZE:
Ho

Advanced training is required for the
staff to use new technology.

BT HEZETERAMKMNSHRE
Al

Requires more space consumption due
to advancement of technology.
HAREMAED  BEERAESHNE
e

The technology fails due to inadequate
experience/still under research and
development (“R&D”) phase.
BMRERASBAE MNERHATR
FagE (THA2E)) PEER MR AL ©

e (Capital investment in
technology development
increases

RN E AR EEM

¢ R&D expense in new and
alternative technologies
increases
AT B B B AT BY A 25 &
FasE M
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e Examine the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
environmental technologies to
increase the competitiveness
and productivity.
MREARMRRENTIRSEH
FHREEINEITE R

m °

e Source out companies that may
offer better pricing wise but
deliver the same as others.
SR ERMHEEER BH
HtABRHAERRBIA
5o

e Educate the staff on how to use
the technology.
HEBTUAIERRIM -

e (Cater the space for
advancement of technology.

M E L TR ZER

e Ensure the supplier is well
recognise to prevent failure in
technology.

MR PR B B =2 58 o] RV (1 A&
72 LAB LE BT 2R 34
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Climate-related risks description

SR 15 4B BR & P 4 il
Market risk
5 B g

e More customers are considering
climate-related risks and opportunities,
which may lead to changes in
customer preference. Consumers may
be more inclined to buy green and
environmentally friendly homes. The loss
of competitiveness of traditional houses e
has led to a decline in corporate profits.
BELERIEE B ER AR ERE K&
WiE PR ERR R RIFE - JHE
ErRERNBEREBIRFREEE.
BRETKEHRF I EREFEET
o

e Uncertainty in market signals. Green
buildings become one of the factors to
affect the property price.
MBERIEEL - RBRERS/T
EEMEERNRERZ —-

e More environmentally-friendly raw
materials may be much expensive.
BEAIRGRREMEPEESEBRES

=
ch °©

Financial Impact
M E

change in revenue mix and
sources
VNI SE NV e
1E > BRI AR

Operating cost increases as
abrupt and unexpected shifts
in energy costs

F BB TR A A B SR IR e Bk
ZINEME ) BEVESE A
1M

Construction cost increases
due to changing input prices
and output requirements and
the increased cost of raw
materials.

BRI A B R E L ERE
4 BB LU R AR} B 2518
0o RS R AIG AN o

Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 E 2 R P ER AR HE

e Revenue decreases due to the e Control the environmental

hazardous materials in products
such as asbestos, and studying
the application of eco-friendly
and recycled materials.
EHERPHIRIEESHM
KL WA WA SR IRFR MR
FRBEEMBRER -

Allocated appropriate budget or
costing while tendering projects.
TEERERDEEENESR

Source out supplier not only

in the country but overseas to
maintain pricing competition.

= RZAH LSBT 8 SN FE R X
REBRHEIE -

Advise and recommend

the benefits of using
environmentally-friendly
products to the customer.

mE R EREMEEERIRRE
GRAVEFBR ©
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact
154 R L B i MBETE

e Fewer suppliers can provide
environmentally-friendly raw materials.

AR HIRRRAM R HERE LD o

e The changes in consumer preferences
lead to the increase in the risks that
companies have to bear.
HEERFHEBICER R BIAKIER
JE B S8 A
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Steps taken to
manage the risks

7 B R P ER A BT HE

e Actively conduct surveys
on user preferences in the
consumer market to formulate
appropriate development
strategies.
MmN ERmIZHERPRT
HE - B E RN E R RRE -

e |ncreased revenues through
access to new and emerging
markets (e.g., partnerships with
governments, development
banks).
ZIBEAN IS R AT TS

QN E AT RIRITEE) U
IBANUA ©

e |ncreased diversification of
financial assets. (e.g. green
bonds and infrastructure)
RATMEEZKRLREE.

s BREFRERER)
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description

S 152 4 o L B i 2t

Financial Impact
M E

manage the risks

7 E 2 R P ER AR HE

Reputational risk
BERAMR
e Revenue decreases from

e Shifts in consumer preferences. More e Fulfilled the social responsibility

customers are considering climate-
related risks and opportunities, which
may lead to changes in customer
preference for the houses with greener
design.

HEEREFNEZ HREZNERE
& B EREERN G %S fEm
AR ERE R RIFIEAR St FIRIRAY o
BE-

Stigmatisation of sector, more
stakeholder concern or negative
stakeholder feedback on the
contractors or developers if the houses
are developed in a less environmentally-
friendly way.
BARGNEERAESAGERITE
SR RN EHAEEMAEmERET
HieTEEEIE-

a decrease in demand for
properties/engineering
services, and the decrease in
engineering work capacity
WARE Y TRRBHE
KUK T2 Esem L i

Operating costs increase from
negative impacts on workforce e
management and planning
HEHNEERRINEET
BB EE M AL

by organising more activities
or actions to show how the
corporation places importance
on climate change.
BITHgEM HAREZES
HITE BRRRIHREE®E
HER -

Engaged Environmental Control
Officer to advice the site on any
environmental issues.
BHRIRRES A BMIRIZEE
MG R

Management should conduct
inspections and reports to
ensure compliance.
EEERETEERRS U
HERERH

Management to review the
environmental plan if any change
of legal requirements.

W EREERBEMEL 1
B EEIEE A
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Steps taken to
Climate-related risks description Financial Impact manage the risks
154 R L B i MBETE # B 12 [ b Fr BR BN BY $5 b

e [f the operation in the construction e The construction work will

site violates environmental protection
laws and is subjected to monitoring,

it will damage the Group’s reputation
and reduce chances of acquiring new
contracts or will be blacklisted by the
Government bodies. Besides, the
public’s trust in the company may be
reduced as well.

HER TS EERIRRRE LR
TWEHGE RIBEXEEZE B
BN E  SRBUTEES A
BB bih ARBRABTNERE
IRERRE

Damage to the company'’s reputation
will affect the judgment of investors.
Existing investors may withdraw their
capital, and potential new investors may
abandon their investment.
AREBESEETEREE IR
BEREENGEEHE BEMKREE
EgRERSE-
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be terminated if any non-
compliance is found.

B RERAEREL T
& 1E

e Take practical actions to prove
that the company attaches great
importance to climate protection
and hold more related activities.
UERITERAASHRER
o = B AR MR E S 18R
EEe

e Meet all government
requirements for climate
protection.
wE BT E RIERENFIAE
Ko

e To ensure the safety is in place
for all sites.

HRFTE IiMZ 2
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During the reporting period, the primary climate-related RIREHA > B R EERRMN E B8 KR
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts were as FENM B EWT !
follows:

Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

RIZERRBRFE

Resource efficiency

B m

e Construct and move to more efficient buildings
BRIBEEAMGMNEF

e Reduce water usage and consumption

B K BOEFE

Energy source

AEIR

e Use of lower-emission sources of energy

ERHFME L BBEIR

e Use of supportive policy incentives

5 A ST R M R BB

e Use of new technologies

o8 AR T B2 4t

Financial Impact

ﬂjﬁ ‘?\/ =

e QOperating cost reduces through efficiency gains and
cost reductions

38 R0 WS e Sz B BB A PR AR B RS

e QOperating cost reduces through use of lowest cost
abatement

BB AN ERBREEEME

e Returns on investment in low-emission technology

HESFREMHIR BRI

® Revenue increases through new solutions to
adaptations needs, such as insurance risk transfer
products and services
BBt H BT R AR Z2 BN > B0
=bE R R E m R AR TS

® Revenue increases through access to new and
emerging markets

BB AR BB EMULA
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Detailed description of
climate-related opportunities

RIZMERA BRI FE

Products and services

Em KRR

e Development of climate adaptation and insurance
risk solutions

€ AR B FE K Rz R R AR AR R 75 56

e Ability to diversify business activities

EHEEZTIERIAE

Markets
iz

e Access to new markets
EAFTE S

Resilience

Bt

e Participation in renewable energy programs and
adoption of energy-efficiency measures
2 HE P B AR AR AE R FE T

e Resource substitution or diversification
BREBRY LR
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Financial Impact
MBEE

e Market valuation increases through resilience planning,

such as infrastructure, land, buildings
ZBERREIENMHHEE NER T - 18F

Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate under
various condition increase

KREIEN THMHERIEEERABERE DR

Revenue increases through new products and services
related to ensuring resiliency

BBAE R RERE SRR ARTIE NBA



Metric and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to measure and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and greenhouse gases (GHG) emissions
indicators are the key metrics used to assess and manage
relevant climate-related risks where we consider such
information is material and crucial for assessing the impact of
our operation on global climate change during the year. We
track our energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions
indicators regularly to assess the effectiveness of emission
reduction initiatives, as well as set targets to contribute our
effort to limit global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies and
base year from which progress is measured are described
in the section Al: “Emissions” and section A2: “Use of
Resources” of this Report. Our Group adopt absolute target
to manage climate-related risks and opportunities and
performance.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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EREER

FEERBRARERAEREELARR
THRA B ELR K 1418 o BETROHFE MR E RS
CEERRE) FHERANEREEER
=B R R IERE AR AR R 15T > FFIE R
EREMBEAR UHFEHMAEANNE
EHRRREECHNTEEZHAEE - M
TEHAIBHEAEROHFE R R E RS HEIEIR
LEHERBHERE S AR TREBR
ARG 2 IKEE FRIR IR —10 7

ERBRERNERAGEERNELE
FRFBHEANAREAT | THERY) —6
RA2 : TEIRGER ) — 81 - AEBEREUES
BREUEEEREA MR R S L
ESSLR
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS B. t€5mE
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES BEREFEIER
B1. EMPLOYMENT B1. E{E

The Group believes people are the most valuable assets to the
continuing development and success of the Group. As such,
the Group strives to attract and retain talents and maintain
a safe and equal working environment for its employees.
Through the staff handbook, the Group has stated the terms
of compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods and other benefits and welfare.

The Group strives to construct a diverse and inclusive
workplace where all its employees are treated with dignity and
respect. The Group provides equal opportunity in all aspects
of employment and maintaining a workplace that is free from
discrimination or harassment against any individual on the
basis of seniority, nationality, gender, age, marital status,
disability, race, color, religion or sexual preference.

Remuneration and promotion opportunities are crucial to
retain and motivate employees in achieving key objectives
of the Group. The Group provides remuneration for its
employees in accordance with the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and the
Labour Law of the PRC. For promotion of employees, the
Group conducts performance appraisal annually to evaluate
overall performance of employees.

The data collected is used to serve as reference in considering
promotion. In addition, the Group provides mandatory
provident fund in accordance with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance (Cap. 485) to its Hong Kong employees and
required social insurance to its PRC employees.
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During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that would have significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

As at 31 March 2023, the employee compositions by gender,
age group, geographical region, employment category and

employment mode were as follows:

Employee compositions

&S 48R

By gender i Rl o
* Male e Bt
* Female o wk

By age group EE AR B 5
* Age 30 or below e 30 AT
o Age 31-40 o 31-408%
e Age 41-50 * 41-508%

e Age 51 or above e 51EEEIA Lk

By geographical region ¥ &2 o
e Hong Kong o HH
e PRC o FIE
By employment category ¥ EEERNE 5

RBREHE ZEBHAINTERRE
STE R R R BERET s TIFE
BB TERE S RERUK
HMGBREMZEEERKERMY
FEFBELESEAZEZBER

RIBZ=ZF=ZRA=+—H B4 - F
gER  tIEEE  EEERESEI
BlnzEEMEMBERIOT !

e Senior management
e Middle management
e General staff

By employment mode
e Full-time staff
e Part-time staff

. BHREERE
» PIREERE
s —RBT

REMENE S
s EFBT
s RBWET

2023 2022
—EBZ= TECCHF
74% 76%
26% 24%
12% 13%
24% 23%
17% 17%
47% 47%
100% 100%
9% 9%
16% 9%
75% 82%
100% 100%
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During the reporting period, the employee turnover rate RS AR MR s iR iE R R thIE &
by gender, age group and geographical region during the HEIDHNEERRLEENT
reporting period was as follows:

Employment turnover rate 2023 2022
B {E R = —E= TEIHF
By gender 4R 5

- Male - B4 42% 47%

- Female - 40% 45%
By age group ¥ a2

- Aged 30 or below - B0 TUT 61% 53%

— Aged 31-40 - 31E408% 34% 34%

— Aged 41-50 — A1 E508% 31% 40%

— Aged 51 or above - 51T L 43% 54%
By geographical region & & o

- The PRC - FE -

- Hong Kong - &% 36% 47%
Overall B 36% 47%

B2. HEALTH AND SAFETY B2. #FRE%ZE

The Group places the highest priority on securing health and KEBRFRE2EBEEZRERAZE2K
safety of all its employees. Adhering to the Occupational TEU -AEEBEEET(HEZERRE
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) and the Law of BE&EB)) (55509%) LUK (P BB 2w bAoA
the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational EN O ARBOTEER A ENRFA LTIE
Disease, the Group strives to minimise workplace accidents RIRZ2M - AEBCHE MREEEALSE
and continuously improves workplace safety. The Group BRER RZ22EBBK) EFEHE
has established the “Health and Safety Policy Statement” KEBNEE - ZE2EBRRZEER U
and the “Safety Management Policy”, covering the Group’s MEREEZZ-

commitment, safety objectives and safety measures in
ensuring occupational safety.
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Safety education is crucial to ensure that employees are fully
understand the safety risks and well-equipped to handle the
job duties in a safe manner. All workers on sites are required to
attend an induction training on the safety policies of the Group.
Depending on work nature, the safety officers are responsible
to provide safety briefing regularly to illustrate major safety
issues to the workers. Besides, safety reminders and warnings
are posted at prominent areas at the sites to enhance the
safety awareness of workers.

In addition, safety monitoring is important to identify the
potential safety risks. The safety officers, site agents and
the Group’s clients carry out weekly on-site inspection to
identify the existing and potential safety issues. In case any
safety issue is noticed, the site agent will implement safety
precautions and rectification measures to minimise the risk.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded 2 case (2022:
1 cases) and 0 case (2022: zero case) of work-related injury
for the Civil Engineering Services Business and the Media and
Advertising Business respectively. The Group did not have any
work-related fatality during the year. Besides, the Group was
not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that would have significant impact on the Group in
providing a safe and healthy working environment during the
reporting period.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIFE-HHERELBERS

HEREERD THIZEEBR LB
BeEHBLeMBEEIFME 2285
TEBEREZ -MIRSERIARME
ERZEERSMARIE Rz TIEMK
22T EREERMZE2[BER T
MIARBAEIEZEM[E- LI R 058
TANZE2EH Rt LIRS REER
TEERTARES-

BE Z2HEHNHMEBETZEREM
EEBER-ZR2IE -TITHEEREE
EERSENEITRGETRSE  U#5
RERBEZEREB -HEREARZEM
B ITHMETFERBRLZETRMEURE
BRI R TR ERE

RREHME AEER T ARTIERBEE
BREBERESESBONSEEMR (CF
_THFE RNEERCEZF ERN)
THE-rEBRFEERNTEHIREMET
EERBNE THMF o Ubih » REE I AR
BERANETHEBERIOER ERHEA
EERNRSHBRELEREREIFIR
BEMERTE-
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B3. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING B3. & E Kz

The Group considers the skills and knowledge of its
employees as the key elements of the Group’s continued
business growth and success. By encouraging employees
to participate in training programmes, the Group strives
to enhance employees’ work performance, personal
development and promotion opportunities.

According to the Group’s staff handbook, the Group provides
internal trainings for employees, including induction training,
on-the-job training and professional training. The induction
training covers the corporate culture, corporate facilities and
regulations such as security and confidentiality. The on-the-job
training includes the business knowledge and skills required
for specific positions, with the aim to enhance employees’
work performance. The Group also encourages employees
to attend professional training and obtain relevant certification
and license.

For Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group
encourages employees to participate in training programmes
organised by professional institutes, including Construction
Industry Council, Occupational Safety and Health Council,
Hong Kong Institute of Construction, Vocational Training
Council, etc.

142 CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

FEERS HESNRERNBMT R E
EEBIEIE R R MINHRREE @B
wEEE 2 MEIERE  AEES DR
BEIFRFE - BEAZERREAKS

BEAEEESETIFM AEEREESRM
RERIEFI > B iR ABE S ERIEII R E
EFell o ABIERIRE L EXE - ¥R
TEREEE WZRREE) - ERIENEE
FETE R AIF BEB AN B I 5E ) ETER T
BEIFRR - AEETHREELFEE
FiEsl > BEARAE E AR

MEARTERBEZMS > AEEEE
E2NREXZE HELE2BER &
ARE2E BEIRSFEXRRBES
AYIEENIERAE ©



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERBRS

RS HARE » MR R EREER D 8=
BIlREF DLW

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees
trained by gender and employment category was as follows:

Percentage of employee trained (%) 2023 2022
ZiEN{EE B 2 (%) —E-= B HF
By gender B4R 85
- Male - B4 10% 10%
- Female - 2 18% 17%
By employment category ¥ EEENE 5
— Senior management - SREIEE 25% 25%
- Middle management - PEEEE 35% 45%
- General staff - —mRBT 7% 6%
Overall e 12% 12%

During the reporting period, the detailed breakdown of

employees trained (in percentage) and the average training
hours completed per employee by gender and employment

category was as follows:

Training (hEFEE) =15 3)I{E & BE4H(%)
1Za 2023 2022 2023 2022
TECCE R ZIEI=F T
By gender BERE 2
- Male - Bi% 1.0 1.0 63% 63%
- Female - 7% 2.1 2.0 37% 37%
By employment category REFEE 9
- Senior management - BREEE 2.6 2.6 19% 19%
- Middle management - FEEIEE 3.6 4.7 37% 37%
— General staff - —RET 0.7 0.7 44% 44%
Overall =he 1.2 142 100% 100%
rhESFEE SR ARAT 2022/2023 &£k 143

Average training hours

RS HARE R R ERER D8R
RS (B0 K& EETMBIFI9E

AN -

(hours/employee)

T 19 55 51 B B

Breakdown of
employee trained (%)
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B4. LABOUR STANDARDS B4. 5T #8|)

With the implementation of “Labour Standards Policy”, the
Group is committed to prohibiting the use of forces and child
labour in any part of its business. The Group strictly adheres
to the relevant laws and regulations, including the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57) and the Labour Law of the PRC. As
stipulated in the staff handbook, newly recruited employees
are required to present their identity documents to Human
Resources Department for age verification as prevention of
engaging child labour. Besides, all work should be voluntarily
performed and should not involve forced labour. Employees
are free to leave employment upon giving reasonable notice.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations related to
recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.
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OPERATING PRACTICES EEEN

B5. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5. (LFEEEIR

During the Reporting Period, there were 86 suppliers and all
of them were located in Hong Kong. The Group strives to
maintain long-term and stable relationships with suppliers
and sub-contractors who meet our standards of technical
competence, innovation, product quality, reliability and
delivery performance, financial soundness, ethics and social
responsibility.

The Group has implemented a “Supply Chain Policy” and
ensures that its suppliers and sub-contractors meet the
Group’s requirement regarding quality, environmental, safety,
labour and confidentiality standards. It ensures the production
capacity, technology level, quality assurance capabilities,
supply capacity, safety and environment management
qualifications if needed. Only the highly qualified suppliers/
subcontractors complied with regulatory requirements are
eligible for the supplier/subcontractor selection by the Group.
The Group also carries out regular assessment on suppliers’/
subcontractors’ overall capabilities, assets position, nature of
business, reputation in the industry, quality of products, goods
delivery and compliance with law and regulations. The Group
provides technical assistance and supervision to suppliers and
sub-contractors for quality assurance and educate them with
anti-corruption terms. Meanwhile, the Group encourages any
feedback from our suppliers and sub-contractors, which may
help the Group in understanding their needs and facilitate us
in formulating the future policy.

R EHARE > 86 HEBHIMUNEB - &
EEENMERT HEHFIRMES Al
M EREE URUERXRERER -UH
mEMt - EERTEREEREZMERK
NEBZENRARERE-

FEBECETIHEBIR BAEHEM
BEkoBBdmEersEEBEHEE
BRIE-Z2 B IREEMERENEK-
HEEREERED BT EERBHE
N-HEEN ZERBIREEER (W
B RENGEEEXRNSEHEMRER
SREETREERHAERERE AL
B EMER, DEENERENEE
R EBHEE TEXBE EREE B
MR R B SFIERERIBRETEH T
fhemEEBHER kD EEREHRMX
FREEURRESE THRSETRE
SRS - AR AEEKBHER R
DEBRERE EREAMNREAERT
1R % T KL A A IS TP ) RE AR R IBLER o
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B6. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY B6. EmE1E

Service quality is always of the utmost concern in the Group’s
operation. The Group continues to provide high-quality and
safe services to its clients in order to meet their expectations
and enhance their satisfaction. The Group has implemented
the “Quality Management Policy”, which covers the Group’s
commitment to enhance the service quality by providing
trainings for employees, monitoring the progress and building
action plan.

For the Civil Engineering Services Business, the Group’s
subsidiaries are certified for ISO9001:2008 Quality
Management System Standards. To pursue quality
construction work, the Group has adopted various quality
control procedures, including regular monitoring, inspection
and testing at different stage of construction, recording
data and controlling non-conforming works. The Group
implements project quality plan for each project, covering
the specifications, timing of delivery, quality of construction
materials and manpower required. The project manager is
responsible to ensure the progress is in line with the project
quality plan. Besides, the site agent or foreman conducts
inspection to ensure the quality of the completed work
conforms to the requirements specified in the contract.

The Group is aware of the importance in handling customer
information. The Group takes high precaution in ensuring
their confidentiality to avoid misuse or leakage of personal
data. As stipulated in the Group’s Code of Conduct and staff
handbook, employees are required to abide by the guidance
on prohibiting any unauthorised disclosure of confidential
information.
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B7.

In addition, the Group does not make false claims regarding
the service provided. Besides, we respect intellectual rights
and purchase products and services from authorised suppliers
and copyright holders.

The Group is in strict compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations, including the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486), the Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528) and the
Copyright Law of the PRC. During the reporting period, the
Group did not receive any complaint related to the services
provided. The Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters during the reporting
period.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is committed to upholding the high standards of
business ethics and integrity. Abiding to the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) and the Criminal Law of the
PRC, the Group has incorporated its requirement towards
anti-corruption into the Code of Conduct. All employees
should decline an offer of advantage if acceptance of it
could affect their objectivity in conducting the Group’s
business. Employee who violates the Code of Conduct after
investigation will be subject to disciplinary actions, including
termination of employment. The Group will also report the
case to relevant legal authorities.

The Group’s “Whistle-blowing Policy” encourages and
enables employees to report on observed and suspected
non-compliance and questionable practice by mail, email
or phone. The Group treats all disclosures in a confidential
and sensitive manner to reasonably protect whistle blowers
against intimidation and reprisal.

B7.

B4 > 7 & B8 b 5 i P B2 (AR 75 1R HH B 1R
B2H-BE RMEENMHERE LHR
REEERREREABEER MRS

FEBBRETHBAEIRERER 81
(BAER (FAFR) 1561) (55486%) ~ (R
REAFRB) (55528F) K (PEIRRIEZE) < 1R
HHAR > REE T EWEEEEREPARMH
AR TS BY IR & o ISR 5 HARE - A< S B I R
TREARBTERRRAZE EE R
BREMLEBZERERRER -

R&EE

FEBRNIRERSKTINBEERR
MIERE RERET (P LKA
(35201F) DUAR(REMZE)  REABRKX
BENREMATRTRIZED HESFT
BRANNEREEERNETEAERERS
RARFEEN A —BFAEER - HL
HER BENFRERTATR BIR
FERERCRED BERE -AER
TR EAEREBUA B PIF I #R S ©

AERTRRBR TR EE B EREAEN
WBBEM BN BE L ANRGAERR
BRERKRAIRTR FERRFRESE
REMARR UEEBRERRERZR
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The Group plans to host regular trainings delivered by AEEFECHRETHEERBEBREXE
representatives from regulators and professionals to all ATREXOEZBEENEEETERK
Directors and employees in regards to anti-corruption policies BEHERERHNEI UFRFEEHK
and procedures so to maintain employees’ awareness on anti- BE5HNERRMUE-

corruption best practices.

During the reporting period, no legal case regarding corrupt REREHE BIEEEHBAEEREH Y
practices was brought against the Group. The Group was REGSHERRG - NREHE XEEH
not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and TARNBEAERHAERERERE
regulations that would have significant impact on the Group ENEMBER R UEFRAEREZE
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering B AR ROEIRBYIE T

during the reporting period.

Anti-corruption training R&EEEN 2023 2022
Number of employees received ZIENEEBAE
training

e Board of directors s EXT 8 8
e Senior management s SHREIEE 15 10
* Middle management o NEEIRE 18 13
o General staff s —fiRET 42 47
Total employees MET A 83 78
Number of training hours 5153 4

* Board of directors s BEXT 16 16
e Senior management s SHREIEE 30 20
e Middle management s HEEIEE 36 26
e General staff s —fiRET 63 70
Total training hours 48 3 2| B X 145 132
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COMMUNITY
B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is constantly
aware of the community needs and strives to bring a positive
impact on community development. The Group encourages
and supports community development initiatives to enhance
social benefits such as environment, health and education.
Besides, the Group encourages its employees to dedicate
their time and skills to supporting local communities.

In 2022, the Group supports community development by cash
donation. The table below summarises the cash donated by
the Group to different charities during the reporting period:

tE

BS. tEKRE

ER—RBREHEEENERE  AEEF
BYBARRICARIRNBHLERES
REEZE rEERBAZFTRER
S8 URARRE BRERESEHEN
HAEMmottih AEBBEESERA
R R R BESZ T Bt & o

RIZZ—F  AEEBBREESRET
HBERE - TRBAAERNBRSHABA
MRS HBFL 2R EIH0 -

Donation

Name of Charities Amount

ZEWELTE IHRE £ EE
Construction Charity Fund Integrated SRAREXMAERLERAT

Service Centre Ltd 110,000
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RE-HERERBRSETESI
REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
TEHE BE-—RIKERBARBERIEE EEf

A. Environmental
A IRIiE

A1: Emissions

Al BEB)

General Disclosure “Emissions”

— R R HEm .

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”
data

ARG NIEE  BFRELE A AHREHER BUE FHEm — 22 /5 e

A1

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where ~ “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
appropriate, intensity Emission”

FRGENIEE RERRGHNER WER) BE MBER) —R=EREBHITU

Al1.2

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the Group’s business.
appropriate, intensity

FRENIER MELEESEEVEER MER BE NEBRARETEEER

A1.3

KPIA1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Hazardous and Non-
appropriate, intensity hazardous Wastes”

FRGENIER MELARSEEVEER ER) ZE (BE) — B ERESEEY)

Al.4
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls)

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERAREIER

KPIA1.5

B SEAENIE R

A1.5

KPI'A1.6

B SEAENIE R
A1.6

Description of measures to mitigate emissions

and results achieved

HAUBR R E R T KR PR S AR

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction

initiatives and results achieved

HAREEERBEEREYNG L HEELE

BT FTIS AR

A2: Use of Resources

A2 I EIRA A

General Disclosure

—RRE

KPI'A2.1

AR
A2.1

KPI A2.2
RIS 1R
A2.2

KPI'A2.3

RS AENIE R
A2.3

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by

type in total and intensity

RERDNEER,HEEES

=

Water consumption in total and intensity

MIEKEREE

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and

results achieved

H B JR 156 AR et 51 B R PRIS AR SR

Section

411

“Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”
“Emissions — Greenhouse Gas
Emission”
THER) — B RS 2 H .
MBER) —REREBHIRU

“Emissions — Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes”

MY — A ERESEREY)

“Use of Resources”
M& R %)

“Use of Resources — Energy”

ME R A — B8Ry

“Use of Resources — Water”
MEREF A —7Ky

“Use of Resources — Energy”

MERHM A — e TRy

Pages
BR
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112
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs)

FEHB EBE  —RIKERARERIER

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved

FARARIESR HMKEEER KR ERIBERRE > UREH

A2.4 Rk a5t 8 R PG AR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished
products and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced

RRANIERE HNNmPTAEEMENESER WER) 84E

A2.5 BA5E

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIBERKRARER

General Disclosure
— IR EE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them

FRGNIER WREBIHHRERRABERNEAXE

A3.1 RERNREEREAMEENITE
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Section

B

“Use of Resources — Water”

M&RF A —Ky

Not applicable to the Group’s business.

NERRAEEER-

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”
NRIEKRKAE R

“The Environment and Natural
Resources”

MRIERRAE IR
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERAREIER 3211 BX

A4: Climate Change
A4 RIEEE

General Disclosure “Climate Change” 115-121
—IRRE EACE-2
KPI A4.A1 Description of the significant climate-related “Climate Change” 122-137

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them
RBEMIER HACKKAISEGHETAELERENEXR [RIEEME)

A4 .1 RIEHEBAER MEHTTH
B. Social
B.#t&

Employment and Labour Practices

EBEKREIER

B1: Employment

Bl : €&

General Disclosure “Employment” 138
— AR R M 8.

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age “Employment” 139

group and geographical region
FRENIEE BN EEELE FRANRMEZI2HNE [ER
B1.1 BHEY

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 140
geographical region

FRGENIER EMh - FieA ke DHNES MR HER

B1.2
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =1

B2: Health and safety
B2 : @EHZSE

General Disclosure “Health and Safety”
— R Mgz

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities “Health and Safety”
FRENIEE FEIERMAMIETHABKLEE MRz
B2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety”
RISRANIERE HIGEAXTITIERH MRz
B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety”

measures adopted, how they are implemented

and monitored
RGNS MWAMFTERAN B R RERE T 2EN MR MEREZ 2
B2.3 HITREERE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERAREIER 3211

B3: Development and Training
B3 ! #E&IE

General Disclosure “Development and Training”
— AR R e & R 3sal
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by gender  “Development and Training”

and employee category
RgENIESR B REESEZSNZIEER DL 2% & ka3l
B3.1

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and Training”
employee by gender and employee category

RRENIER RBRMUKEEHEFE D SLEETMTIIN TEREKE

B3.2 Ralisd

B4: Labour Standards
B4 @ % IT#R|

General Disclosure “Labour Standards”
— AR EE M T 28|
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment — “Labour Standards”

practices to avoid child and forced labour
FRGENIER WitmsiBREANNEmLURRE T Kaasl IR
B4.1 BT

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such The Group current does not report on
practices when discovered this indicator.

FRGENIEE WMATERERBRFHREMBERMKEE XNEBEBRLEILISRETRS

B4.2 K2 B

Pages
BR

142

143

143

144

144

hEEERERARAT 2022/2023 £ 155



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERERRS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section
FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =1

Operating Practices
=EEA

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : e B2

General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management”
— AR B MErERE IR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region “Supply Chain Management”
FRENIER Kt SNEERmEE Mt pE sl S 1)

B5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging “Supply Chain Management”

suppliers, number of suppliers where the

practices are being implemented, how they are

implemented and monitored
RAENIER HMAARMIEREEEAVIES - RITAREAN HEEEEIE)
B5.2 HIEBHE - UBREANNRITREER G E
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key
Performance Indicators (KPls) Section Pages

TEHR - EE - —RIKRERAREIER 3211 BX

B6: Product Responsibility
B6: EmEE

General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 146

— AR R EmEE]

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Not applicable to the Group’s business. N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons

FRGENIER CDENCEZXERMHARZLEREREIER AERARKIEEERS- B

B6.1 mZARKNE 2t

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related No complaint related to the service 147

complaints received and how they are dealt with provided was received.
RIBREMIEE BEMNERKBRBENRFBEUKRESRS HEZEEFBMRHRBZ KT
B6.2 =

KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to observing  “Product Responsibility” 147
and protecting intellectual property rights

RASRGNIERT Al B A 58 K (P& R0 8 A A RARVIE A TEmEE]

B6.3

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and “Product Responsibility” 146
recall procedures

FARENIER HiiESRTEREKRERLWIER EmEE

B6.4

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and “Product Responsibility” 146
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored

FRGENIERE WIS BEEERMRERIAMBEE  UREEH EREE

B6.5 TRERFE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FTEHR -EEH —RRBERAREIUSE =3:]

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 . R&J5

General Disclosure “Anti-corruption”

— ARk B R&EI5]

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No legal case regarding corrupt

corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its practices was brought against the

employees during the reporting period and the  Group.
outcomes of the case

BREMIER RNRSHNHETANEESRLTESE HBENEEERESTARLER

B7.1 HESFAEHNEE KA ER ZIEERE Mo
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-  “Anti-corruption”

blowing procedures, how they are implemented

and monitored
RARGNIER MW ESEl R RRER  URERAMITRE RES]
B7.2 BH*E

Community
cant)

B8: Community Investment
B8 (t&KE

General Disclosure “Community Investment”
— AR EE MEKRE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community Investment”

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport)
FRGENIER FIEMERE HEE - RREEE-FILER ttek#E)
B8.1 R~ XIE-BBA)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the “Community Investment”
focus area

FREMIEE AHEIBBEMHBER WEHED) MtEKE]

B8.2
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B gt EH A RA G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CNC HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of CNC Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group”) set out on pages 165 to 298, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

31/F, Gloucester Tower T

The Landmark iR

11 Pedder Street BATHF1158
Central b

Hong Kong HEE LT RE3
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Material uncertainties relating to the going concern basis

As stated in Note 3c to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$9,457,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and as of that date, the Group’s
net current liabilities and net liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$370,510,000 and HK$394,806,000 respectively. In addition,
included in the Group’s liabilities as at 31 March 2023 were: i)
convertible notes of principal amount of HK$257,030,000 (the
“Convertible Notes”) and interests thereon of approximately
HK$74,226,000 (the “Convertible Notes Interest”) in respect
of which the Group was in default in settlement; ii) amount due to
a substantial shareholder of HK$24,587,000 (the “On Demand
Debt”) which was repayable on demand; and iii) promissory
notes of amount of HK$40,429,000 and interest thereon of
approximately HK$6,777,000 which are due for repayment in the
next twelve months after the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements (the “Promissory Notes”). These events and
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3c, indicate
that material uncertainties existed as at 31 March 2023 that cast
significant doubts on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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The Directors have assessed the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and are undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position and enable the Group to
meet its liabilities as and when they fall due. These plans for future
actions in relation to the going concern assessment, which are set
out in Note 3c to the consolidated financial statements, include:
(i) management is endeavoring to improve the Group’s operating
results and cash flows through cost control measures and will
focus on the existing business of the Group; (i) the Company has
entered into conditional agreement with Mr. Kan, a shareholder
of the Company, for the allotment and issuance of a total of
1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share subscription price
of HK$0.012 per subscription share for a total consideration of
approximately HK$20,000,000; (i) the Company has entered into
conditional agreement with the holder of the Convertible Notes,
which is also a substantial shareholder of the Company, for the
amendments of certain terms of the Convertible Notes in relation
to, among others, the amendment of interest rate from 3% to
0.8% per annum and the extension of the maturity date of the
Convertible Notes to 9 December 2025; (iv) the Company has
entered into a conditional agreement to issue new convertible
notes in the principal amount of approximately HK$64,128,000
to set off the Convertible Notes Interest; (v) the Company has
entered into a conditional agreement to issue new convertible notes
in the principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to set off part of the
outstanding balance of the On Demand Debt; (vi) the Company
is negotiating with its promissory notes holder to extend the
repayment dates of principal and the interest amounts accrued on
the Promissory Notes and (vi) Mr. Kan has confirmed to provide
financial support to the Group in a reasonable manner under
relevant laws and regulatory requirements and also granted a loan
facility up to HK$60,000,000 to the Group to maintain the going
concern of the Company.

The validity of the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis depends on the successful
eventual outcome of the above mentioned plans and measures,
which are inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report
cannot be ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still
subject to multiple uncertainties.
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Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from the
above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the
Group’s assets to their net recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities that may arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements because of the lack of detailed
analyses provided by management in relation to its plans and
measures for future actions in its going concern assessment which
take into account the uncertainty of outcome of these plans and
measures and how variability in outcome would affect the future
cash flows of the Group. Any adjustments found to be required
may have consequential significant effects on the consolidated net
liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2023 and the consolidated
loss and other comprehensive loss and cash flows of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2023, and the related elements and
disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 3L 1% BB 3R S

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, we were not able to form an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

RRMREEVHREFE EFRETL 85
BIFEEEET WEBRBR M IREER
BREAMNER URRAFBEER S
B -BRIEEFEER SERBFHEIFLLEL
2o HfRILZ SN R E A B R B 1T RYME

BEREZEEREEEE

EEENHFHRRE

R

R BRG S MBRRARENEE

ATHWERSGERELEREMHREE
RMERS N FERNREFNERMER
EAIERMERA > W03 H & A 175 RAVIZBED
BE-AITER BTHREG MEEMARKR &
THRARAERERBRERMEMALAEL
BEEMEE-AM BUFREFTEERER
BE—MTM EFEEIMLEFESHYHRE
BRBEZER-

RBEEBEHAMACNEXRSSAMBETH
(TsFB)) - BEF/IN EEE BEZDHR
BTRIBRTESHHEMBEEE.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
18 3% BT R S

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent HEAKBIIZHMKRENBIZIBEEEEAA

auditors’ report is Shek Lui. e

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited EF g EFBFRBRAE
Certified Public Accountants BZESSHED

Shek Lui a&

Practising Certificate Number: P05895 MEFSHRIT (P058I5

Hong Kong, 16 November 2023 BE B2 =F+—HA+/<H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mefmkHEMEENER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

Notes
Kzt
Revenue Wz 6
Cost of services AR 75 AR s
Gross profit/(loss) EFR, (38)
Other income HA A 7
Other gains/(losses), net Hihhz,/ (8518) 7328 8
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAX
Administrative and operating expenses ~ {TEU R AL & B
Impairment loss on property, plantand 73~ BB K& & H
equipment AR 18
Change in fair value of financial assets at BiBIE@HIZATFEAKRZ
fair value through profit or loss THMEBEZ N TFEEE
Profit/(loss) from operations EiEanA (5518 10
Finance costs L E pY AN 12
Loss before income tax PREFEIRAIESE
Income tax PR 15
Loss for the year FREE

Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hth&ME (&5518) IkE

Items that may be reclassified HEOJEHS7HEE
subsequently to profit or loss B EH

MERIINEF 2 ERERR

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year FE N2 H 5184858

2023 2022
—E-= - —
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET
496,457 408,175
(493,037) (417,531)
3,420 (9,356)
4,603 4,487
7,435 (453)
- (770)
(15,181) (17,452)
- (1,517)
- 3,575
277 (21,486)
(13,183) (20,573)
(12,906) (42,059)
3,449 (93)
(9,457) (42,152)
(41) 37
(9,498) (42,115)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
rEalEmkAEMEEKETR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

Loss for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive loss for the
year attributable to
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interest

Loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company
— Basic and diluted (HK cents)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Notes

Kiat

THANLEGEFEANRSE :
—RRBHEAA
—IFEER

THALTREER
EHEGRETE
—RRBEBA
—IFERR

EATIEE ANEW
SREE
—EH AR #E Gl 17
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2023 2022
—E-= —E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAEIT

(9,440) (41,729)

(17) (423)

(9,457) (42,152)

(9,481) (41,692)

(17) (423)

(9,498) (42,115)

(0.23) (1.09)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRER

As at 31 March 2023 R_-_ZE_=#=H=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Contract assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Promissory note
Convertible notes
Employee benefits
Tax payable

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FRBEE
Y EN G YSE
ERESE

MBEE
B 5 M HEMEWRRIA
BHNEE
ReMREFEY

MEE

mEAaE

B 5 REMELRUE
aHaE

HEaE

AR

AT ARG 24
BEEEF

FE(SIRIE

MENERFER

BMEERRBER

Notes

ket

22
25
27
28
26

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TAET
16,635 17,922
11,465 3,975
28,100 21,897
124,647 124,266
41,177 24,758
51,619 42,560
217,443 191,584
245,543 213,481
229,928 217,335
88,790 65,228
5,558 2,648
- 44,949
257,030 257,030
6,514 7,590
133 807
587,953 595,587
(370,510) (404,003)
(342,410) (382,106)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBIRRR

N a1 Bl [feliel 4022 ik =S ey = el e =
Non-current liabilities ERBEER
Interest payables FEH] B
Lease liabilities HEaE
Promissory note AR ERE
Deferred tax liabilities R IBEEE
Total liabilities wam
Net liabilities BEFEE
Capital and reserves BAR KB
Share capital [N
Reserves e
Non-controlling interests JEEERE S
Total equity Mt

2023 2022
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Hat FET FET
24 6,777 -
25 2,907 1,221
27 40,429 -
29 2,283 1,081
52,396 3,202

640,349 508,789

(394,806) (385,308)

30 4,055 4,055

(400,332) (390,851)

(396,277) (386,796)

1,471 1,488

(394,806) (385,308)

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 November
2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan
=z8
Director

4

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Li Yong Sheng
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

= A 85 -k 4=4
FEEDEEER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIE_—ZFE - = =F=+—HIFFZ

Convertible

Share Share Capital  notes equity
capital premium* reserves* reserves*
THRRE

k& FiraE ABfE R
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Fin Firn Fn Fin

Foreign
currency Non
translation Other  Accumulated controlling Total
reserves* reserves* losses* Total interest equity
bt
BEEE Eftf EithlE @ HEkER )

HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn Fin T Fin Fin

(hote 30) (hote 31) (ot 31) (hote 26) (hote 31) (ote 31) (hote 31)
(H3t20) (H231) (Wiazs1) (Wa228) (H:231) (H231) (Wats1)

At 31 March 2021 RZE_-£=R=+-H 4,005 1,238,1% 2758 14400 (1,720) 1,214 (1,644,006) (345,104) 1911 (343,193
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - #,729) #1,729) (423 42,152)
Other comprehensive income for the year, — EREM2EHE MIRRE:

net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently ~ EETENHEERHEZER

to profit orloss:
Exchange differences on translating AEBNERZEREE

foreign operations - - - - 3 - - 3 - 37
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2EFREE - - - - ki - (#,729) 41,692 (429 (42,115)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

4,05 1,238,19% 2758 14,400 (1,683 41214 (1,685,735) (386,796) 1,488 (385,308)

Loss for the year EREB - - - - - - 9.440) 9,440) {1 (9.457)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, EREMZESE NHRE:

net of tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently ~ EETENABERHZEE

to prof orloss:
Exchange differences on translating REBNERZRRZE

foreign operations - - - = () = = ) = ()
Total comprehensive loss for he year FREEBRER 5 - - - ) - (9,440) 9481) (17) (9,498)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=£=B=+-H 4,085 1,238,19% 2,758 14,400 (1,724 41214 (1,695,175) (396,277) 1471 (394,806)

*

The aggregate amount of these balances of approximately
HK$400,332,000 in deficit (2022: approximately HK$390,851,000) was
included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

REIBZ=ZF=F=+—H ZZFLEHZEHY
ABEEA 23400,332,0008 77 (ZF - Z14F | 4
390,851,000;87T) B 5t A& & RIZE K2R A 75 16
1o

MEM Z i sE UL EAR G M B RE L —8 70 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax
Adjustment for:

Gain on modification of promissory note
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Net gains on disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Finance costs

Change in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Net loss on termination of lease
Interest income
Exchange gain, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for trade receivables, net

(Reversal of)/allowance for expected
credit losses recognised for other

receivables
and deposits, net

Allowance for expected credit losses
recognised for contract assets, net

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

Operating cash flows before

movements in working capital
Increase in trade and other receivables

Increase in contract assets

Increase in trade and other payables

Increase in contract liabilities

(Decrease)/increase in employee benefits

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Income tax refund/(paid)

Net cash generated from/(used in)

operating activities

Notes
K&t
RETHEEZIRENE
PRPTISHR AR IE
FHEL
AR ERETT W 8
MEBERZEITE
10
ERREEITE 10
HEME BEKR
B W mFEE 8
BB A 12
HiBBEmEANTE
ARZEREEZ
N EES)
HIFTHENEIEFE 8
F) B WA 7
bE UK w5 B8 8

B 5 B URIAHESE 2
TRHEEBEEE
FER 8
FLE A R IE Ko 2
B2 RANEEEE
(BE) o B8R

MEMNEERDZ
TR EREREE
R 8
Y B K
MIERIE 18

HEASLBAZ
SERS TS

85 R EMERHE
s

AW A AR

B 5 &R A
o

AHB FE
REER GHb) /00

RERT/ PR 23RE
BiREL (BN FrEiR

EEFFRS (FRA)
REFEE
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2023 2022
—E-= BT CHF
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET
(12,906) (42,059)
(6,722) =
7,353 10,767
3,564 545
(1,217) (453)
13,183 20,573

- (3,575)

237 -

(14) (82)

(2 )

83 707

(122) 53

308 149

- 1,517

3,745 (11,861)
(367) (56,310)
(16,727) (14,499)
8,766 55,722
23,562 2,615
(1,076) 1,952
17,903 (22,381)
3,077 (471)
20,980 (22,852)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mARERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Purchase of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Interest received

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

The accompany notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Notes
Hat
KETHEEZIRERE
HEME - BEKRKREZ
P38
EEYE- F%& S
HEHBERBRATE
ARZEREEZ
RS AR
BUH E

KREES FRA) /FiE
REBEHE

METHELEZRERE
EEHEARE

MEEESFTARE R
RERREEEY

1 Gri) 388
FNRERBFEFEY

) B

FRAERREFEY

FEM 2 X UL FER S

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
1,740 929
(6,589) (6,518)
- 8,375
14 82
(4,835) 2,868
(7,047) (4,279)
(7,047) (4,279)
9,098 (24,263)
42,560 66,743
(39) 80
51,619 42,560
SRRz —8B 5 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R MY 5

777 g |

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 15 March 2010 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are located at the offices of Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and Flat 314, 3/F., Fuk Shing Commercial
Building, 28 On Lok Mun Street, Fanling, New Territories
respectively. Its substantial shareholder is China Xinhua News
Network Co., Limited (“China Xinhua NNC”), a private limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong and wholly-owned by
PR EFEEREFREAE (“CNC China”) (a company
incorporated in the PRC), which owns 29.31% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

The Shares of the Company were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange on 30 August 2010.

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the provision of
civil engineering services for the public sector in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. FER:IEBMBHREED (IFHBH
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING RIREZER)) REEETA
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily 21 NEFEERNERZEBMBRS
effective for the current year ZANEET &

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountant (‘HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for their
annual reporting period commencing 1 April 2022 for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements:

REFEE AEEERERUTHE
BEsAg ((EEEMAE)) 1|
B LU 8 hl RS BE] BB Y
BHREENURRGEEMHBERE &
REAR_E-__FMWA—HEN
FERSH:

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual EAMBREEN  HESERZRER
HKFRS 3 Framework ERAGCHEN)
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment ERAGHENS16% YNE -BERRE—-(F
HKAS 16 — Proceeds before Intended CHEN RERZA 2T
Use B
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of ERGHENEITR BRMESH—
HKAS 37 Fulfiling a Contract CHEN ,\@ZEJZZIX
Amendments to Annual Improvements to ERNBRSED —\FEZEC
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020 (BETA) %Eﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂm
RELERZEEN
i
Amendments to Merger Accounting to Common B5t155155% HEEHEHN S
Accounting Control Combinations GHEN EE

Guideline 5

REFEERBEBUBREEIE
AT ENAEENRAFERESF
ZHBRARKER AZERE
MR RFAH I IMBEMERTE

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts’
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting

and HKFRS Practice Policies’
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangement®
and HKFRS 7

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)  Presentation of financial
statement — classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause’
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a
collective term that includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

ERAMIIEEBMBRSER (IEEHR
BWEER)) REETE @)

ERFEEKRERZHIEEMBRS
HAREIETE (&

RIZ_=ZF-—RB—HRZEBEMARBRZFE
HBE-

RREENEMNzBRABZFERBE
e

RIZ-_ME-RB-—HRZEBBAHBRZFE
HBE-

ESTRNEAMAENIIEBYHR
HEKREESTAR A B RRE LR
EMBRRLEEATE -

(a)

BHI=EHR

HREMBRRERBEEBUBRS
R (EHEBGEAE (EEF
sSHEIA® ) BMHBIFRE BRERES
MHREER - BBGER ((FE
BT REBRENGRE URES
ABEFRAFER R RAEET M
WERMES > WEERAARERER
ETZEABNRR IRASAEE
Bl ol IREMBRRBETH
MEXZFBERATGEME S £
HRA (TGEMLEMRA) REEBAF
IRPIFT R E 2 BRI EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Group
takes into account the characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirely, which
are described as follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e |evel 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in view of fact that:

e The Group has incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$9,457,000 during the year ended 31 March
2023 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
HK$370,510,000 and HK$394,806,000
respectively; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

e As at 31 March 2023, the Group had outstanding
convertible notes of principal amount of
HK$257,030,000 (the “Convertible Notes”) and
interests thereon of approximately HK$74,226,000
(the “Convertible Notes Interest”) in respect of
which the Group was in default in settlement;

e the Group owed the amount to a substantial
shareholder of HK$24,587,000 (the “On Demand
Debt”) as at 31 March 2023, which was repayable
on demand; and

e Asat 31 March 2023, the Group’s promissory notes
of principal amount of HK$40,429,000 and interest
thereon of approximately HK$6,777,000 which are
due for repayment in the next twelve months after
the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements (the “Promissory Notes”).

The conditions described above indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore,
the Group may be unable to realize its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The Group is actively exploring options to restructure the
capital and debts of the Group including but not limited to
the followings:

1. the Company has entered into conditional
agreement with Mr. Kan, a shareholder of the
Company, for the allotment and issuance of a total
of 1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share
subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription
share for a total consideration of approximately
HK$20,000,000;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. RAEBE 2

(c) HEBEKERE (Z

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

the Company has entered into a conditional
agreement with the holder of the Convertible Notes,
which is also a substantial shareholder of the
Company, for the amendments of certain terms of
the Convertible Notes in relation to, among others,
the amendment of interest rate from 3% to 0.8% per
annum and the extension of the maturity date of the
Convertible Notes to 9 December 2025;

the Company has entered into a conditional
agreement to issue new convertible notes in the
principal amount of approximately HK$64,128,000
to set off the Convertible Notes Interest;

the Company has entered into a conditional
agreement to issue new convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to set off part of
the outstanding balance of the On Demand Debt;

the Company is negotiating with its promissory
notes holder to extend the repayment dates of
principal and the interest amounts accrued on the
Promissory Notes; and

Mr. Kan has confirmed to provide financial support
to the Group in a reasonable manner under relevant
laws and regulatory requirements and also granted
a loan facility up to HK$60,000,000 to the Group to
maintain the going concern of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern basis (Continued)

In addition, the management of the Company is
endeavoring to improve the Group’s operating results and
cash flows through cost control measures and will focus

on the existing business of the Group.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare these consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis. The validity of the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements on
going concern basis depends on the successful eventual
outcome of the above-mentioned plans and measures,
which are inherently uncertain, including whether the
Group will be able to successfully negotiate and agree
with the holders of Convertible Notes and Promissory
Notes to amend, renew or extend the existing debts or
complete shares subscription to provide funds for the

Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the
consolidated financial statements, the above-mentioned
plans have been initially formulated but the eventual
outcome cannot be determined with reasonable certainty
and are still subject to multiple uncertainties. Accordingly,
the material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern remains
in existence as at the date of approval for issuance of
the consolidated financial statements. Should the Group
fail to achieve successful outcomes from the above-
mentioned plans and measures, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets to their net recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities that may
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 3. RAEBE 2

(d) Functional and presentation currency (d) MEEKREHRE

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand dollars (HK$'000) except otherwise
indicated.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Change in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

() REBRE (&

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Change in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs).The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a
joint venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(b)

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control
is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with other parties to the joint
operation, and gains and losses resulting from the sale or
contribution are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of other parties’
interests in the joint operation.

When a group entity transacts with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those asset to
a third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

(c) Property, plant and equipment (c) VE -BERRLE

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less
their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The
principal annual rates used for the current year are as

follows:

Site offices Over the respective project terms

Leasehold 30% or over the respective life of
improvements the leases, whichever is shorter

Machinery 20% - 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(c)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combination, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continued) (d) E @&

As a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar
characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and property that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continued) (d) E @&

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Refunadable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of
right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option

to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

4. BEREHEE @

(d) HE &

1ERBEAEA (#B)

HEER (&)

W HIRUATER  AEEEHTER
ERE (UHERMEREEEFLMN
FEREE) -

o HEHEHNBEERITHENMG

BB BEREMT LA HRE
EETREIR KB IREEIHE [N
AMERMEtE -

e HMENRATHZEZ®RIERH
mBEe ERINGEETE
MR g IR EE)  FEIL1S
nTEREEaREBERY
DRI KA EESTHE I
MmEHMTE-

FEERGEMBERRIRENEE
BE/EIEE-

hEFESRIERARAS 2022/2023 £ 191



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

(d) Leases (Continued) (d) HE &

As a lessee (Continued) EBAMAN (&

Lease modifications HEEET

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a HHBUTER ~NEBRFHEEE]

separate lease if: EA—BRIBEAR:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease o ZIBEFIEBIEMER B
by adding the right to use one or more underlying ZLIEHBEENENBEBAEE
assets; and #E; &

e the consideration for the leases increases by an o FIBHEENAE MIZMEEE
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price MEMERSEERAHENEILE
for the increase in scope and any appropriate o N ERBETEANERB
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the MEBIERETHNEMNEES
circumstances of the particular contract. HEE o

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as MAEABULBEARNBEES]

a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease me > AEBEREBERETEN

liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by HEFAY &R E 5T B IR R BRIR B 5T

discounting the revised lease payments using a revised ENRNKEBITEENHABERG
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. =EHEaG-

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease AEEREHEMTRAREEET

liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the HERE LB EaEETEMNT

relevant right-of-use asset. 2o
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which
is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful lives and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of the reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gain and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

()

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (‘FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

( EMIA&E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) ( =MIR #E
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE (B)
Classification and measurement of financial assets at R LR DR ETHEE (B)

amortised cost (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: @8 TH1ER AEmMBEEDDER
FIFEE !

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of s BMARERMEEZIEBHNS
selling in the near term; or RAARRBE ; 5

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of s RUITEIANZEMBEESRS
identified financial instruments that the Group EEHAFERZEHREHT
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of BHe2®n BFHABRERS
short-term profit-taking; or R 5 3

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective s ZEMEBEERUIFEERENR
as a hedging instrument. EREAIRZITET R

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a HESN > A< £ [ B] 1R W A Bl RIS 7E

financial asset that are required to be measured at the REERBHNANEBEMEE

amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing Km A FEARSENEMEE

so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting BEREBRAZAFEAKE

mismatch. B AN Lt PIE BRel BRE R & 5TERAC ©
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest incorme

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is presented as
a separate line item.
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iR M B R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H ERMIA B
Financial assets (Continued) ETHEE (B)
Impairment of financial assets THEERE
The Group perform impairment assessment under AEBREBEEREERHE ((FRIGEE
expected credit losses (‘ECL”) model on financial assets E518)) BB IRE B B RS2
which are subject to impairment assessment under FOSRAERET MM EmMEE (B1F
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, contract B REMEBWRIE - GHNEENRR
assets and cash and cash equivalents). The amount ERIBEEEY) ETTREN G T8
of ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect FEEBEENSENSREHEN
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. MERMBYGEDREEERRNE

Eo

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from SHEAEERBIENRERIA
all possible default events over the expected life of st FHRNMBNEZREZENS
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL U EE 2 BIAEERE - k2
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL 128 B FEHEERE (T12@ B T 1
that is expected to result from default events that are EBEHE)) 5N RS ER12ER
possible within 12 months after the reporting period. NAEEEZBOEGBEEZ
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical O HEHREEBE FIEEK
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are EEBFEEHEBRKRET LRt A
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions BN BERKHBRIURENRE
and an assessment of both the current conditions at HzERIBRERBRAZRKRIELN
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future EMMEzTHBERZEERRED
conditions. FHE o
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade AEEF B EE RS AN
receivables without significant financial component. The PHNESZEWRIERD 2 ATERE
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors EEBE-MABEAREHFNEB AR
with significant balances and collectively using a provision AR ERBEEARNNEEEEER
matrix with appropriate groupings. THhZEEENTRIAEERE
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

( EMIA&E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credt risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting period with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
() Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H EMIAE @

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credlit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

() Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following

events:

@

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

() Financial instruments (Continued) H EMIAE @

Financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
() Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:
e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables,
other receivables and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

(H EMIA#E

(f) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade payables and other
payables, interest payable, convertible notes, promissory
note, lease liabilities and employee benefits) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes contain equity component

The component parts of the convertible loan notes
are classified separately as financial liability and equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Convertible loan notes contain equity component
(Continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component (including any embedded non-equity
derivatives features) is estimated by measuring the fair
value of similar liability that does not have an associated
equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition,
the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which
case, the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to share premium. Where the conversion option remains
unexercised at the maturity date of the convertible note,
the balance recognised in equity will be transferred
to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration of the
conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible loan notes are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of the
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the period of the convertible loan notes using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

()

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the
present value of the modified contractual cash flows
discounted at the financial liabilities” original effective
interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are
adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified financial
liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability
is recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.

When the contractual terms of a convertible notes
are modified, such as extending the tenure, change
in exercise price of the underlying options, the revised
terms would result in a substantial modification from
the original terms, after taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors,
such maodification is accounted for as derecognition of
the original financial liability and the recognition of new
financial liability. The difference between the carrying
amount of financial liability derecognised and the
fair value of consideration paid or payable, including
any liabilities assumed and derivative components
recognised, is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(9)

(h)

Construction contracts

The Group completes satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligations over time and the revenue is
recognised during the contract period based on the
performance progress, which is determined by input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services. When the Group is not
able to reasonably measure its performance progress,
the Group recognises revenue only to the extent of the
recoverable amount of costs incurred until such time that
it can reasonably measure the performance progress.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

(h) WzEFESD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

e the Group’s performance does not create and
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHEBUEE (&

(h) WEFERD (8)

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. BEAREHBUEE (&

(h) WD ()

(h) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract cost
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a
customer that it would not have incurred if the contract
had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs as an asset if it expects
to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic
basis that is consistent with the transfer to the customer
of the goods or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing
all incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs
would otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or
loss within one year.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms
of other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the
Group that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and

(c) the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with
the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The asset is subject to
impairment review.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(i)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before income tax’
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwiill.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attribute to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over
the lease terms due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
(i) Employee benefits
1. Retirement benefit costs
Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees

have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Employee benefits (Continued)

2. Short term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for the related service.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments payable on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to its present value and
reduced by entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plans that are attributable to contributions
made by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(k)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

U]

(m)

(n)

Provisions (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

(o)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(o)

(p)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect
of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Related party

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
entity that is preparing the financial statements:

(1) A person or a close member of that person’s family

is related to the Group if that person:

()  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiy is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(2) Anentity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
others).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p) Related party (Continued)

@

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
condition applies: (Continued)

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third party.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsorship employers
are also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (1).

(vii) A person identified in (1)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group’s or the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

(P)

(a)

Related party (Continued)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,
services or obligations between a reporting entity and a
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(iy dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

Separate financial statement

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group which
qualifies as business combination, except for those
acquisitions which qualify as a common control
combination and are therefore accounted for using the
merger accounting.

Under the purchase method of accounting, subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange and, all acquisition-related
costs are expensed. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

4, EXT

r)

stEUR (4

MEBAR

WEBARIESERAEEGEYH
REBEBR B—MREFHBFHK
REZEREZFMEER (BESK
BMER) -NiThrEEESIER
S—BER EEZERAFENEH
THENEREBEEREERAZE-

AEBRERBATR  IFSHFE

EE -HNEXRABESHREZEA
iR RPN S HEER S HR
A iSRS HEEEANK.

BEBEEHE WBATEERE
BREAEEZHEZEGAG AR
MEBASEERKILEZ BEFLELE
BN W AREI 35 B PR
MTEE -FIETHREATIAKFE
EHAENEBENAFESE MK
FEAERE < AT LA - FE R R & B
o Py Y B BT 38 B! B B DU PR B Y
BERIAER BERURERRE
HHNATEFE-mE—FWE
AEE T RIFERE D BRI
HEEFENLLY  EBREES B
IR o

hEFESRIERARAS 2022/2023 £ 225



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f= A
777 g |

R 75 ¥R 2R B 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continueq)

r)

(s)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that management has made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(i)

Construction contract revenue recognition

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract
claims prepared for each construction contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted
amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Such significant
estimate may have impact on the profit recognised in
each period.

The Group recognises its contract revenue based on the
satisfaction of the performance obligation either input
method or output method, by reference to the contract
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract or
according to the percentage of work performed to date of
individual contract of construction works as a percentage
of total contract value. Because of the nature of the
activity undertaken in construction contracts, the date at
which the contract activity is entered into and the date
when the activity is completed usually fall into different
accounting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continueq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use
of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-
of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash generating unit to which the assets
belongs, including allocation of corporate assets when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined
at the smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
subject to impairment assessment were approximately
HK$11,465,000 and HK$16,635,000 (2022:
approximately HK$3,975,000 and HK$17,922,000)
respectively, after taking into account of the impairment
losses of approximately HK$Nil and HK$Nil (2022:
HK$Nil and HK$1,517,000) in respect of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment that have
been recognised respectively. Details of the impairment
of right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment

are disclosed in Notes 19 and 18 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

6. REVENUE 6. U
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with () BERFEAWESIF
customers
2023 2022
—E=H S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Construction works BETRE 496,457 408,175
Revenue recognised over time  B& R RS R 5B U &% 496,457 408,175
(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) PEEZFASNHRTENTEENR
performance obligation for contracts with %18
customers
The aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated RIEBEAEBRBEGNPEEFRTE
to the remaining performance obligation under the HNEENRRZBARBUWT -
Group’s existing contracts is as follow:
2023 2022
=F== 5=
HK$’000 HK$°000
FAET FAET
Within one year — &R 398,248 265,950
More than one year HBiE— 628,637 695,840
1,026,885 961,790
This amount represents revenue expected to ZEMEARRUER REEEG]
be recognised in the future from pre-completion B TRIZRE G K TR RS UK

P2

/|

o

construction contracts entered into by the customers
with the Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMWA

2023 2022

—ET-= .
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Interest income FBWA 14 82
Government subsidies (Note) KT BN (At 2,561 -
Sundry income IR 2,028 4,405
4,603 4,487
Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised e RBEE_ZT=F=-B=+—B1Lt#F

government grant of approximately HK$2,442,000 (2022:
HKS$nil)in respect of COVID-19 related subsidies which is related
to Employment Support Scheme provided by Hong Kong
Government and subsidy from Construction Industry Council of
approximately HK$119,000 (2022: HK$nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8. Hfthlz ~ (B518) » B8
2023 2022
== B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Exchange gain, net bE U 0 R ER 2 3
Net gain on disposal of property, HEYME - BEASREZ
plant and equipment W o F 2B 1,217 453
Net loss on termination of lease KIFFEEMNEEFEE (237) =
Allowance for ECL recognised B 5 WG IEHE Y 2 TE R
for trade receivables, net EEFEEE T (83) (r07)
Reversal of/(allowance for) ECL MEMEBWHRIERIZEEEZ
recognised for other receivables RS B 51 #E] (BE) »
and deposits, net HEAE 122 (53)
Allowance for ECL recognised MENEERR2BHEE
for contract assets, net i8S B8 (308) (149)
Gain on modification of promissory AR ZEBEFTINE
note 6,722 -
7,435 (453)
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION 9. oHER
The Group’s segment information is presented on the basis REBZHIERDIBIBERATNTE
on internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the executive EREEEERRE ((EEEERE
directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision E)) APEERES DB RFHEZDE
maker (‘CODM”), in order to allocate resources to the RIFMERE 2 AR EFUZE R -

segments and assess their performance.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 BERMsS  ~2EBRBES BV RS ZER

are as follows: FBEILAI 2RO BUT -

() Provision of civil engineering services — provision of () REIAIERRB-—2EBLZE
waterworks engineering services, road works and REABIERE BERIERER
drainage services and site formation works for public RT > TIEEMBFETRE ; &

sector in Hong Kong; and
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

(i) Media and advertising business — (a) the business
of broadcasting television programmes on television
channels operated by television broadcasting companies
in the Asia-Pacific region (excluding the PRC) and (b)
business of promoting digital marketing activities on
overseas video platform in return for advertising and
related revenue.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately
as each of the product and service lines requires different
resources as well as marketing approaches.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Revenue from external customers REIIMNIE P 2 W5
Reportable segment results AIE2RNMBEE
Unallocated corporate income KB EERA
Unallocated corporate expenses KB ERET
Finance costs RE A

Loss before income tax BRAERAIESE
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9.

DEER &

(i) HEEAESEF-()EUNREXE
(FEERE) 2 BEERABFTE
EZBRABEETBRONBE BRI
EHROPBIMIAT aEERISE
HRERIESS LIS ES KA
mZ R

BN EESAREENRERRNE
BURSRAANEHT® - R &S
BEBABWOBEER

S ERU R B A

FEERDERREE D ME DB W
FEBEDHTUT

BE_ZE_=-F-A=1+—HLFE

Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
R ATR
R%E EERESES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
496,457 - 496,457
(2,474) (402) (2,876)
6,770
(3,617)
(13,183)
(12,906)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Revenue from external customers RENMNBE P 2 W@
Reportable segment results ERNBEE
Unallocated corporate income RNEEERA
Unallocated corporate expenses R EREY
Finance costs MEMK

Loss before income tax BREERAEISE

There were no inter-segment sales for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment profit/loss represents the profit earned/loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of central administration
costs, interest income, finance costs, change in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL, gains on maodification of promissory
note and income tax expense. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

9.

DEER (7

DEBM R AR (E

BHE_BE__#=H=+t—HLHFE

Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
RMIATHE
R EERESER st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
408,175 - 408,175
(18,122) (2,965) (21,087)
3,622
(4,021)
(20,573)
(42,059

BE_T_="FR-ZB”__FZ=AH
=+—BLEFEMEDIEHEE -

EE BRI S 5T BUR R SEAPR A B A &
Eg St BRER DG, EHEER D
BAERDE R RITEAE S FE WA Bl
Bt ZREaEAFEARZERE

SR ATFTBR R ER S EENEE -

EhREEEERREERAUAMEE DK
BRkHERTFEZFE I -
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segments:

At 31 March 2023

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated ROEC
Consolidated assets EEEE
Segment liabilities NEER
Unallocated ROEC
Consolidated liabilities RegaR
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9. oHEN =

PHEERERE
KREFBRZROEHRREBDHBE D 2EE
RBESWT
RZZEZ=%#=H=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering  and advertising
services business Total
RHIATR
% ERRESER Bt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
193,741 41 193,782
51,761
245,543
220,320 34,447 254,767
385,582
640,349
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2022

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated RO
Consolidated assets REEE
Segment liabilities ak: =K
Unallocated RO
Consolidated liabilities zeai

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
cash and cash equivalents and corporate assets; and

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than convertible notes, tax payable, deferred tax
liabilities, promissory note and corporate liabilities.

9. NEEHR @

FEHEEREE (B
RWZEZZ_F=A=+—H
Provision of Media
civil engineering and advertising
services business Total
RIETAIR
k% EERESEER st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Fiér Fir Fir
170,104 46 170,150
43,331
213,481
182,623 34,345 216,968
381,821
598,789
BERDBRFERDEDIHER :

s KBREEkEE

FIEEEHDEES

géf‘f% REEEEN

Bo®, &

o RAMRER BARE ELERE
ﬁ(ﬁ%%ﬁ&i%%fﬁ%’ﬁﬁﬁ

ISRER
BEHDEE

BHER o
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. NEEH &
Other segment information HithoEER
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_T_=F=H=+—HLFE
Provision of Media
civil and
engineering  advertising
services business  Unallocated Total
RHEATRE HEERK
R BEER b v Wt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 18,965 - - 18,965
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERRENE
equipment 7,353 - - 7,353
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 3,564 - - 3,564
Allowance for ECL on contract assets, &N EERBEERE
net R 308 - - 308
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables, B 7 EWFIETREEHE
net B PR 83 - - 83
Reversal of ECL on other receivables H At W IE Ko ¥ TR A
and deposits, net EEHEED F5E (88) - (34) (122)
Net gain on disposal of property, HENE BERREZ
plant and equipment WE R (1,217) — ~ (1,217)
Net loss on termination of lease RIFTHENBIERER 237 - - 237
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. SEER &
Other segment information (Continued) Hith 3 EEE (&
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE_E__FZHR=-+—HLEE
Provision of Media
civil and

engineering advertising

services business Unallocated Total
‘M ATE e Y
BR% BEER *nk st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 10,998 - - 10,998
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERREBINE
equipment 10,679 42 46 10,767
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE 545 = = 545
Allowance of ECL on contract assets, ~ &NEERBEERBEEE
net P 149 = = 149
Allowance of ECL on trade receivables, B ZEWFIETEIEEEHE
net B 38 707 - - 707
Allowance of ECL on other receivables  EftifEWEIE R % & T8
and deposits, net EEBREE 8 19 = 34 53
Net gain on disposal of property, HENE BERREZ
plant and equipment Wan B 28 (453) = = (453)
Impairment loss on property, ME- - BERREREEE
plant and equipment 476 1,041 = 1,517
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. REEE @
Geographical information & &k
Revenue from external customers of the Group was all derived BHE_ZE_-"FK_ZE-__F=A

Hong Kong for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. =t+—HEFE xEERBINBRFZ

W EE B EH-

FREIERESEELMUNER

All non-current assets are located in Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

EREEERZEHN

REMEEFEEGAERBWDBB10%Z

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as BERZIRENT
follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Customer A (Note (j)) ERE W) 75,274 51,661
Customer B (Notes (i) and (i) BB Z Wa0)k(0)) - 81,137
Customer C (Notes (i) and (i) BEXR Ba00) - 42,185
Customer D (Notes (i) and (i) BRT (Wa0)k(0)) 92,791 =
Customer E (Notes (j) BEIX Ha0)) 135,470 87,858
Customer F (Notes (j)) BB 2 WaE)) 99,928 79,236
Notes: Biat -

(i) Revenue from provision of civil engineering service.

(i)  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the
Group’s revenue for the respective year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

10. PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS

Profit/(loss) from operations has been
arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Contract costs recognised
as expenses”

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment™*

SRR (518 TSR
BtA) UTFEERHES
RBELZEHRE

1Z 8 B B
BB KR T E

10. EEEF (518)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets™* {EFEEEITE"

Staff costs (note 11)*** BITRA (Wat11)

Change in fair value of ERBmRAFTEARZ
financial assets at fair value TRMEBEEZAFE
through profit or loss***** il 7]

Expenses relating to BRARIAEEZ RS

short-term leases

ok

Hokkk

Hkkkk

Contract costs recognised as expenses mainly include
subcontracting fee of approximately HK$254,792,000
(2022: HK$192,197,000) and raw materials of approximately
HK$62,459,000 (2022: HK$34,696,000).

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$6,505,000 (2022: HK$$9,867,000) and HK$848,000 (2022:
HK$900,000) have been separately expensed in cost of services
and administrative and operating expenses respectively.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately HK$2,911,000
(2022: HK$545,000) and HK$653,000 (2022: HK$ nil) have been
separately expensed in cost of services and administrative and
operating expenses respectively.

Included in the staff costs, approximately HK$95,684,000 (2022:
HK$91,668,000) was charged in cost of services.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the amount represented the
realised gain from the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss.

ok

Fkkk

Hokkkk

2023 2022
= ==

HK$’000 HK$'000
F2ET FET
493,037 417,531
650 650
7,353 10,767
3,564 545
99,878 99,608
- (3,575)

439 220

BRARNZIZENRNEAETEGRES S
B H#254,792,0008 5 (B - 4 :
192,197,000/ 75) K R 114962,459,0007%8
7T (T 4 © 34,696,000 7T) ©

YD E -~ BB e 5% 5 3T 85 496,505,000 7T (=
T — £ : #99,867,0007 70) K2848,00075 7T

T =T T £ 1 #9900,00078 70) B2 B BR
B AR R A T U A B ST 2 8 o

fEAEEEITEL2,911,00087T (ZE -
£ 1 545,000775) 5653,0008 7T (ZE ==
£ BB BRI IRTS A R AT BUR AS
SRS o

B8 T4 61154995,684,0008 7T (Z B = —
£F : 91,668,000 7T) 5t ABRFS A4S ©

HE-T-_E-A-t+ HLEE %
BIEFBARRATEARZ SHEEY
BRI
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

11. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs (including directors’
remuneration) comprise:
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Contribution to defined contribution
retirement plan

12. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Lease liabilities
Promissory note (Note 27)
Default interest of convertible notes
Convertible notes (Note 28)

11. BT %
2023 2022
—=E-= BT

HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET

BT (BFEEEE)

BIE

IE #eMEMEF 97,722 97,046

TERER TR IRET BIMHRR
2,156 2,562
99,878 99,608

12. BB
2023 2022
—EC=F =2
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
UTFEEZFE

HEaR 377 108
AR ER (Wato7) 2,708 1,716
MR EREST B 10,098 -
A ERE (WaE28) - 18,749
13,183 20,573
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR 13. EEMEREAREEREME
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(i) Directors’ remuneration (i) EFM=
The aggregate amounts of the remuneration paid and MBE_ZE_=—FRIZTEIF=
payable to the directors by the Group for the years ended B=1t—HLEFEEBUKREMNAKE
31 March 2023 and 2022 were as follows: BEFMESARBENT ¢
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek BRER
e Hiti&7 TE4 HE[RE izt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 HEZZC-Z=H
ZA=t—HILEE
Executive director and chief HITEERITHAER
executive officer:
Dr. Lii Yong Sheng (note (i) FRFHEL (W) - - - = =
Executive Directors: HiTEE!
Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i) EEET (W) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i) BRBRE (WzH) - - - = =
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung eI L L - 12,412 - 18 12,430
Non-executive Directors: FRITEE .
Ms. Tang Li (note (i) BRLL (W) - - - = =
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BlglgRE 12 1,280 - - 1,292
Indiependent Non-executive Directors: 1817 FE#1TEE
Mr. Wu Guo Ming REEESE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron FEREE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TRERE (Wiz)
(note (i) 77 - - - 77
317 13,692 - 18 14,087
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13. EENERESREEREMNE @

() Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (i) EZEME @
Contributions
to retirement
Salaries and benefit
Fees  other benefits Bonus schemes Total
ek BIKER
ik Hitnig#! il BEEEN st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FET FHT FHET FET
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE-_Z_—fF
=A=+—HILFE
Executive director and chief HITEERITEAS .
executive officer:
Dr. Li Yong Sheng (note (i) FRFEL W) - - - - -
Executive Directors: HITEE
Dr. Jiang Yan (note (i) EEELT (W) - - - - -
Mr. Liu Da Yong (note (i) BRBEE (W) = = - - -
Mr. Kan Kwok Cheung eI LE - 12,012 - 18 12,030
Non-executive Directors: HHTEE
Ms. Tang Li fnote (ij) BELT (W) - - - - -
Mr. Law Cheuk Hung BISELE 12 1,200 - 18 1,230
Independent Non-executive Directors: B 17 FEHITEE
Mr. Wu Guo Ming SE#LE 144 - = = 144
Mr. Wan Chi Keung, Aaron FEREE 144 - - - 144
Mr. Wong Chung Yip, Kenneth TERELE (Wi2))
note (j) 144 - - - 144
444 13,212 - 36 13,692
Note: Myt .
()  Resigned on 14 October 2022. () MIZEIZFE+HB+IEEE T
(i)  The directors’ emoluments were waived for the years ended i) ZFEERBE_ZT-"FK-F

=R =t+—HILEFEBREH
%o

31 March 2023 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(i) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023, directors’
emoluments amounted to approximately HK$48,000
(2022: approximately HK$48,000) were waived. Waived
contributions cannot be used to reduce ongoing
contributions. There were no emoluments paid by the
Group to any directors or chief executive officer as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees the Group during the
year included two (2022: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the
remaining three (2022: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as
follows:

Basic salaries, bonuses and HA#H< TEAI R Eh2EE
other allowances
Contributions to retirement BIAEF) B

benefit schemes

13. EEMERSREEENE @

() EFME @

HE_E-_="HF=A=1+—HIt=FE
B> BEREZEEME47%48,0008
7T (T~ 4 © £948,000587T) ° B2
WEZMERT BB FERR
ANEB W EEEMESHITEAER
TNEAMEMESBFREMA
REBHNIMARZREIHEABRE
BiEE

14. EEME

rEBRAFEZLIRRESHEETE
Ema (CE2F W) 5 FHE
EMNE 2 FBEN EXMHE13 HER =%
(CETF =) ko HES WA
ABEFHETETHAS) ZFBUOT

2023 2022
—E=HF B2

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

4,039 3,694

54 54

4,093 3,748
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

14. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

14. EEME @)

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the BEEFHEES MIERARBES) 2MENTF

directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the THHEWABUMT :
following bands is as follows:

2023 2022

Number of Number of

employees employees

ESAZ ES AN

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000 7T 3 !

3 6!

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, none
of five highest paid individuals waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration and there were no emoluments paid
by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.
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15. INCOME TAX

The amount of income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

ERRE-FANER
—FRIRIA
—BEFEBEEE

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
— tax for the year
— over-provision in respect of

prior years
Deferred tax (Note 29) IRIEIRIE (f2#29)
— provision for the year —FREE
Income tax (credit)/expenses Fri8ie (%) X

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI respectively.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

15. FRiG#
RoEEkEMEERERZAERE
LIS

2023 2022

—EC=F =B

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT
260 218
(4,011) =
(8,751) 218

302 (125)
(3,449) 93

REESBHEROAESHRMARS > SERK
& EE 2,000,000 705 A #28.25%
075 » 2,000,00078 7T LA _E & A 1#216.5%
MR -FBRAMAFN T AEERERE
B0 E ) A M B H B — TR E16.5% R o
At s EREBESBNEBANERNE
2,000,00078 7T By 51 FE SR 17 12 1/ $%28.25%
##7 » 2,000,00078 7T LA _E Y 51 FEER R &
FBI3%16.5% = o

RERSEERRBELES (RBER
BE)) RAER R ABRHENREBER
EEEMRIIZHIB AT BRBMNHA
ERENERBREYBESBZEMAME
o
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE.

15.

16.

R 75 ¥R 2R B 5E

—EC=F-A=f—HIEFE

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Enterprise Income
Tax rate of the subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the
PRC is 25% (2022: 25%).

The tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

PRPF1SINATES1R

Loss before income tax

&mﬁ%laﬁﬁi/ﬂ
BRHZREABE RIS

Tax calculated at the rates,
applicable to profits in the
countries concerned

Tax effect of expenses not deductible R H1RIRIBERIBESZ >~

for tax purpose MBE
Tax effect of income not taxable for ~ HERMNIRA ZIRFE 2

tax purpose

Over-provision in respect of prior years 181+ £ B RE 15 #5

Tax effect of temporary difference not KRB R =R MK
recognised

RSN E M IR R

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses

not recognised B E
Tax effect of tax losses znot TR 2 IR
recognised B E
Income tax (credit)/expenses Frigis (%) Hx
DIVIDENDS 16.

The board of directors does not recommend the payments
of any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023
(2022: nil).

248 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

15. RIS (&

BETEIRTRE KRR PEEM
B2 B AR 2 (B EERNEA25%
(CTEBEZZF:125%)°

FRMEMZ (%) &

ARG iBm A H At

EHEW@mERFIZFRABRABEZY

BRUF
2023 2022
g = =S
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
(12,906) (42,059)
(2,161) (7,296)
3,264 5,187
(2,194) (589)
(1,075) -
118 (1,156)
(2,936) -
1,535 3,947
(3,449) 93
e
EECIMEEMNEBE_ESE _=F£=8

= +t—HEFERIEARE (C2EZZ

FrE)o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BIRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ
17. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss ]

Loss for the year attributable to the AU GtESRER L E#EEERN
owners of the company for the KAB)HEE NELFEREIER

purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share

Weighted average number of ordinary Bt B SR E A LE#EEIEN

shares for the purpose of basic RS INRE T 5 &
and diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2023
and 2022 are the same as the basic loss per share. The
computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 does not assume the Company’s
outstanding convertible notes since the assumed conversion
of convertible notes would result in a decrease in loss per
share.

17. EREE

ERBEEANEBEERELARBEERR
THRBUTBURETE ¢

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(9,440) (41,729)

Number of shares

RIABE
‘000 ‘000
Fie A8
4,055,350 4,055,350

BHE_Z-_-_"FRZEZ"_F=H
“t+—HLEFE SREBEHEEESRKRE
AEEEE -BHRBR TR BRRIEER
BYNEREBRL HEHEEEZS =
eI esl s = Sl = e (B e A o
SERBEHEBUESIREI AT HEAR KR
2R R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. ME -BMERRE

Leasehold Furnitures Office Motor
Improvements  Machineries  and fixtures equipment vehicles  Site offices Total
HEMEKE ®E  HARKE MARE BE  HBHBAZR a3
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FAET FAET FET FET FET
Cost 7%
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FEMA—H 2,124 77,156 3,186 10,810 51,071 15,225 160,172
Additions RE = 3,378 262 436 2,447 - 6,518
Disposals HE (2,622) - (107) (782) (2,086) - (5,597)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets BRI BEREEE - - - - 1,600 - 1,600
Exchange differences EREE @2 - - 13 - - 9
At31March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H
RZE-__FNE—AH 80 80,529 3,341 10,477 53,032 15,225 162,684
Additions RE - 3,984 50 14 2,541 - 6,589
Disposals HeE = (6,650) = (45) (2,605) S (9,300)
Exchange differences ERE® - = = (26) - - (26)
At 31 March 2023 RZB_=fF=A=+-H 80 77,863 3,391 10,420 52,968 15,205 159,947
Accumulated depreciationand Rt ERA(E
impairment
At 1 April 2021 RZZ2-_—FNBE—H 2,084 69,747 3,058 10,622 35,698 15,225 137,034
Depreciation charge for the year ~ ERFTERES - 5,97 87 203 5,180 = 10,767
Eliminated on disposals HERTE (2,622) - (107) (780) (1,612) - (5,121)
Transfer fom right-of-use assets ~~ ERBEREEE - - - - 534 - 534
Impairment loss for the year FRRESSE - 1,429 = 47 4 = 1517
Exchange differences ERESH 18 - - 13 - = 31
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE-"&H=F=+—H
&_7::¢IEH = 80 76,473 3,038 10,106 39,841 15,225 144,762
Depreciation charge for the year ~ ERITERY - 2,371 80 % 4,808 = 7,353
Eliminated on disposals SR - (6,650) - (45) (2,082) - 8777)
Exchange differences EREHE - 5 S (26) S o (26)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=f=B=1+—H 80 72,194 3,118 10,128 42,567 15,225 143,312
Carrying amount IRmEfE
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=#=A=+-H - 5,669 273 292 10,401 - 16,635
At 31 March 2022 RIBZZF=R=1+—H S 4,056 303 312 13,191 - 17,922

During the year, the Group carried out a review of the
recoverable amount of those property, plant and equipment.
These assets are used in the Group’s performance of provision
of civil engineering services reportable segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 18. ME -BERRE &

Impairment assessment

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment
and right of use assets based on higher of fair values less
costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of the
relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount and
no impairment has been recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and right of
use assets have been determined based on their fair value
less costs of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison
to estimate the fair value less costs of disposal of the assets
which is based on the recent transaction prices for the
assets adjusted for nature and conditions. The fair value
measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy.
Certain assets were impaired to their recoverable amount and
the impairment of HK$1,517,000 has been recongised in profit
or loss within the relevant functions to which these assets
relate during the year.

AR

BE_ZE_-"F-HA=-+—HILFE &
EERBEATFERHER AL EREE
MEFPNRSE[YEBEREZHEU
RfERAEEENTIIRCIEEE - HEEEN
RETHEABATINEEEE BARESR
o

BHE_Z__H#=-HB=+—RHILEEFE>
ME- -BERZEREREEETIWEE
BIORBEAFTERHERNAET K&
ESXAERLLBEHEEEAFER T
EmA ZHEUBERERZBRAR
o WM E IR ETRE AT E
SAERBEAFR AR FEERR - ETEE
BREEHEIEIEEE ) REER1,517,000
BT BERAFE IR Z3E & & 8B SE
RiBm P rEsS -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost:

At 1 April 2021

Additions (note (i)

Transfer to property, plant and
Equipment

Disposal

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Additions (note (i)
Termination
Disposal

At 31 March 2023

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

At 1 April 2021

Charge for the year

Transfer to property, plant and
Equipment

Disposal

At 31 March 2022 and
1 April 2022

Charge for the year

Termination

Disposal

At 31 March 2023

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2023

At 31 March 2022

D%
RZZE_—FNF—H
/J\E (/f/fﬁ(/))
EREYE BERRE
HE
KRB _F#=R=1+—HEk
“Z_"HNA—H
RE (W)
#1E
HE
RZE_=F=A=+—H
REHFERRE
RZZE-_—FM5—H
FREX
EREE -BERHRE
HE
RZZEZZF=F=1+—Hk
“Z"HMA—H
FREX
BiE
HE

RZBZ=#=RA=+-H

IREE
RZBEZ=f=BA=+—H

R_E__#=A=+—H
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19. EREEE

Assets related

to television

Leased Motor broadcasting
properties vehicles  Machineries business Total

HERER

£BEMZ
HEME ER He BE Bt
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
9,956 1,600 - 4,809 16,365
- - 4,480 - 4,480
- (1,600) - - (1,600)
(9,060) - - (4,809 (13,869)
896 - 4,480 - 5,376
2,760 - 9,616 - 12,376
- - (2,300) - (2,300)
(896) - - - (896)
2,760 - 11,796 - 14,556
9,956 494 - 4,809 15,259
- 40 505 - 545
- (534) - - (534)
(9,060) - - (4,809 (13,869)
896 - 505 - 1,401
653 - 2,911 - 3,564
- - (978) - 978
(896) - - - (896)
653 - 2,438 - 3,091
2,107 - 9,358 - 11,465
- - 3,975 - 3,975




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 19. FRAEEE &

2023 2022

=EIE S S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Expenses relating to short-term leases A RAFRHITE S 2l 439 220
Total cash outflow for leases (note (i)  FAEIRE R HAREE (B5#0)) 7,486 4,499
Addition to right-of-use assets (note (i) FREEREEE (#1:£(i)) 12,376 4,480

Note (): Amount includes payments of principal of HK$6,670,000

(2022: HK$4,171,000) and interest portion of HK$377,000
(2022: HK$108,000) of lease liabilities and short-term lease of
HK$439,000 (2022: HK$220,000).

Note (i):  Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from hire
purchase of machinery and renewal of lease.

During the current year, the Group leases certain office
premises and machinery with lease term of between 21
months to 30 months (2022: 21 months to 2 years). Leases
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as securities for
borrowing purpose.

The impairment assessment are disclosed in Note 18.

Wap:, HEcsREeEHEaGErE N
6,670,000 5w (-
4,171,000 75) RF B & 95T
377,000 7T (ZEZ 4 : 108,000
7o) UK B HATE E439,00058 7T (Z &
— T4 220,00057T) °

et AR EOERSEARREEIES

ERERAREE-

REE FEBEEETHAENDERK
2 A H21ER =30EA (TTE ==
F 2R E25) - HEMKRRHRERE
EhEE QRSB IEERRIG S - RNE
ARG BERENRER &
EEERAGHNNERILEE G4 R R
HMATHIHAR -

BREBAARAENEEEERNIRREDRIN
MEBZL ERNERNEMEZE - HESE
ETA LG RIFTR

B RS S FY EE 1895 BR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

20. JOINT OPERATIONS 20. §ELE
Details of investment in joint operations as at 31 March 2023 RIEZ=FR_BE--_F=RB=+—
and 2022 were as follows: HREELEZREFBUT !

Attributable interest

Name Place of operation to the Group Principal activity
%8 SE R FEEEGED TEEHR
2023 2022
—EZ= =S
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 43% 43% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2015/03) operating in Hong Kong
MEBEERECV/2015/03) NEBREEZEBEZEaEhE TARIR
Hsin Chong Tsun Yip Joint Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49% Civil engineering
Venture (CV/2016/10) operating in Hong Kong
MEEERECV/2016/10) REBSEZEBLIBEGERE TARITR
Harvest-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 49% 49%  Civil engineering
(ND/2018/02) operating in Hong Kong
Ha—EEHE REREEZIFBEZEE X TATE
(ND/2018/02)
Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture  Unincorporated joint operation 95% 95%  Civil engineering
(4/WSD/19) operating in Hong Kong
RE—EEHE REBEEZFBIEAE X TARTHRE
(4/WSD/19)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

20. JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued)

Name

B8

Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(CV/2019/04)

RE—EXHE
(CVv/2019/04)

Paul Y-Tsun Yip Joint Venture
(CVv/2022/08)

RE—EEHRE
(CVv/2022/08)

Note:

Pursuant to the terms of the joint agreements, the profit sharing for each
year of all joint operations listed herein above shall be distributed to the

Place of operation
EiE R

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZFBEECELE

Unincorporated joint operation
operating in Hong Kong
REBEEZ BB EhE

joint operators in proportion to their respective interests.

BELRE @

Attributable interest

to the Group Principal activity
FEEEGED TEXEH
2023 2022
—EZ= s "F
20% 20%  Civil engineering
TARIRE
30% - Civil engineering
TARIRE
et -
LB ELE¥ETF

RS E R IR
wEH D ERIKIRE S
BERaERS-

=Wl iR g nl i
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21. BB RHEMEWRIE

2023 2022
—EC=F - S—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Trade receivables (Note (i) B S EWTRIE (BYa23) 74,051 82,645
Allowance for ECL FEHAE ERIBEE (3,431) (3,348
70,620 79,297

Other receivables (Notes (iv)) HAEURIE (H5E(0v)) 814 698
Deposits b 3,643 6,759
Allowance for ECL (Note (iii)) TAHRE E R 1BEE (WaLii) (28) (150)
4,429 7,307

Prepayment (Note (i) TETTRIB (B a23) 49,598 37,662
124,647 124,266

Notes: Bzt -

Trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period mainly
derived from provision of construction works on civil engineering
contracts. The related customers are mainly government
department/organisation and reputable corporations. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as of the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of allowance of
ECL, is as follows:

) MBREPFRZEZFEBRBETIERAREM
TARIREGHNZBEATRR - HREREES
BUNEFT, B REERFZ hE - AEH
I EE L 2 SR A R AR o

B RUWEIE (CIRREERRER) &8
EREMRBREBZAMZREDNAT :

Current to 1 month
More than 1 month but
less than 3 months
More than 3 months but
less than 12 months

BIEAZE1EA
BiEiE s B R3MER

HBid3EAsE 12 A
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2023 2022
—E= =~

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TET

56,322 68,040

13,826 11,257

472 -

70,620 79,297




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. B REMEIRTIE &)

Notes: (Continued)

i)  (Continued)
The Group grants an average credit period of 30 days (2022: 30
days) to its trade customers of contract works. Application for
progress payments of contract works is made on a regular basis.

Movements in the allowance for ECL of trade receivables:

The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables in accordance with simplified

Wiat : (48

0 @&
FEBHBHANIRESELELFH0H
(ZEZZF :30H) 22EH -6 TRE
ERIEREAE EHRET

TREJ2HRREEGEREHENES
FEWRRIRR IR R (LA RS o

approach.

HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2021 A —FMF8—H 11,792
Allowance for ECL, net FEHAE B R 1BEE 358 707
Write-off i (9,151)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 N_E__#F#=A=+—HK
“E-_HFHWB—H 3,348
Allowance for ECL, net BHAEEREEE  F58 83
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=B=+—H 3,431

Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 36.

(i) As at 31 March 2023, prepayments mainly comprised of advance
payment to subcontractors of approximately HK$34,953,000
(2022: HK$31,162,000) and prepaid insurance of approximately
HK$14,382,000 (2022: HK$6,371,000).

TR EEE Z s hF BB IFE36

iy MRZE_=F=B=1+—H > BLAHEE
EEIEAD B E ST ZBHAI34,953,000
BT (TTEZ 4 31,162,000 T) UK
FAHRER4914,382,0008 T (B -
6,371,0007 7T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

21.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iij) Movements in the allowance for ECL of other receivables and
deposits:

The following table shows movement in 12m ECL that has been
recognised for other receivables and deposits in accordance with
general approach.

21. ES REMEWTRIE (&)
Wizt ()

(i) HtERFBEREEERIEEEREGEE
7/

TREIRE— AR E B E M WRIE R 3%
EHRDZ12E /8 RREEREES -

12m ECL

128 3 7887

EEK1E

HK$'000

FAET

At 1 April 2021 KRB —&£mA—A 97

Allowance for ECL, net TEHRE R 1E AR 5 RE 53

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-B--HF=A=+—BE&

2 _HFWB—H 150

Reversal of allowance for ECL, net JEHAE BB EE RO B8 (122)

At 31 March 2023 RN_E_=F=ZH=+—H 28
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in Note 36. FEHAE B R B 2 S s IR A I 5E36 ©

(iv) As at 31 March 2023, the other receivables mainly comprised
of amounts due from other partners of joint operations of
approximately HK$29,000 (2022: HK$40,000). The amounts are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Contract assets:
Retention receivables
Allowance for ECL, net

Contract liabilities:

Construction work

Contract with customers from
advertising income

Note:

22. ENBE AHNEE
2023 2022
—E”= =SS

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FEIT

EHEE .
EWIREE & 41,999 25,272
TEHR = ERs1a s 558 (822) (514)
41,177 24,758

=r )k
EEITR 87,215 63,653

e N

1,575 1,575
88,790 65,228

At 1 April 2021, contract assets amounted to HK$10,408,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to consideration

for work completed but not yet billed because the rights are conditional

on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a certain

period as stipulated in the contracts at the reporting date. The contract

assets are transferred to trade receivables where the rights become

unconditional. The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced

consideration received from customers, for which revenue is recognised

based on the progress of the provision of related services.

The balance of contract assets (provision of civil engineering service) are

expected to be recovered/settled more than one year.

Mt

RZZ-—-FMA—H  G4EE%10,408,000
BITe

BNBETZRAEEMNDTRERREHER
WIZMEIRAEZEINER REARKREHE
HERRER AR E R R ENREN —EHBRS
RFERR MR RS AIEE - ERF AR
TR ASNEEBREEZRKRIE-GNEE
TEENFTFWEHNAMKERR HlREH R
IR HAER AR TS B E EFERD

BNEE RELATRERS 2EHRER—F
BlEEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2. BHNBE SHNER @
(Continued)
Note: (Continued) Wizt o (8
Contract assets and contract liabilities which are expected to be BN AERESEERHFRKRE EEZE
recovered/settled within Group’s normal operating cycle, are classified as HNEERGHNEBBERIEARE-
current.
Movement in the allowance for ECL of contract assets B ETEH e B IS a2 B
The following table shows movement in lifetime ECL that has been TREVBEBLEMNSNEERD 2278
recognised for contract assets in accordance with simplified approach. (EEEEREH o
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2021 RZZEZ—FMWB—H 6,178
Allowance for ECL, net FRHAEBREEE 35 149
Write-off 6] (5,813)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIE_—_F#=B=+—HK
—E__&FIMBA—H 514
Allowance for ECL, net TEHEERIREE 35 308
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%=H=+—H 822
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

22. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

The following provides information about contract liabilities from contract
with customers:

At 1 April rmBE—H

Revenue from construction work recognised R E#IF A & X B EEHH
that was included in the contract liabilities RECHIPNERTIES
balance at the beginning of the year W 2

Increase in contract liabilities as aresult of ~ FEARREEZEEBRMES
advance from customers during the year BHEEEM

Revenue from construction work recognised Azt B UK EY & 2B FE ST AY

in respect of amount received BETREIA
during the year
At 31 March W=B=+—H

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.001% — 0.30% (2022: 0.001% — 0.30)%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2023, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group included currencies denominated in Renminbi
amounted to approximately HK$110,000 (2022: HK$600,000)
which is not freely convertible into other currencies.

22,

23.

BNEE SHNEE @

izt (#)

UTHEZERAHNANERZER !

2023 2022
—E-=#& =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
65,228 62,613
(60,068) (60,786)
371,409 288,251
(287,779) (224,850)
88,790 65,228
RERREEEY

RITHEGEMBEMNENF0.001%E
0.30% (T2 =4 : 0.001%Z%E0.30%) =t
/%\O

N =F=—A=+—H AxEEZR
ERREEEMEEUAREHEZES
#49110,0007%8 70 (ZZ — — £ : 600,000
70) > HEA T BEHRIREEME N
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 24, BE RHEHMERIE
2023 2022
—F-= -

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Trade payables B ENRIE 55,467 56,326

Retention money payables FESRE & 31,281 19,488
Amounts due to a shareholder FE(S — 2 RRERFRIB (H15#())

(Note (i) 24,587 04,587
Interest payables (Note (i) FESFIE (B &£(i) 81,003 70,399
Amount due to related parties FE(SRAEE A RI8 (B a%(i)

(Note (i) 2,009 2,009
Other payables and accruals Hh &SRB K fE 5T 7UE

(Note (iv)) (1 &£(v)) 42,358 44,526

236,705 217,335
Less: payables within twelve months  J& - BN BEIE FPRARAR+ 2
shown under current liabilities B8 NEMRIE (229,928) (217,335)
Interest payables shown under non-  FERENE(EIE FRT/RERLFE
current liabilities 6,777 -

Notes:

(i) Amount due to a shareholder represents amount due to a major
substantial shareholder of the Company, China Xinhua NNC, in
respect of annual fee for television broadcasting right, carriage fee
payment and satellite transmission fee which is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continueqd)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) Interest payables represented interest of promissory note
and convertible notes of approximately HK$6,777,000 and
HK$74,226,000 (2022: HK$6,271,000 and HK$64,128,000)
respectively. As at 31 March 2023, the Company had default in
repayment of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 (2022: HK$257,030,000) and interest thereon of

approximately HK$74,226,000 (2022: HK$64,128,000).

(i) Amount due to related parties represented amount due to ¥
FHBAL, EZ G0 and China Xinhua NNC which have a
common shareholder, Xinhua News Agency (FiZ£+t) . The amount

is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv) As at 31 March 2023, the other payables mainly comprised of
amounts due to other parties of joint operations of approximately
HK$12,417,000 (2022: HK$12,316,000). The amounts are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group normally settles trade payables within 30 days
(2022: 30 days) credit term. Based on the invoice date, ageing
analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is

as follows:

Current to 1 month EPHRE1E B
More than 1 month but
less than 3 months
More than 3 months but
less than 12 months
More than 12 months

Hia121E A

HBiE11E A B R3EAR

HBiE3EAa B 1288

24. BHRHEMENRIE (@

Mzt (8)

(i)

(i

FEAH B AR BRI R ERENF S
D RI#%6,777,000%8 7T K 74,226,00078 7T
(ZE "4 16,271,000 75 K& 64,128,000
B) RIFEZ=F=ZBA=+—H =&
RABHAEETRRERASEN
257,030,000 7t (ZZ = Z4F : 257,030,000
B7t) RA B £974,226,0008 7T (ZE =
£ 1 64,128,000 7T) ©

FERAE AN L RIRIEE M ES RGP LOZ
IR EZ B0 R B E N EE R
ZHARKRRAFEL - ZRERBIER R
BRIREREE

R_ZE_=ZF=B=+—0 ' HhEMR
BEXrEORENMaEE¥ENHEMSHER
HRIEL12,417,0008 T (B - 4 ¢
12,316,000/ 70) - ZEHEBEIEHF R E
R EREE -

AEER—MRNI0B (ZTEZ"4 :30H) 2
EEHERNBEBRENRIE - RIEHE

H MEMKRE SR RIBENRE DT
T

2023 2022
“EI=HF —F .

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET T

35,775 32,142

16,888 21,389

7 237

2,797 2,558

55,467 56,326

hEFESRIERARAS 2022/2023 £ 263



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE M wRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B ZE _F_ =—fF=F=+—HIFFZ

25. LEASE LIABILITIES

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 2.35% to 5.85% (2022: 2.35% to
5.25%). The Group has options to purchase the equipment
for a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms. No
arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental
payments.

Lease liabilities payable:

25 fHE&E

BRANREES &R 0E T8

=R

FENF235%FE5.85% (ZBE-_F .
o REE BN EIARIU

2.35%%F5.25%)

Within one year R—ER

More than one year but not exceeding B8 —F B BB E
two years

Less: Future finance charges M RRRERS

1E=

Present value of lease obligations HESTEZRE

Less: Amount due for settlement B RTZEERIBEE
within 12 months shown HIE GERBEB)
under current liabilities

Amount due for settlement after 12~ R+ _EREFBREE 2 FIE
months

LETEBERE LEMNAEESMAR
ST EfrTZe ke
ENHEEEE :
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
RIEHEEM RIEAERZRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
T CZEZCFE —EC=F —ECCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
5,878 2,782 5,558 2,648
2,968 1,239 2,907 1,221
8,846 4,021 8,465 3,869
(381) (152) - -
8,465 3,869 8,465 3,869
(5,558) (2,648)
2,907 1,221

The net carrying value of leased assets used to secure the
lease obligations was approximately HK$9,358,000 (2022:
HK$3,975,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

27.

Annual leave entitlement FRER
Long service payments entitement £ EAARFS & #EF)

PROMISSORY NOTE

A promissory note with a principal amount of HK$45,040,000
was issued by Profit Station Limited (“Profit Station”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on 11 August 2011
(the “Issue Date”) upon the completion of the acquisition of
17% of equity interests in China New Media (HK) Company
Limited. The promissory note is unsecured, carried interest at
the rate of 3% per annum and matured on 11 August 2014.
Profit Station might early redeem all or part of the promissory
note at any time from the Issue Date. Unless previously
redeemed, Profit Station will redeem the promissory note on
its maturity date.

On 11 August 2014 (the “Renewal Date”), Profit Station has
entered into an extension agreement with the noteholder of
the promissory note pursuant to which the maturity date of
the promissory note was extended from 11 August 2014 to
11 August 2017 and the extended promissory note will be
non-interest bearing with effect from 11 August 2014 till 11
August 2017. Furthermore, the noteholder has agreed to
waive the interest accrued on the promissory note amounting
to approximately HK$4,054,000 for the period from 11 August
2011 to 11 August 2014. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.

26. EEEF

2023 2022
=T = ==
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
4,849 6,088
1,665 1,502
6,514 7,590

27. AREE

KRBz BB E A Profit Station
Limited (T Profit Station]) N - & ——4F
NA+—B (I%{THH)) TRKEF
B (B58) BRABZI17TRR AR
BB IT RS EE 445,040,000 T2 AR E
B-AREBRARIER BFEMERIEFR
R ZE—NE/\B+—HEIH - Profit
Station®] R 1T H B E MK EIERTE
El2HHI D AR ER FRIEZRIEHE
[B] » 5 BIJProfit Stationd& i & Z|HA H B&[o] &
BRI

A ZE—mENA+—B (BB »
Profit StationfB KR BIEZ ZEERFEAE
STERBE B AR EHZ EIH
BHEZZ—NFN\B+—HEREZZ
—tTtHFNB+—H BRERZEARZE
BERERE_ZE—NWENB+—HEE_-Z
—tENB+—HIERE LI BRF
EAEBREZRARERE T ——%F
IN SIS el S S tse VIS | T
RE £ 2 F B 494,054,000 7T © & £ it
B AR BT 2 IR R R G ETFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 #ZE.

27.

—EC=F-A=f—HIEFE

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

On 15 December 2017 (the “Second Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the second extension agreement
with the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
11 August 2017 to 31 December 2018 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 31 December 2018. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

On 15 February 2019 (the “Third Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the third extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which
the maturity date of the promissory note was extended from
31 December 2018 to 30 June 2020 and the extended
promissory note will bear interest of 3% per annum with
effect from 11 August 2017 till 30 June 2020. Except
the abovementioned, other terms and conditions of the
promissory note remain unchanged.

On 9 March 2021 (the “Fourth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fourth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2020 to 30 June 2022 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 3% per annum with effect from 11
August 2017 till 30 June 2022. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.
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RZE2—tF+ZB+aH (EFZXE
¥rEHA)) > Profit StationE & R E 1R~ Zix
BEABTUSE _REEWRHZE  ELL X
RERZIHPBHBEZE—TtENB+—
BEERZZZ—N\F+ZB=+—H'H
RIERZATEZEERB-_Z—tF/\A
+—BEEZZ—N\F+ZHA=+—H
IR EF)EIES B o fr LI E SN AR
B2 EMIR R AR AT R o

RZE—NE_B+EHH(E=REMHA
HA1) > Profit Stationf K R iR 2 ZIRFH
ABIIUE=ZREREHZ B KRR
BZHPEHB S —N\FE+ZHA=+—
HERECZ ;ﬁ_?ﬁi/\ﬁ +H B&E
RZAREBEFEB S —TtENB+—
HEEZ g_vﬁi/\ﬁ +HIEEEFR]
EIEF B o L ESN AR BIRZ Hh
1B AR M R o

N2 —F=FhH ((F@XEHMA
HA1) > Profit Stationf2 K R E#R 2 ZIRIFHE
ANBFTIUBEURERBZE B KRR
BZHAHB S 2 FEB=+HIL
REZZSEFB=1TH BKIERZ
AREEKEE _T—tEN\A+—HiIE
E_T - _FRABZ+THLERENRKIE
HE B EiE SN AR EIR Z HMIER
R R R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M B RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

27. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

On 31 August 2022 (the “Fifth Renewal Date”), Profit
Station has entered into the fifth extension agreement with
the noteholder of the promissory note pursuant to which the
maturity date of the promissory note was extended from 30
June 2022 to 30 June 2024 and the extended promissory
note will bear interest of 0.5% per annum with effect from
1 July 2022 till 30 June 2024. Except the abovementioned,
other terms and conditions of the promissory note remain
unchanged.

On Fifth Renewal Date, the fair value of the liability component
of the extended promissory note was reassessed and
calculated using an equivalent market interest rate for an
equivalent instrument at the Fifth Renewal Date. The fair value
of the extended promissory note at the Fifth Renewal Date
amounted to approximately HK$38,318,000. The fair value
is calculated using discounted cash flow method at a rate of
18.25%.

At 1 April rEB—H

Gain arising on modification of ARBRETEE 2 WE
promissory note (Note 8) (%15£8)

Interest expense MEMXZ

Interest payables FETFIS

At 31 March R=A=+—8H

27. KAREE &

R_E__E#NB=+—B(ERAXEHR
BHER)) > Profit Stationf 4 7 ZE i~ AR EF
BABHUFHERIERRZ BIL > &R
ERCIPEE - "_F/,<B=+H
EREEZT_NEAB=+HARKIEER
ZEARERBEE_E-__FtH—HiE
E_F_MENB=+HLERENRKOS
Est B ofr EMiEIN AR TR HAaE
GRS o

REAXREHBR CERZAREEZ
BEBDPZAFEREEXREFHEAT
MEBTRAZEEMBMNEEGRFAE-
RIERZAREBZ AFEREERE
¥ B #5 A& 4938,318,00078 7T © ‘A FE T ¥
BRIRIRS ME A MU18.25% 2 AR =51
HHo

2023 2022
—E=HF =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
44,949 44,584
(6,722) =
2,708 1,716
(506) (1,351)
40,429 44,949
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

28.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On 9 December 2011, the Company issued convertible notes
with the principal amount of approximately HK$607,030,000,
carried interest at the rate of 5% per annum as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Xinhua TV Asia Pacific
Operating Co., Limited. Each note entitles the holder
to convert to ordinary shares at a conversion price of
approximately HK$0.196 per share.

Conversion may occur at any time between 9 December 2011
and 8 December 2014. If the notes have not been converted,
the Company will redeem on 9 December 2014 at the
outstanding principal amount. Interest of 5% per annum will
be paid annually until the notes are converted or redeemed.

On 9 December 2014, the Company entered into the
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC pursuant to which
the Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the convertible notes, where (i) the
maturity date of the convertible notes will be extended for 3
years and the conversion period will accordingly be extended
for 3 years to 9 December 2017; and (i) the interest rate of the
convertible notes will be amended from 5% per annum to 3%
per annum for the extended period, being from 9 December
2014 to 9 December 2017.

On 13 December 2017, the Company entered into the second
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to 9
December 2018.

268 CNCHOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022/2023

28. A[IARRE

R_ZB——F+"_BNRA > BARFETE
%8 7#9607,030,00078 7T » L FF| X5
STRZ AR RE  FRRBIESRD
BEERRABDZBORE - BHRE
Et%hﬁ/\%a’klﬁiﬂxﬁﬂf‘%ﬁo 19678 7T
RIBBERIAREER -

AMREEIN _Z——F+-_ANA
ECE-NE+"RAN\BHERAERER
Mo MERERZTR XABRRNR T
—NE+ZANHBORTEEAERE -5
FOBEZMERBARERN EEHER
el {EI

A TE-NE+"ANH AR EFE
WMEMEERMEI LM G BILEAR
5] B E AT E AT B R ARE BT A
BT Z B TIRRBARME > EA(i) Bl g
REZIAHRIERIFE  HRGHER
ERSFEZE—CFTZANH; K)E
R BN “E—NE+"ANHEZZE
—tF+ZBNB) 2T BMREBZAE
S FSEIE] REBEIE

RIE—t&+-RB+=H AATLH
RRBAMRERE—FH AP RRE
HMEBRETILE AR E FILA
AR EPEFEREERBEREET Y
MR Z AR BAR M » AR r] R B
ZEB AR ER1E > BRI AR
RIFE"Z-/\F+ANB-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

1 = |

For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

28.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

On 9 December 2018, the Company entered into the third
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 2 years and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 2 years to
9 December 2020.

On 25 January 2021, the Company entered into the fourth
supplemental deed with China Xinhua NNC, the sole holder
of the outstanding convertible notes, pursuant to which the
Company and China Xinhua NNC agreed to amend the term
and condition of the convertible notes, where the maturity date
of the convertible notes will be extended for 1 year and the
conversion period will accordingly be extended for 1 year to
9 December 2021. Except the abovementioned, other terms
and conditions of the convertible notes remain unchanged.

On 9 December 2021, the Company had default in repayment
of principal amount of convertible notes of approximately
HK$257,030,000 and interest thereon of approximately
HK$64,128,000.

The convertible notes contain two components, liability
component and equity component. The equity component
is presented in equity heading “convertible notes equity
reserves”. The effective interest rate of the liability component
is 11.27% from 9 December 2020 to 9 December 2021.

28. mJiafg

Rig @

E’::v —N\E+ZANB ERTHEE R
RIMTTMR BB A AR EN
EERME LB =METRE BILER
5 B h E AT ZE AT E B AR AR B EE] A
REFZARRBARM » AP ] R BH 2
FHI AR R2F > B RN AE R &2
FEEBZTE+_AANR-

A B —F—AZ+HBAATEY
MO MR BRE A ARBEME
MEERBETILEEDHEREE  BIEA
RERAFEFEREERAR G A
MR ER 2 RG> ER AR ER
ZEBABER1F > BRIGEAKAEEIL
RIEE"TE_—F+_AAhABKBLEX
P& S > Al IR BB 4% 2 H AR FR A & 14
R

A TEC—F+"ANB ARFEBHERK

EET R ERAREEEEL257,030,000
B REF) B 464,128,000 7T ©

T?@HQ%TFEEFETI%%% B DRI ERE

DREHEE D - mER D R [F]
Tﬁﬁﬁ?%ﬁ% afEfm) B T25 - B8R0

ZERBRMNEXG - _FFE+_"_F A HIEE
ETE_—F+"ANHILEAI127TE.
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28. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 28. AR ER @)
HK$ 000
FAET
Equity component at 1 April 2021, 31 March R-_ZE_-_—FMAB—H-
2022, 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —E-—#=H=+—H-
_E__FMA—HBHR
—EB_=f=RA=+—HZ2
RS 14,400
Liability component at 1 April 2021 RN_EZ_—FHOBE—HZBEEHD 243,605
Interest charged calculated at an effective BRERFE27TEAEZFEHE
rate of 11.27% (Note 12) (Hfzt12) 18,749
Interest payables NEIIS) (5,324)
Liability component at 31 March 2022, N2 __#=H=+—H"
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 “EITHFEN—HERZE=
=R=+—HzaE&sn 257,030
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the deferred tax balances recognised FEMBRRIERAERZ
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the RESBUT .

movements thereon:

At 1 April 2021
Credit to profit or loss for the
year (Note 15)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Charged to profit or loss for
the year (Note 15)

At 31 March 2023

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$206,246,000 (2022:
approximately HK$214,737,000) available for offset against
future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax

29, IRIEFIE

KT —FMA—A
FARIBmET A BEZ15)

ATE-THEZRA=+—AR_E
—_“HIWA—H
FERPREBm I (H5E15)

RZE-_=F=H=+—H

losses due to the unpredictability of future profits streams. Eo

TIEFRTAAE B

S

Accelerated
depreciation
allowances

IR E
4]
HK$'000
TETT
2,106

(125)

1,981

302

2,283

RREPR AEBEABAREBEEIR
#7206,246,0008 (Z2Z2F 1 4
214,737,000/ 75) 7] A {E 3 85 AT %% R 2R
MEE Y RAGE R o R R A E A AR TR EE L
FEA > B IR B IR SR IRIE IR IE
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each

Authorised:

At 1 April 2021, 31 March
2022, 1 April 2022 and
31 March 2023

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 April 2021, 31 March
2022, 1 April 2022 and
31 March 2023

ERE -

KT —FMA—H-
—_E__HF=HA=+—H-
“EC_FOA—HK
B =F=H=+—H

ERITRER :

RIZE2E-_—FEMA—H-
B2 _F=HA=+—8-
“EHFYB—HK
B =F#=H=+—H
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30. R4
SR E{E0.0014 7T 2 B &
Number of Share
shares capital
ahE 4= g Zs
HK$'000
FAET
500,000,000,000 500,000
4,055,349,947 4,055
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

31. RESERVES 31. f#fE
The following describes the nature and purpose of each PR AR & BRI E
RER

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

f#th

Share premium

Rin s B

Foreign currency translation
reserves

NI R

Other reserves

Hthf#

Accumulated losses
RETE1E

Capital reserves

=N

Description and purpose

iR B8

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

REREEEAEE RABRM GBI H KT IRE  ERERIKTR
BZHE®  RARAREHNS M HBEBBRERIRNERS

Foreign currency translation reserve represents foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
note 4.

SMEMBREIERBEENEFR M BEBRRMEE 2 INEERELR o & #
FHIRE M EE485 2 G5t BURERIE

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the
consolidated net assets of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were
acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation.

KABTINEMBEIENBASDRAATDNEZ HNAEBEEREEAR
BN EHAZHMNEERITZRMNEEZEZ

Cumulative net losses recognised in profit or loss.
PRIBm PR RetE 1B PEE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the additions during the year

represent the injection of additional paid-up capital by the shareholder.

FEENEARBEEFARE  ERRIFHZEBRINGERRAEES
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32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 32. i & ZEEEX 2 B EHIE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

At 1 April 2021

Cash outflow:
Repayment of lease liabilities

Other non-cash movements:
Addition of lease liabilities
Interest expense (Note 12)
Interest payables

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Cash outflow:
Repayment of lease liabilities
Other non-cash movements:
Gain on modification of promissory note
Termination of lease
Addition of lease liabilities
Interest expense (Note 12)
Interest payables

At 31 March 2023
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RZZE-—FNF—H
REM
EEHEAE
HitIERE 28
REHEAE
FERE Wriz12)
E(TF) S

R-EB--#=R

=+—ARZEZZE

mA—H

REm
BEREaE
HittJeR& 28
AREBETRE
KIERE
RENESE
FERX Wriz12)
TS

RZEZ=%F
ZA=+-H

Lease Promissory Convertible Interest
Liabilities note notes payables
(Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 24) Total
HEaE RREE WHRREE RIS
(His225) (Hfzt27) (Hfzt28) (Hfst24) a5t
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
3,560 44,584 243,605 63,724 355,473
(4,279) - - - (4,279
4,480 - - - 4,480
108 1,716 18,749 - 20,573
- (1,351) (5,324) 6,675 -
3,869 44,949 257,030 70,399 376,247
(7,047) - - - (7,047)
- 6,722 - - (6,722)
(1,085) - - - (1,085)
12,351 - - - 12,351
377 2,708 10,098 - 13,183
- (5086) (10,098) 10,604 -
8,465 40,429 257,030 81,003 386,927
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

33.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
at a board meeting held on 11 August 2010 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to participants for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme
expired on 10 August 2021. Under the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to the Directors, employees,
non-executive Directors, suppliers of goods and services,
customers, advisors and consultants, shareholders or any of
its subsidiaries for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to them, to subscribe for shares in the Company with the
payment of HK$1 per offer.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted
to exceed 10% of the Shares of the Company in issue at the
date of listing of the Shares unless the Company obtains the
approval of the Shareholders in general meeting for refreshing
such 10% limit, in which case the total number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company as “refreshed” shall not exceed 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of the approval of
the Shareholders on the refreshment of the limit. The number
of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the Shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s Shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s Shareholders.

33. LURRIn B EREZ IR

ERBRENR_Z-—FFN\A+—HS
TZEFTERBEIRBRRMNER
sta (EREE)  TE2E5ENSEA
EHNAERZERARSRMHEE
B-lBRESEN _Z_—F/\A+HE
moRBEERESNE EFEAMES
BE FRATEST EmAkRBZHE
BER BRRBHAT RRIEE
ANBARKLERE TB2EERRKRSE
RESE UEBBHENXM1EBTZ
BB A R B RRAD

RIEBREE A ERE ZBRERS
RRDBE > TRBENKRN EHBHE
REIZBETRNAII0%  ERRBRK
RAG LERFRHEEMARBMIORIRE
BRON o FELLIB R S - IRIR TS B3 Bl 12
StEI KA R EE R H 8 ik #E 51 8 7T BE
Rz BRIEFTY RN EBE T SBE
REMESHIRBEZELDSHTRMDBE
AI10% - ER BB AR B RREFTHERN
BRT RE—FRBEEENALR
2 BBREFTY RIRNEE > N EBBE
AR RERRKEEZEZETRMB1%-
HWRTEIERRABUFAITESTZE
RIEBBEABRAZ01%HBEEBE
5,000,000/ 7T QA REfEIRIEZ X T /A%
RATRRE LA
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33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (Continueq) 33. U ARRBZHRH E

Options granted must be taken up within 21 business days
of the date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per each grant
of options. Options may be exercised in whole or in part by
the grantee (or his legal personal representatives) at any time
before the expiry of the period to be determined and notified
by the board to the grantee which in any event shall not be
longer than ten years commencing on the date of the offer
letter and expiring on the last day of such ten-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The exercise price is determined
by the Directors and will not be less than the highest of the
closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on the date
of grant, the average closing prices of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange on the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options or the nominal value of the Shares.

All share-based employee compensation will be settled in
equity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options other than by issuing the
shares.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no share option
was granted, exercised, expired or lapsed and there is no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, during the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022, the Group had entered into the following transactions
with related parties which, in the opinion of the directors, were
conducted on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

(@ During the year, the Group entered into the following
related party transactions:

3. EXRAERRS

BRRAREe M BERREME DK E
B ECE_—FER_E__F=H4
—t+—HEFE AEBERBAESBEF]
U TINRG EERAZERZHEER
BERT R AEBHBEKBREPE
7o

(@ FR AEETUUTHELSRS :

2023 2022
Related party relationship Type of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
RAEAH R RAER FET FAET
China Xinhua NNC Annual fee for television - 1,250
broadcasting right (note (i)
FR [ T T ) B AR A EREREEE (Wa20)
Accrued interests on convertible - 5,324
notes
R REZ BT S
Accrued default interest on 10,098 -
convertible note
EREENET AT S

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the agreements signed between the Group and
China Xinhua NNC on 5 September 2011, China Xinhua
NNC granted the television broadcasting rights to Xinhua
TV Asia-Pacific for the period form 1 September 2011 to
31 August 2021 on an exclusive basis with an annual fee of
HK$1,000,000 payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China
Xinhua NNC prior to 31 December 2016, and HK$3,000,000
payable by Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific to China Xinhua NNC with
effect from 1 January 2017. The transactions constituted
continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules. This transaction is exempted for reporting.

Mzt -

() REAEEMEATPEFEHREERE
RIE——FNBABETZHHE
FEMENEERARMESHREELR
ARTEREBERNE BREBEE
BEE-_ZE——FHB—HEEZZ
T NB=t—HiE-A=F—7
F+ZHB=+—HA MEBHEILK
BEMNTEFNENMEASEEZEES
1,000,000t MEB - —t&F&—H
— B HESHREXEENSREM
ENMEERBEZFEEA3,000,000%E
TLoZER S EBMGEM EHRAIIB
TZREBERZ ZXZEHRRH
# o
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34. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration
during the year are set out in Note 13.

(c) For the transactions constitutes continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to
“Connected Transactions” under “Directors’ Report”.

35. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were approximately
HK$12,351,000 (2022: HK$4,480,000 in respect of
lease arrangements of machineries) in respect of lease
arrangements of machineries and renewal of lease.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets EREE

Amortised cost (including cash A (BFERE &
and cash equivalents) REZEEY)

Financial liabilities gt =i

Amortised costs EiE R A
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34.

35.

36.

EXRERRS @

b) AEETEZEEASHH

FEETEBEEASRETRTES-
FANEIEEF BRI EE13 0

© BRBEGEMLETRERIETHFER
BREZZERS F2HREFE

WEINRIRERR 5 -
FRER5

BE_ZE_-"F-A=+—HILLFE 3
MR ETHREEREREZFHAE
EEMREEASELA12,351,0008 T (=
ST F IR HEE L HEA4,480,00078
JT) ©

TMIR

() =T RLER

2023 2022
—E=HF ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
126,668 129,164
549,143 530,773
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other payables, employee
benefits, promissory note, lease liabilities and convertible
notes. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Credit risk management

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade and other receivables, deposits,
contract assets and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the
financial condition of trade customers and, where
appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is
purchased. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the carrying amounts of the recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

36. €T H #@

(b) EFiEMEEEBNKREER

ARBZETETMTAEEES K
HthEWHRE R - ReRFEEF
BY BZREMENNRE - EER
M- EARRB -HEAGERITBKRE
BezFEMIT AZFBIRARMEE
hRE-BZEESMIEERZEA
pEEmSRR (EERRRFXE
%) MEERBEORBIE £ RS o B
ZERABZHERN TXHY - EEE
H2FRMETEERER  BRU
REBMZHANEBTBEER K-

() EERREE

rEBEZEERBREIERBE
ZREMEBWRIE - ZE G4
EEUKRRERBAESEY -E
ERERIEEBR &S
EFEENZEEERR -

AEBEEHEZERHMBHNR
NETHEEENMG UBEE
EfERAER (WMBEA) - —RKRM
5 AEETEOR R ISR

0
nn °

AEBZEERARIEREGS
MHERRAKRFAREESERME
EZREERFZE-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

Credit risk management (Continued)

The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of reporting
period, the Group has a certain concentration of
credit risk as 34.8% (2022: 61.87%) and 84.6%
(2022: 93.35%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECL provision for all
trade receivables and contract assets. To measure
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables
impacting credit risk and ECL. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

36. €T H #@

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, trade receivables

and contract assets that are individually significant
have been separately assessed for impairment.

The Group make periodic assessments on the
recoverability of the receivable based on the

background and reputation of the customers,

historical settlement records and past experience.

Trade receivables

At 31 March 2023

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

At 31 March 2022

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

EHEERER
REBE
2HRAEERE

AL AEEE
RELE
2HRBEEEE

(b) EREREEENKREE &

() GEEREEE (&)
R B =FRIZBEITE=
B=+—8 ESENBEAN
BRI RIERSNEEETT
BB ET G AEERBRR
NESABE BELEEETRK
0 AR B T HA ST A PR IRRIE Y
B {EL
B ZEWE
RZE_=F=HB=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Currentto 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
G 188 3ERML
18R F3ER BLR12BA 12BAMLE REGELAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FE FET FET FE
1.53% 217% 2.28% 100% 4.63%
57,196 14,133 483 2,239 74,051
(874) (307) (11) (2,239) (3,431)
56,322 13,826 472 - 70,620
RIETHF=A=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Current to 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
GIEES 188 AL
&8 FIEE BELR12ERE  12BMUE  REERSE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FAET FAET FAET FAET FAET
0.43% 6.77% - 100% 4.056%
68,331 12,075 - 2,239 82,645
(291) (818) - (2,239) (3,348
68,040 H%256] - - 79,297
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

36. EMTH @

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Contract assets

At 31 March 2023

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

At 31 March 2022

ECL rate
Gross carrying amount
Lifetime ECL

BHEERREER
REBE
2HIRHEERE

EHEERER
RERE
2HEREERE
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(b) =REAMGEEBNRBE &

() GEEREEE (&)
EAYEE
R-E_==HB=+—H
More than
3 months but Total
Currentto 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3months  12months 12 months amount
EE 188  3fEAMUL
18R E3MEA ELM2BE  12BANE REELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1.96% - - - 1.96%
41,999 - - - 41,999
(822) - - - (822)
41,177 - - - 41,177
N_EZZF=RB=+—H
More than
Current or 3 months but Total
less than 1 month to less than More than carrying
1 month 3 months 12 months 12 months amount
BER, 18A SEAME
LMER FIEE BLR12ER 12BN LE  REERSE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
2.03% - - - 2.03%
25,272 - - - 25,272
(514) - - - (514)
24,758 - - - 24,758
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. M T H #&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENRER (&
(Continued)
EEEREERE (&)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued) (i)

Amounts due from other partners of joint operations

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the joint operations. The Group’s
credit risks in these balances are mitigated through
the value of the assets held by these entities and the
power to participate or jointly control the relevant
activities of these entities. The management believes
that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of
the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
expected credit loss rate for other receivables is
0.6% (2022: 2.0%). The management believes that
there are no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

WS E R EAMS (EBHA
v

rEEEHERGERFEZE
BRR - AEEEBZEEEM
FEEBEKRZREYHRFIZER
ZESERMEREE 2 E BIE
AEBRZSEHRZEERR
BEERR  BYHRERUR
ZETRZEERRI EKNIE
BN R AEBEER12(8 B AL
EEBESHERERRF-

Bt ERIZEE
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& HAAE T8 B 571 © E M FE UK
EHNEREEBIEXA06% (&
TTTHI20%) BIEEBRA
BYEHEEBUR ZERREZE
E R bz i f oK IR 3 A0 K A £ E
E12@BBHEESEIR
BRI

hEFESRIERARAS 2022/2023 £ 283



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR M B R R MY 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(M

(ii)

Credit risk management (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for cash and cash
equivalents by reference to information relating to
probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on cash and cash equivalents is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Liquidity risk management

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans of cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the parent
company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The
Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. ERTH #@)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ERAMREEENREEK (&)
(Continued)
(i) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (i) FTEEZEGEE (&)
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of TRIBBESLREIERIEH M
the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities KEBRARBDRZIEZ=
at 31 March 2023 and 2022 on contractual ZE-__HF#=RB=+—H2
undiscounted payments: EREEIEBER
Weighted Total Total
average On Less than 3to 12 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate demand 3 months months 1year  cashflows amount

RERRE
INREFITHIR #EX L3R 3E12(8A BdE  RENE REESR
%  HKS000  HKSO0O  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
FET TET TET T FET TET

At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=£=BF=+-H
Trade and other payables BRREMENTIE - 143,179 55,467 7,059 31,282 236,987 236,705
Lease liabilties it 5.85% - 1,042 3,936 2,968 8,846 8,465
Promissory note ARZH 18.25% - - - 45,040 45,040 40429
Convertible note RRER 3.0% 257,030 - - - 257,030 257,030
Employee benefits EEEF - 6,514 - - - 6,514 6,514
406,723 57,409 10,995 79,200 554,417 549,143
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ#=A=+-H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERFE - 135,249 62,934 - 19,488 217,671 217,335
Lease liabilties RESE 5.11% - 762 2,020 1,239 4,021 3,869
Promissory note ARZE 10.18% - 45,040 - - 45,040 44,949
Convertible note HRRER 3.0% 257,030 - - l 257,030 257,030
Employee benefits EEREF 4 7,590 = - = 7,590 7,590
399,869 108,736 2,020 20,727 531,352 530,773
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continueq)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate profile

36. EMTH @

(b) =REAMGEEBNRBE &

(i) 72 5E EEE

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for

changes in interest rates to the Group’s cash at
bank, convertible notes, promissory note and
lease liabilities. The Company manages the risk by

regularly evaluating its cash flows when sufficient

funds are available.

The following table details interest rates analysis that
the directors of the Company evaluate its interest

rate risk.

Financial liabilities
Fixed rate borrowings
- Lease liabilities

- Promissory note

- Convertible notes

Financial assets
Floating rate assets
- Bank balances
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7 £ B (A F) X 8 8 i m ER A9 A
KEBEARERRTHRS A
KREB - ARRBERIEEEER
oA RBNEERERBBE
ML HRESRENEERE

TERFUAEABDEFFHEF
KREBRZFEDH

2023
—Z”=
Effective
interest rate

BRA=
(%)

2.35-5.85
18.25
3.0%

0.001-0.3

2022
BT TF

Effective

interest rate

BIRH =
HK$'000 (%) HK$'000
FET FHT
8,465 2.35-5.25 3,869
40,429 10.18 44,949
257,030 3.0% 257,030
51,619 0.001-0.3 42,560




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2023, it is estimated that a general
decrease or increase of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase or decrease the post-tax loss by
approximately HK$516,000 (2022: HK$426,000).
There is no impact on other components of equity.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2022.

Currency risk

The group entities collect most of the revenue and
incur most of the expenditures in their respective
functional currencies. The directors consider that
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange
risk is insignificant as the majority of the Group’s
transactions are denominated in the functional
currency of each individual group entity.

36. €T H #@

(b) EREREEENKREE &

(i) FF /@R ELE ()

HREZE T

A _E_=F=A=+—H'1&
aJr%IJI*&%@TM%LﬂmOTIﬁ

ImRT’IZﬁ Tééﬁ,aﬁ%i‘mﬁz;@
0#9516,0008 7T (T2 ZHF
426,000 70) c EHERNE
IR EEFE - DIFTIRE T
T FHAR BT

(iv) EREmEE

EEERURSESBNIESR
WSRO KRE REEKX
BOKRAZ ARAEENEE
RZHUSEREEBE RN
FEEREHE HEFBRTEE
Y S EE o E 1
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. R TH @
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREAMREEENRER (&

(Continued)

(iv) Currency risk (Continued) (iv) EERERE ()
The Group currently does not have a foreign ARE[E B 7l INE SRR
exchange hedging policy. However, the R AEBREEE gEEITINE
management of the Group monitors foreign BiE R EEERE BT
exchange exposure and will consider hedging BEAIMNE RS o
significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arises.
As HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not BB E T AEETE
expect any significant foreign currency exposure HAArERABATRETZEERR
arising from the fluctuation of the HK$ to USD B EEEMEKRINE R
exchange rates. As a result, the directors of the > RRABERRAEREREE
Company consider that the sensitivity of the Group’s TTRETZENEEXEE 2
exposure towards the change in foreign exchange ARz RXEBBEELESR
rates between HK$ to USD is minimal and no IR E D i ©

sensitivity analysis is presented.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

e The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively.

e The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors
of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the

36. €T H #@

(c) EMIAZATE

THEEREMERZIAFEDR
DUNZRIERE -

BB RE R AR A 505 BB
THEEZEHMEERTHME
B OB EMEHHEREB
REREBEEEAFE

HiheMEERERARE (T8
BLitE) 2 A FEDREER
RIS REB DN Z & ERW
EBREAEE -

PR TN RFIFILESN > FRABEER
B REEYHRERTEDZEHE
ErRtMEBEZREEEZERATE

consolidated financial statements approximate to their isE=aN
fair values:
2023 2022
= BT THF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
fREE ATE RAEE NYHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
Financial liabilities Rafk
Promissory note ARER 40,429 43,262 44,949 50,462
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

e |evel 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

e |evel 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

e |evel 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE M B R R M 5

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EXEGER

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (which
includes lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible
notes, net of cash and cash equivalents) and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The Group’s risk management reviews the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital.

FEREBEAZRERARELAERR
BREZENDUARERRERREAE
thiREFA AT RED  URERFRES
BEREBLURLVEARANA AEEZEE
RESEUBEFEMRLLMERT R E -

RERF BB ERGEE AEETETH
BR1n B & B B LURLMETS ©

FEBZEAGEBOEERPHE (B1EH
EaE AREBRAIBERER  HIRR
ERBEFEY) RERBER ABLE
m (BEREKR#ERE)

FEBEZRBREEABRSFFEE
BREARE - FREBERZ M0 E
BEERSETHERERESERER
HERAZE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &Z —

Boe—vE = HE e

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continueq)

The net debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period

was as follows:

Debt (Note (a))
Less: Cash and cash equivalents

Net debt
Equity (Note (b))

Net debt and equity

Net debt to equity ratio

Notes:

&% (W5t (a)
B BRERBEEEY

il

TR EE
= (H1atb))

L
T

i

i

(EUERERENSE: S

B PR X

(@) Debt comprises lease liabilities, promissory note and convertible

notes as detailed in Notes 25, 27 and 28 respectively.

(o)  Equity includes all capital and reserves attributable to the owners of

the Company.
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T

RIREPRZEHFRRARED Z LEF

2023 2022
—EC=HF g2
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
305,924 305,848
(51,619) (42,560)
254,305 263,288
(396,277) (386,796)
(141,972) (123,508)
N/AFRZE N/AT 38 A

@ EBHEaOEEEaf AREBERIBKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 38. AT T EMB AT Z 1B

THE COMPANY

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

FEERBRABNREMPRZFHFHI

period are set out below. WTe
Percentage of equity
Place and date interests and voting
of incorporation and power attributable to Nominal value
Name of subsidiary form of business structure the Company of issued share capital Principal activities
SRR B LR FAREMENRAEER _
WEAE R EBRERS REREMUL BETRFEE TELH
2023 2022
Z%Z= “ECE
% %
Directly held
EERE
TYW (BVI) Limited BVI2 July 2009, limited liability 100 100 United States Dollars (‘US$") Investment holding
company 50,000, divided into 50,000
ordinary shares of US$1.00
gach
HBRIHEE “ETNELRC 50,000% 7 (1%£70)) » % REER
B BRERAF 50,0008 &K AE1 005 T
ZEER
Shenzhen Qianhai Xinhua TV Cultural PRC, 30 May 2013, limited liability 100 100 Registered and paid up capital of  Inactive
Development Limited" company RMB30,000,000
R EREEREERERAT HE _E-=F1R=1H'F AMRBRERARE HE
RETAT 30,000,0007¢
Indirectly held
RERE
Tsun Yip Civil Construction Company Limited  Hong Kong, 16 July 2000, limited 97 97 HK$20,372,000 divided into Holding of motor vehicles,
liability company 20,372,000 ordinary shares of ~ provision of waterworks and
HK$1.00 each laying of water pipes
EELATRARAT BR “BETELRAIAR 2037200087 2%20372000 HEEH RETATREHR
BREERH REREE0ET, R BRkE
&
Tsun Yip Waterworks Construction Company  Hong Kong, 6 February 1996, limited 97 97 HK$26,123,200 divided into Provision of waterworks and laying
Limited liability company 26,123,200 ordinary shares of ~ of water pipes
HK$1.00 each =
EEKERERRAT 55 —NMANEZRRH BR 26,123 20070 D4 RETATRRERERKE
EEAT 26,123, 200% SR
1,008 TZ EBR
Xinhua TV Asia-Pacific Operating Company ~ Hong Kong, 22 December 2009, 100 100 HK$10,000, divided into 10,000  Television broadcasting business
Limited limited liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00 in the Asia Pacific region
gach _[excluding the PRC)
HERRTACREERAT BR BRAETIACC 100007 HA1000088K REAB (FBHE) #EER
B> BREEAH EfE100BTZEBR ENES
BayTV Network Holdings Limited Hong Kong, 14 May 2010, limited 100 100 HK$10,000 divided into 10,000 Inactive
liability company ordinary shares of HK$1.00
gach
EREREERAN 55 _S-ZFRATNAA 1000087 271000068k BE
REALH EE100BTZERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

39. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 39. BAEFIEHE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
plan administered by an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government
authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a
certain rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant
authorities in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the
Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme and
the Retirement Benefits Scheme utilised to reduce the existing
levels of contributions. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, there
was no forfeited contribution under the MPF Scheme and
Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by the Group
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BlE —LE - = =H=+—HIFFEZ

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AT ZKRE
Current assets REEE

Prepayment and other receivables — FE17 7B K E Ath FE W70 IE

Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B /B8 A Bl Rk IE
Cash and cash equivalents HBERIREEFEY
Total assets HWEE

Current liabilities mENEE

Accrued expenses and other payables FE 5t 583 & EL{thFE(F =v 18

Amounts due to subsidiaries FES B B A B Rk IE
Convertible notes AR ERE
Net current liabilities RENAEBEE

Total assets less current liabilities 23 &R R & &

40. ZRBE)ZMBRRRRIHE

AT ZHABERRE
2023 2022
—E=HF B2

HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
38,682 38,682

118 3

21 2,935

1 7

140 2,945

38,822 41,627
78,919 70,774
9,334 4,631
257,030 257,030
345,283 332,435
(345,143) (329,490)
(306,461) (290,808)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company

(Continued)

Net liabilities =R
Capital and reserves BRKEE
Share capital f& s
Reserves G

Total equity et

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 16 November 2023 and are
signed on its behalf by:

Jiang Yan
=5
Director

EF
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40. ZRB)Z2MFBRRERKHEE (@

KABZMHBERRE &)
2023 2022
—EZ=HF =S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

(306,461) (290,808)

4,055 4,055

(310,516) (294,863)
(306,461) (290,808)

EFEgERE=F+—B+/xB#t
HERRENEPHRE WA FIALA

REFERE

Li Yong Sheng
FxH
Director

EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 EtZE —F _ = =H=+—HIFFEZ

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

41.

Movement in the Company’s reserves

At 1 April 2021
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2023

RIEZ—FMA—H
FREBERZESRER

RIZZZF=F=+-Hk
ZECIZERB-H
FRGEREEGRER

RZBZ=#=A=1+-H

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

40. ZRBZMBIRRRR R (@

TREZREED
Convertible
Share Capital  notes equity Other Accumulated
premium reserves reserves reserves losses Total
CIpb
RIPEE BAfitE  BEGREE Hitrfkts Sy @zt
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FEn FET
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,580,338) (269,992)
- - - - (24,871) (24,871)
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,605,209) (294,863)
- - - - (15,653) (15,653)
1,238,195 2,758 14,400 54,993 (1,620,862 (310,516)
41. REESFIE
RZEZ=FNBAR BRE-XAF

On 5 September, 2023, Mr. Kan, China Xinhua NNC, the
substantial shareholder of the Company and holder of the

Convertible Notes and the Company entered into a conditional

agreement, among other things:

1. the proposed allotment and issuance of a total of
1,666,666,667 subscription shares at the share

FTERRMABKREZRTE APEGHE

HEBR

e

BEERM

=7ins E%E‘@HREL.

20.012%8 0 Ffic 8 K& % 17

WEARNB LB G HE H

8 g

PAN
S5

subscription price of HK$0.012 per subscription share
to Mr. Kan, shareholder of the Company for a total
consideration of approximately HK$20,000,000;

the proposed amendments of certain terms of the
Convertible Notes with China Xinhua NNC, the
substantial shareholder of the Company and holder
of the Convertible Notes and proposed issuance of
new convertible notes with the principal amount of
approximately HK$64,128,000 to China Xinhua NNC,
the substantial shareholder of the Company and holder
of the Convertible Notes to set off the Convertible Notes
Interest; and

1,666,666,667 %5388 I% 10 T A& AF
BEER RS S 4 » #8849 420,000,000
BT

BRETHEARTEEZRRER ]

REBEFAAREHENHEBSEHE
ZHBMBRERNE TR E R

TR £ 58 44964,128,00078 70 AU F A
BREBFARATETEREB R OA
H&ﬁ%ﬁﬁhﬁkqﬂl#ﬁiﬂ?ﬁ%ﬂ =164
DURSE AT IR EHBA R 5
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 BtE_—LF - =4 =F=+—HIFFZ

41. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued) 4. REREBSIE @
3. the proposed issuance of new convertible bonds in the 3. BEILEITAEEES16,240,0008 TH
principal amount of HK$16,240,000 to China Xinhua MOMERES TEARABRTERER
NNC, the substantial shareholder of the Company and MR ERFBEAPEMENEE
holder of the Convertible Notes to set off part of the R4 LUK D BEREEEED
outstanding balance of the On Demand Debt. CESEVEEET
42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 42, [EEREF
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to HETHERESECENSE UKFELFE
conform with current year’s presentation. SE Y= v
43. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 43. HEESMBHRRK
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and EERBERREN _E_=5+—A8
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 16 November +TARBEEET M AERISRET]E -

2023.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

fiA 755 4L 22

A summary of the results and of the financial position of the Group

for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March

Revenue
Cost of services

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income

Other gains/(losses), net

Amortisation expenses

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative and operating expenses

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Profit/(loss) from operations
Finance costs

Loss before income tax
Income tax

Loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
- Owners of the Company
- Non-controlling interest
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FEEBELBYREEZEERYHFRR
BME - NREREETEZEERHMBHRE &
HIg0T o
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BEZH=+—HIEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZZE B S5 S S 2R iy S
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET FET FET
496,457 408,175 239,233 237,302 324,855
(493,037) (417,531) (268,053) (254,858) (321,371)
3,420 (9,356) (28,820) (17,536) 3,484
4,603 4,487 12,374 1,033 450
7,435 (453) ©13) (11,811) 3,032

= - (18,316) (18,367) (18,504)

= (770) (770) (770) =
(15,181) (17,452) (26,005) (24,591) (22,441)
= = (7,679) = =

= - (2,872 - -

= (1,517) - - -

= 3,575 2,965 (4,636) 9,123

277 (21,486) (70,036) (76,678) (43,192)
(13,183) (20,573) 9,314) (28,496) (25,686)
(12,906) (42,059) (79,350) (105,714) (68,878)
3,449 ©93) 5,598 4,343 3,576
(9,457) (42,152) (73,752) (100,831) (65,302)
(9,440) (41,729) (72,946) (100,831) (65,302)
(17) (429) (806) 5 -
(9,457) (42,152) (73,752) (100,831) (65,302)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M2

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March

Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets
Less: Current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities
Less: Non-current liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Capital and reserves attributable to equity
holders of the Company
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E_ZE E-CF & ECBE “E-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
28,100 21,897 24,244 61,633 84,229
217,443 191,584 150,667 186,821 207,872
245,543 213 481 174,911 248 454 292,101
587,953 595,587 466,305 509,570 174,625
(342,410) (382,106) (291,394) (261,116) 117,476
52,396 3,202 51,799 10,852 284,467
1,471 1,488 1,911 = =
(396,277) (386,796) (345,104) (271,968) (166,991)
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